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C A P I T A L C A S E 

Q U E S T I O N P R E S E N T E D 

Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584  holds  
because aggravating circumstances w h i c h render a 
defendant eligible for the death penalty "operate  the 
functional    element of a  
offense, the Sixth Amendment requires that they be 
found by a jury." 536 U.S. 584, 609, 122 S. Ct. 2428 
(2002)  quotation omitted). 

The question presented by this case  

Whether the Court of Appeals exceeded its 
authori ty to grant a   habeas corpus 
when i t expanded Ring to create a Sixth 
Amendment  to jury findings of 
mitigation, and concluded tha t the jury's 
failure to consider mit igat ing circumstances 

 a substantial and injurious effect on the 
sentence of death. 
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O P I N I O N B E L O W 

The relevant opinion of the Uni ted  Court of 
Appeals for the N i n t h Circuit (Pet. App. A) is 

 v. Ryan, 724 F.3d 1104 (9th Cir. 2013). The 
decision of the district court (Pet. App. G) i s 
unreported. 

J U R I S D I C T I O N 

The panel entered its judgment on July 26, 2013. I t 
denied Respondent Ryan's peti t ion for rehearing and 
rehearing en banc on December 3, 2013. (Pet. App. B.) 
This Court has jurisdict ion pursuant to Uni ted States 

 Article I I I , Section 2;  § 1254(1). 

R E L E V A N T C O N S T I T U T I O N A L AND 
S T A T U T O R Y P R O V I S I O N S 

The  Amendment to the Uni ted States 
Constitution provides, i n relevant part: 

I n a l l cr iminal prosecutions, the accused shall 

enjoy the r ight to a . . . t r i a l , by an impar t ia l 

 

28  § 2254(d) provides, i n relevant part: 

A n application for a w r i t of habeas corpus on 
behalf of a person i n custody pursuant to the 
judgment of a State court shall not be granted 
w i t h respect to any claim that was adjudicated 
on the merits i n State court proceedings unless 
the adjudication of the  
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 resulted  a decision that was contrary to, or 
involved  unreasonable application of,  
established Federal law,  determined  the 
Supreme Court of the  States . . . . 

S T A T E M E N T O F T H E C A S E 

 case presents a   recurring 
question  the historical understanding of the Sixth 
Amendment  t r i a l r ight  its applicability to 
modern sentencing practice. This Court's 
jurisprudence provides that facts  as 
elements  a crime, and which aggravate a 
punishment, must  proved to   beyond  
reasonable  Expanding this principle, the lower 
court created  new  mit igat ing factors must  
determined by  ju ry even though they do not increase 
punishment or otherwise aggravate a sentence. The 
lower court's ru l ing conflicts directly wi th Ring v. 
Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 609 (2002), and other federal 

 decisions interpreting Ring. The Nin th 
Circuit's holding  profoundly   
administration  cr iminal justice i n capital and 
capital cases alike because facts  do  subject a 
cr iminal defendant to  increased punishment,  
which courts have historically left   
determination,  now require a  finding. This 
Court's intervention is  to once again identify 
which facts qualify  "elements"  a crime to guide 
the lower courts i n determining whether  ju ry 
determination is needed. 

1.  June 26,  after tak ing offense  
something David Reynolds said to Murdaugh's 
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girlfriend,  kidnapped Reynolds. (Pet. App. 
 Murdaugh and his friends used 

methamphetamine while they held Reynolds captive i n 
the t runk of  car. (Id.  

The kidnapping culminated i n a murder when 
Murdaugh crushed Reynolds' skul l w i t h a meat 
tenderizer. (Pet. App. A-5.) Murdaugh then took 
Reynolds' body to a campsite where he dismembered i t 
to prevent identification, cutting off Reynolds' head and 
hands, slicing off his finger pads, and pul l ing out his 
teeth. (Id. A-5.) Murdaugh threw the teeth and finger 

 out the window while driving, and buried the rest 
of Reynolds' body i n two  graves.  

2. By the t ime the police found Murdaugh, they 
had already amassed a significant amount of evidence 
against h im. (Id.) Murdaugh waived his Miranda 
rights, confessed to the murder, and told the detectives 
where to find Reynolds' body. (Id.) 

Murdaugh also confessed to beating Douglas Eggert 
to death w i t h a meat tenderizer. (Id.  The State 
charged Murdaugh w i t h both murders and related 
crimes.  

3. When Murdaugh indicated a desire to plead 
guil ty to avoid put t ing the vict ims and his family 
through a t r i a l , three doctors and the t r i a l court found 
h i m competent to do so. (Id.  

Murdaugh entered into a plea agreement by which 
he pled guil ty to  indictments w i t h the 
understanding that the State would seek a life 
sentence for Eggert's murder, but would use the Eggert 
murder as an aggravating factor i n the Reynolds 
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 for which the State would seek the death 
penalty. (Id.  

4. After Murdaugh instructed his  not to 
 any mitigation, the t r i a l court took testimony 

from a fourth doctor who found no reason to disagree 
w i t h the prior competency determinations. (Id. 
9.) The   Murdaugh competent to waive his 
r igh t to present mit igat ing evidence. (Id. ATO.) 
Nevertheless, the t r i a l court considered the mitigation 

 the record and offered by the State, including the 
psychological  of  use. (Id. A-
10-14.) 

The court  two aggravating circumstances:  
conviction  another offense for which  sentence  
life imprisonment or death was  see A.R.S. 
§   and 2) Murdaugh committed the 
murder  an especially heinous, cruel, or depraved 
manner, see id. § 13-703(F)(6). (Id.   
Al though the  found some evidence to support the 
(G)(l) mit igat ing  the defendant's capacity 
to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct  

 his  to the requirements of the law  
significantly  ultimately  that 
the factor was not established. After considering the 

 statutory mit igat ing factors  eight non­
statutory mit igat ing factors, the t r i a l   that 
the mit igat ion evidence was  to  
leniency and sentenced Murdaugh to  for 

 (Id.  
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5. While Murdaugh's case was on direct review, 
this Court decided  holding that an aggravating 
circumstance which renders a defendant eligible for 
capital punishment must be found by a jury.2 The 
decision i n Ring did not challenge this Court's prior 
holding that the fact of a prior conviction may be found 
by a judge, even i f i t makes the defendant eligible for 
the death  536 U.S. at 597 n.4. 

Reviewing Murdaugh's sentence for harmless error, 
the Arizona Supreme Court found that the (F)(l) 
aggravating factor3 (prior conviction for Eggert's 
murder) fell outside of Ring's Sixth Amendment rule 
and that the State proved the other aggravating 
circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. (Pet. App. A-
15.) Considering al l the mit igat ion i n the record, the 
Arizona Supreme Court held that "no reasonable ju ry 
could f ind that the evidence was 'sufficiently 
substantial' to call for leniency." (Id.  (citation 
omitted). The court also found that because no mental 
health professional found a causal nexus between the 
murders and Murdaugh's delusions and paranoid 
thoughts, "no reasonable j u r y would have weighed 
these factors any differently than did the t r i a l judge." 
(Id. AT6 . ) (citation omitted). The Arizona Supreme 

 Also referred to as   in various opinions because of the two 
Arizona Supreme Court opinions: State v. Ring (I), 25   (Ariz. 
2001), and State v. Ring  65 P.3d 915 (Ariz. 2003). 
 The Arizona legislature subsequently amended Arizona's capital sentencing 

statutes to require jury sentencing in capital cases. See State v. Ring (III), 65 
 926 (Ariz. 2003). 

 At the time of Murdaugh's killings, the aggravating circumstances were 
codified at Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 13-703(F), and the statutory  mitigation factors 
were codified at §   Currently, they are set forth in Ariz. Rev. Stat. 
§§   and (G), respectively.. 
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Court also noted that the record did not support any 
mit iga t ing circumstances not considered previously by 
the t r i a l court, (Id.) (citation omitted). 

6. Murdaugh claimed  his federal petition for a 
w r i t  habeas corpus  the Arizona Supreme 
Court's harmless-error review was objectively 
unreasonable under 28  § 2254(d). (Pet,  App.  
76.) Murdaugh's criticism focused  the Arizona 
Supreme Court's assessment of the mit igat ing 
evidence. (Id.) The district court found this criticism 
"unwarranted." (Id.) First, Ring "held only  a  
must determine the aggravating factors  a capital 
case  render a person eligible for the death  

 did  require  determination of the ultimate 
sentence. Therefore, the Arizona Supreme Court's 
review of Ring error was complete when  determined 
beyond a reasonable doubt  no rational  would 
have found  the two aggravating factors had not 

 proved." (Id.) Additionally, the district court 
noted, although not  by Ring, the state court's 
assessment of the mitigation was  objectively 
unreasonable. (Id.) 

7.  appeal from the district court's denial  
relief, a panel of the N i n t h Circuit Court of Appeals 
(Circuit Judges Nelson, Reinhardt, & M . Smith) not 
only extended the holding of Ring to apply to 
mitigation,  also held  the putative  

 a "substantial and injurious effect or influence"  
the t r i a l court's failure to find the (G)(l) statutory 
mi t iga t ing factor.4 (Pet, App.  I n reaching 

 The court of appeals agreed with the Arizona Supreme Court's conclusions 
with respect to the aggravating circumstances: that the (F)(1) factor, the 
(Continued) 
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this decision the panel first stated that Ring should not 
be read as narrowly as its "express holding." (Id. A-24.) 
The court reasoned that,  the rationale of 
Apprendi [v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348 
(2000)] and Ring II, the existence or absence of a 
mitigating circumstance was . . . a finding of fact upon 
which the 'increase of a defendant's authorized 
punishment [was] contingent." (Id. A-26.) (emphasis 
added) (citing Ring (II), 536 U.S. at 602). Thus, the 
court of appeals reasoned, "[t]he r igh t to have a ju ry 
determine aggravating factors is therefore also a de 
facto right to have a jury determine mitigating facts." 
(Id. A-27.) (emphases added). The panel concluded that 

 effect,  a r ight to have the 
j u r y determine a l l the facts on which a sentence of 
death depended, both aggravating and mit igat ing, 
since capital sentencing statutes assigned this function 
to one factfinder." (Id. A-23 n.7.) (emphasis added). 

Having decided that "Ring error" includes the 
consideration of mi t iga t ing circumstances, the court 
applied the Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619 (1993), 
harmless-error standard to conclude that the Ring 
error had a "substantial and injurious effect or 
influence" on the t r i a l court's failure to find that 
Murdaugh's "capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of 
his conduct or to conform his conduct to the 
requirements of the law was significantly impaired but 
not so impaired as to constitute a defense to 
prosecution." (Pet. App.  (citing Ariz . Rev. Stat. 
§13-703(G)(1)). 

 
conviction of  murder, fell outside  and that the Ring error 
regarding the (F)(6) factor was harmless. (Pet. App.  
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The court of appeals acknowledged that the t r ia l 
court expressly found that the mit igat ion  the record 
did not establish the (G)(l) mit igat ing factor, but 
nevertheless speculated that "i t is also entirely possible 
that  rational trier of fact could  drawn the 
opposite conclusion and  Murdaugh's actions did 
not evince a sober mind." (Pet, App.  (emphasis 
added). Then the panel concluded "the absence of a 
jury at the sentencing stage  a 'substantial  
injurious effect, or influence'  Murdaugh's sentence of 
death," and granted the w r i t . 5   The court 
denied Petitioner's  petit ion   
rehearing and  en banc, (Pet. App. B.) 

R E A S O N S F O R G R A N T I N G T H E W R I T 

The  of appeals' decision conflicts directly wi th 
Ring v. Arizona  uniform federal appellate decisions 

 interpret Ring  applying only to aggravating 
factors. The practical effect of  lower court's 
decision reaches  capital  can 
reasonably  interpreted to require jury 
determinations  facts historically  to the 
discretion of judges.  Court's intervention is 
necessary to prevent unwarranted jury determinations 

 countless criminal sentencing proceedings. 

Because AEDPA standards applied, the Nin th 
Circuit's decision also violated the statutory provision 

 The panel noted that having granted relief on the Ring claim, it reserved 
any decision on Murdaugh's pending competence-related claims. (Id. A-42-

 This is not an unprecedented procedure in Ninth Circuit capital habeas 
corpus cases.  case  Robert Douglas Smith, Ninth  Nos. 96-
99025, 96-99026, discussed in Schriro  Smith, 546 U.S. 6, 7 (2005) (per 
curiam). See also Stewart v. Smith, 536 U.S. 856 (2002) (per curiam). 
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l i m i t i n g relief to cases i n which a state court 
contravenes clearly established Federal law as dictated 
by this Court's holdings. Instead, the panel decision 
crafted a new Sixth Amendment to j u r y finding and 
weighing of mit igat ion factors and then substituted its 
own judgment for that of the Arizona Supreme Court 
on the question of whether the newly created  
error" was harmless. See Sup. Ct. R. 10(c). The N i n t h 
Circuit decision exceeded that court's authori ty under 
AEDPA by extending Ring's holding, and its 
interpretation  Ring conflicts w i t h every circuit 
decision to address the issue. Read broadly, the 
appellate court's decision means that now, i n the Nin th 
Circuit alone, cr iminal defendants have a Sixth 
Amendment r ight to a ju ry determination of mitigating 
facts.  Sup. Ct. R. 10(b). 

Finally, although the N i n t h Circuit qualified the 
scope of its novel interpretation of Ring by noting that 
i t would not significantly affect capital sentencing, the 
decision fails to appreciate the l ikely implications of its 
newly-created Sixth Amendment r ight i n non-capital 
cr iminal sentencing, where judges, not juries, consider 
mi t iga t ing facts. See Sup. Ct. R. 10(a). The decision, 
at best, blurs any distinction between facts i n 
aggravation requir ing a j u ry finding, and facts i n 
mit igat ion which are t radi t ional ly judicia l findings. 

I . The Court of Appeals' decision contravenes this 
Court's holding in Ring. 

A. The Sixth Amendment does not require a jury 
to find and weigh mitigating factors. 

By extending Ring-beyond its "express holding" and 
concluding that Murdaugh had a Sixth Amendment 
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 to a j u r y determination of mit igat ing factors, the 
Court of  failed,  this AEDPA case, to apply 
this Court's clearly established Federal law. I n cases 
controlled by 28  §   the starting point 
for federal review is determining the relevant clearly 
established  See Yarborough v. Alvarado, 541 U.S. 
652, 660, 124 S. Ct, 2140 (2004). Clearly established 
law as established by this Court  to the holdings, 

 opposed to the dicta,  this Court's decisions   
the time  the  state-court decision."   
660-61 (quoting Williams  Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 412 
(2000)). 

Here, the clearly established Federal  comes 
from Apprendi,  its progeny, including Ring.  
Apprendi, this Court held that the Sixth Amendment 
does not   defendant to be "expose[d] . . . to a 

 exceeding the maximum he would receive i f 
punished according to the facts reflected  the ju ry 

 alone."  U.S. at 483.  Ring, this  
acknowledged the distinction "between facts  

 of   facts  mitigation." 
Id. at 490  

The Court applied Apprendi's principle to capital 
sentencing i n Ring, where the question presented was 
whether   factor that renders a 
defendant eligible for a death sentence, "may be found 
by a judge . . . or whether the Sixth Amendment's j u ry 
t r i a l guarantee . . . requires  the aggravating factor 
determination be entrusted to the jury." 536 U.S. at 
597 (emphasis added). This Court's holding  
the question i n the affirmative: "Because Arizona's 

 aggravating factors operate   
functional equivalent   element of a greater 
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 Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 494  the Sixth 
Amendment requires that they be found by a jury." 
Ring (II), 536 U.S. at 609 (emphasis added). 

This Court recently clarified once again that any 
fact that  the penalty for a crime is an 
'element' tha t must be submitted to the j u ry and found 
beyond a reasonable doubt." Alleyne v. United States, 
133 S. Ct.  2163 (2013) (emphasis added). This 
Court reiterated the distinction between facts  
aggravate the possible sentence, which are effectively 
an element of the offense, and those facts which guide 
a judge's sentencing discretion w i t h i n a prescribed 
range: "Our ru l ing today does not mean that any fact 
that influences judicial discretion must be found by a 
jury. We have long recognized that broad sentencing 
discretion, informed by judicial factfinding, does not 
violate the Sixth Amendment." Id. at 2163 (citing 
Dillon v. United States, 560 U.S.  828-29 (2010); 
Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 481). 

Openly acknowledging that i t was extending Ring-
beyond its "express holding," the court of appeals failed 
to comply w i t h its statutory obligation to apply clearly 
established Federal law as set forth i n this Court's 
holdings. See Yarborough, 541  at 660-61; 
Williams, 529 U.S. at 412. (Pet. App. A-23.) Indeed, 
the court concluded:  practical effect,  
a r ight to have the j u ry determine a l l  facts on 
which a sentence of death depended, both aggravating 
and mitigating, since capital sentencing statutes 
assigned this function to one factfinder." (Id.  n7.) 
(emphases added). This holding does not rest even on 
dicta, for this Court expressly acknowledged i n Ring 
tha t the defendant had presented "no Sixth 
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Amendment claim w i t h respect to mit igat ing 
circumstances." 536 U.S.   n.4. Rather, this 
Court stated 

The  presented is whether that 
aggravating factor may be found  the judge, 
as  law specifies, or whether the Sixth 
Amendment's jury t r i a l guarantee, made 
applicable to the States by the Fourteenth 
Amendment, requires  the aggravating 
factor determination be entrusted to the  

Ring (II), 536 U.S. at 597 (footnotes omitted). 

This Court has never held that jurors  find  
weigh mit igat ing factors. See id.  612  
judgment has nothing to do w i t h  sentencing.") (J. 

 concurring). This alone precludes  under 
28  § 2254(d)(1), See Thaler   Haynes, 559 U.S. 
43, 49  (reversing decision where "no decision  
this Court clearly establishes the categorical rule  
which the Court  Appeals" relied to grant relief); 
Wright  Van Patten, 552 U.S. 120, 126 (2008) 
("Because  cases give no clear  to the 
question presented, let alone one i n [the prisoner's] 
favor, i t cannot be  that the state  
unreasonably applied clearly established Federal  
Under the explicit terms  § 2254(d)(1), therefore, 
relief is unauthorized.") (quotations, alterations,  
citations omitted); Brewer v. Hall, 378 F.3d 952, 955 
(9th Cir. 2004)  no Supreme   creates 
clearly established federal law relating to the legal 
issue the habeas petitioner raised  state court, the 
state court's decision  be contrary to or  
unreasonable application of clearly est ablished federal 
law."); Nevada v. Jackson, 133 S. Ct. 1990 (2013) (per 
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curiam); Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 786 
(2011); Carey v. Musladin, 549  70, 77 (2006). 

Nevertheless, the N i n t h Circuit's grant of the w r i t 
relied entirely on its extension of this Court's holding 
i n Ringto create a Sixth Amendment r ight for a ju ry to 
find and weigh mi t iga t ing  Had the court of 
appeals correctly applied Ring, i ts analysis would have 
ended after concluding that the failure of a ju ry to 
consider the aggravating circumstances that rendered 
Murdaugh eligible for a death sentence was harmless 
because the (F)(l) aggravating factor fell outside Ring 
and no rational  could have found that the evidence 
failed to establish the (F)(6) aggravating factor. (Pet. 
App.  

Instead, the panel extended Ring-beyond its holding 
and conflated the constitutionally cri t ical distinction 
between aggravating and mi t iga t ing circumstances, 
incorrectly stating that  the existence or 
absence of mitigating circumstances directly affected 
whether Murdaugh was death eligible under Arizona 
law, he had a right to have a j u ry decide those facts." 
(Pet. App. A-29.) (Emphases added; footnote omitted.) 

 N i n t h Circuit's decision relied i n part on the 

 The court of appeals' expansion of Ring effectively adopted Judge 
Reinhardt's dissent in United States v. Mitchell, 502   (9th Cir. 
2007), hypothesizing that Apprendi and Ring require an instruction that the 
jury must find beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravating factors 
outweigh the mitigating factors before the judge may impose a death 
sentence in cases proceeding under the Federal Death Penalty Act. 502 F.3d 
at  (Reinhardt, J., dissenting). As noted infra, pp. 17-18, Judge 
Reinhardt's dissent in Mitchell reaches the opposite of the conclusion 
reached by all other United States Courts of Appeal that have found it 
necessary to address this issue. 
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Arizona Supreme Court's inclusion of m   its 
harmless error review. (See Pet. Ex. A-22, 23-24.) 

 as this Court acknowledged in Ring; eligibili ty  
 death sentence in Arizona at the time of Murdaugh's 

t r i a l was predicated  the existence  at least one 
aggravating circumstance, unrelated to mitigation. 
Ring (II), 536 U.S. at 597 ("[I]n Arizona, a 'death 
sentence may  legally  imposed . . . unless  
aggravating factor is found to  beyond a 
reasonable  (quoting State  Ring (I),   3d 
1139, 1151 (Ariz. 2001)). Indeed, i f mi t igat ion findings 
were required for  under the  
statute  issue, then presumably this  would  
have l imi ted its holding  Ring to aggravating factors. 
See id. at 609 ("Because Arizona's enumerated 
aggravating factors operate as the functional 
equivalent of an element  a greater offense, the Sixth 
Amendment requires that they be found by  jury.") 
(quotation omitted). 

Although the Arizona Supreme Court, i n  
abundance  caution, included the t r ia l court's 
mit igat ion findings  weighing of aggravating and 
mit igat ing factors  its harmless error review,  
circumstance is  to the constitutional rule  
issue. Once the aggravating factors  established, 
Murdaugh was eligible for the death penalty  the 
existence and weight of mitigation were sentencing 
factors   the  court's discretion 
regarding whether death was the appropriate sentence. 
See   S. Ct, at  Because  
addressed the same capital sentencing statute at issue 

 its own terms applies only to aggravating 
factors  because the only facts necessary to render 
Murdaugh eligible for a death sentence were the 
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existence of aggravating factors, the lower court failed 
to apply (and even contravened) this Court's clearly 

 law when i t extended Ring to mit igat ion 
findings. 

B. The Ninth Circuit's speculation on the effect of 
its perceived error misconstrued the harmless 
error standard of Brecht v. Abrahamson. 

Having erred  concluding that Ring requires a 
 to find and weigh mi t iga t ing factors, the panel 

applied the Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619 (1993), 
harmless-error standard to hold that the error i n this 
case had a "substantial and injurious effect or 
influence" on the t r i a l court's failure to find that 
Murdaugh's  to appreciate the wrongfulness of 
his conduct or to conform his conduct to the 
requirements of the law was significantly impaired but 
not so impaired as to constitute a defense to 
prosecution." (Pet. App. A-35.)  Rev. Stat. § 
13-703(G)(D). 

Although the court acknowledged that the 
sentencing judge expressly found that the mit igat ion 
evidence i n the record did not establish the (G)(1) 
mi t iga t ing factor, i t speculated that i t was "possible 
that a rat ional t r ier of fact could have drawn the 
opposite conclusion and found Murdaugh's actions did 
not evince a sober mind." (Pet. App.  Had the 
court properly applied Brecht's  
"substantial and injurious" standard, such speculation 
would have been insufficient to f ind that the error was 
not harmless. This is especially true where the 
Arizona Supreme Court concluded that the error was 
harmless under a much lower standard, that beyond a 
reasonable doubt, no tr ier of fact would have found 
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differently than  the t r i a l  (See Pet, App. A-

 28.) 

To grant habeas relief where a state court  
constitutional error  determined  i t was 
harmless,  federal court  conclude that the state 
court "applied harmless-error review i n  objectively 
unreasonable' manner." Mitchell v. Esparza, 540 U.S. 
12, 18 (2003) (quoting   Andrade, 538 U.S. 63, 
75-77 (2003)). I n other words, relief  available under 
such circumstances only i f "the harmlessness 
determination itself  unreasonable." Fry v. Filler, 

 U.S. 112,  (2007) (emphasis i n original). 

The N i n t h Circuit failed to address whether the 
Arizona  Court's harmless error determination 
was objectively unreasonable. Instead, the court of 
appeals based its grant of relief on speculation that a 
rat ional juror "could have"  the (G)(l) mitigating 
factor sufficient to call for leniency.  this  
case, the lower court should never have reached the 

 of the failure of a ju ry to consider mitigation 
because this Court has never held that the Sixth 
Amendment requires a jury to determine mitigation. 
The N i n t h Circuit's failure to correctly apply Brecht 
and to address the relevant AEDPA question of 
whether the state court's conclusion was reasonable 
only compounded its error i n extending Ring. 

I I . No other Circuit Court of Appeal has interpreted 
Ring to create a Sixth Amendment right to a jury 
determination of mitigation. 

The  Circuit's decision below makes i t the only 
federal appellate court interpreting Ring to create a 
Sixth  r ight to have a ju ry determination of 
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mit iga t ing circumstances i n sentencing. The other 
courts of appeal to have considered the issue have 
uniformly  that Ring's holding is l imi ted to 
aggravating circumstances that render a defendant 
eligible for a death sentence. The N i n t h Circuit's 
decision creates a lopsided circuit split. 

The Fif th Circuit Court of Appeals has consistently 
denied claims that Ring requires the j u ry to be 
instructed on some burden of proof on whether a 
sufficient mi t iga t ing circumstance has been proven. 
See Paredes v. Quarterman, 574 F.3d 281, 292 &  

 (5th Cir. 2009) (collecting cases). I n Rowell v. 
Dretke, 398 F.3d 370 (5th Cir. 2005), for example, the 
court stated that Ring did not implicate mit igat ion 
because "the Supreme Court underscored that Ring 
had made no Sixth Amendment claim w i t h respect to 
mi t iga t ing circumstances." Id. at 378 (citing Ring (II), 
536 U.S. at 597 n,4). Rowell also observed that the 
Sixth Amendment required no burden of proof for 
either the defendant or the State to prove or disprove 
mit igat ion because this Court "recognizes an important 
distinction between 'facts i n aggravation of 
punishment and facts i n  Id. (quoting 
Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 490  Similarly, the  
Circuit has held that not asking a j u r y to f ind the 
absence of mit igat ion beyond a reasonable doubt is 
consistent w i t h Apprendi and Ring because "a finding 
of mi t igat ing circumstances reduces a sentence from 
death, rather than increasing i t to death." Blue v. 
Thaler, 665 F.3d 647, 669 (5th Cir. 2011) (quoting 
Granados v. Quarterman, 455 F.3d 529, 537 (5th Cir. 
2006)). 
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I n Lockett v. Trammel, 711 F.3d  (10th  
2013), the Tenth Circuit likewise recognized that Ring's 
Sixth  rule is l imited to aggravating 
circumstances. There, the petitioner argued that the 
ju ry instructions violated Ring and Apprendi because 
they did not require the  to find  aggravating 
circumstances outweighed mitigating circumstances 
beyond a reasonable doubt to impose a death sentence. 
Id. at 1252. I n denying a certificate  appealability, 
the  stated that "the  did  rely  

 address the weighing process,"   "the jury's 
weighing of aggravating and mitigating factors 'is not a 
finding  fact  to Apprendi, but a highly 
subjective, largely moral  regarding the 
punishment  a particular person  Id. at 
1254 (quoting Matthews  Workman, 577 F.3d 1175 
(10th Cir. 2009)). 

Similarly, the Eleventh  recognizes  Ring-
applies only to aggravating factors, not mitigation 
evidence.  Lee v.  i; Alabama Dept. of  
726 F.3d 1172   2013), also an AEDPA case, 
the petitioner argued that the t r i a l court violated Ring-
when i t overrode the jury's sentencing  

  without parole and imposed a death sentence. 
The Eleventh  found this claim "easily" disposed 

 by Ring's "narrow" holding: that "the Sixth 
Amendment's guarantee of ju ry trials requires that the 
finding   aggravating  that is 
necessary to imposition of the death penalty must he 
found by a  Id.   Because the jury's 
verdict necessarily established the existence of at least 
one aggravating circumstance sufficient to support a 
death sentence,  Ring error occurred. Id. at  
The  further noted  "Ring does not foreclose 
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the abil i ty of the t r i a l judge to find the aggravating 
circumstances outweigh the mit igat ing circumstances." 
Id. at 1198. Rather, this Court made clear i n Ring that 
" i t was not deciding whether the Sixth Amendment:  
required the j u ry to make findings as to mi t iga t ing 
circumstances; (2) required the j u r y to  the 
ult imate determination as to whether to impose  
death  or (3) forbade the state  from 
reweighing aggravating and mit iga t ing 

 Id. (citing   536 U.S. at 597 
n.4). 

Other circuits have consistently rejected the post-
 claim that, under  federal death penalty 

statute, the balance between aggravating and 
mi t iga t ing factors is a fact the j u ry must f ind beyond a 
reasonable doubt. Bee, e.g., United States v.  
707 F.3d 475, 516  Cir. 2013) (collecting cases); 
United States v. Sampson, 486 F.3d 13,  (1st Cir. 
2007); United States v. Barrett, 496 F.3d 1079, 1107-08 
(10th Cir. 2007); but see United States v. Miller, 502 
F.3d 931, 1012-13 (9th Cir. 2007) (Reinhardt, J., 
dissenting) (positing that Apprendi and Ringrequire a 
j u ry to determine beyond a reasonable doubt that 
aggravation outweighs mit igat ion before death 
sentence may be imposed). As the First Circuit has 
observed, Apprendi and Ring do not require a ju ry 
finding that aggravation evidence outweighs 
mit igat ion evidence beyond a reasonable doubt because 
weighing of sentencing factors  a process, 
not a fact to be found." Sampson, 486 F.3d at 32. 

By holding that "the existence or absence of a 
mi t iga t ing circumstance was . . . a f inding of fact upon 
which the increase of a defendant's authorized 
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  contingent"  App.  the 
N i n t h  became the only federal appellate court 
to recognize a Sixth Amendment r ight to jury findings 

 mit igat ion. The N i n t h Circuit's decision does not 
follow from this Court's precedent, and  conflicts wit h 
decisions  the First, Fourth, Fifth, Tenth,  
Eleventh Circuits, al l  which recognize that Ring is 
l imi ted to aggravating circumstances, not mitigation  
the weighing  aggravation  mitigation. The 
decision creates a lopsided circuit  and should be 
reversed accordingly. 

I I I . The Ninth Circuit's extension of Ring will likely 
have wide-ranging effects in non-capital 
sentencing proceedings. 

The N i n t h   stated that its novel, 
expansive interpretation of Ring would not 
significantly affect capital sentencing because almost 

 capital sentencing schemes require  to 
consider mit igat ing evidence, determine whether 
mit igat ing circumstances exist,  determine whether 
a sentence of life or death is appropriate. (Pet. App. A-
26 n.7.) Further, the   even i n states where 
the  makes only a nonbinding sentencing 

      and the  ult imately decides 
whether a death sentence  appropriate, "the jury 
retains the role  first factfinder." (Id.) Those 
observations neither justify the N i n t h Circuit's new 
constitutional rule nor recognize the likely implications 
of that rule for non-capital sentencing proceedings. 

 Arizona, for example, the legislature has 
enumerated aggravating circumstances, at least  of 
which  be  by the trier of fact before the 
judge may impose a  sentence. Ariz . Rev. 
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Stat. §   (D); State v. Bonfiglio, 295 P.3d 948, 
950,  8 (Ariz. 2013). Arizona law also lists mi t igat ing 
circumstances that the t r i a l court must consider when 
determining the appropriate sentence. Id. §  
701(E).7 Although the Arizona sentencing statutes 
require, consistent w i t h Apprendi, that the ju ry find at 
least one aggravating circumstance before the 
sentencing judge may impose the maximum sentence, 
they leave the consideration of mit igat ion and 
weighing of aggravating and mit iga t ing circumstances 
solely to the sentencing judge. 

The N i n t h Circuit's creation of a new Sixth 
Amendment r ight could reasonably be interpreted to 
uproot non-capital sentencing regimes i n Arizona and 
many other states by requiring ju ry determinations of 
mit igat ion i n al l cr iminal sentencing proceedings. The 
flawed reasoning expressed below is that under 
Arizona law "a death sentence was effectively 
contingent on the judge's findings regarding both 
aggravating and  circumstances" and, 
therefore, "the existence or absence of a mit igat ing 

Many other states similarly permit sentencing courts to consider mitigating 
facts as a sentencing factor that may reduce a sentence. See,, e.g., Alaska 
Stat. § 12.55.155;   Stat. § 921.0026; Haw. Rev. Stat. §§ 706-606.5(5), 
706-621; 730  Code Corr. § 5/5-5-3.1;   Code § 35-38-1-7.1;  Iowa 
Code § 901.10; Kan. Stat. § 21-6625;  Ky. R. Crim. P.  La. C. Cr. P. 
Art. 894.1; Me. Rev. Stat. §   Mass. R. Crim. P. 28(b); Minn. Stat. § 
631.20; Mont. Code §§ 46-18-222, -223; Nev. Rev. Stat. § 176.015; N.J. 
Stat.   Gen. Stat. §   N.D. Cent. Code § §29-
26-17, -18; Ohio Rev. Code § 2947.06; Or. Rev. Stat. § 137.080;  R.I. Gen. 
Laws § 12-19.2-4; S.D. Cod. Laws  §   Tenn. Code §§   -

 Utah Code § 76-3-402; Wash. Rev. Code § 9.94A.535; Wis. Stat. § 
973.017; People v. Portellos, 827 N.W.2d 725, 739 (Mich. App. 2012); 

 v. Shaffer, 722 A.2d 195, 199 (Pa. 1998). 



22 

circumstance  thus a finding of fact upon which the 
   defendant's authorized  [was] 

   A-24.) (quoting Ring (II), 536 
U.S. at 602). Nothing  that flawed reasoning 
exempts i t from application  non-capital sentencing 
proceedings. 

The decision below purports to derive from this 
Court's S ix th Amendment analysis  the 

 line of      Eighth 
Amendment decision that courts w i t h i n the N i n t h 

 can  to capital cases. See, e.g., Tcnnard v. 
Dretke,  U.S. 274, 285 (2004) (Eighth  
requires tha t ju ry  able to consider  give  to 
capital defendant's mit igat ing evidence);  v. 
California,   370, 377-78 (1990) (same); Lockett 
v. Ohio,  U.S. 586, 98 S. Ct. 2954 (1978) (same). 
There is no reason why the Sixth Amendment r ight 
created by the N i n t h Circuit would not apply to 
capital sentencing. Since whether a defendant receives 
the maximum sentence is "effectively contingent" on 
the sentencing judge's   "both 
aggravating  mit igat ing circumstances (Pet, App. 
A-24), the court  appeals' interpretation  Ring-
would potentially entitle  cr iminal defendants to a 
ju ry determination of mit igat ing facts when the State 

 alleged aggravating factors that would otherwise 
increase the statutory maximum sentence. Sec 
Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 490 (requiring a  f inding of 
only those facts "that  D the penalty for a crime 
beyond the prescribed statutory maximum"). 

Such  effect would constitute a sea change i n 
 sentencing. The panel below does  appear 

to have recognized the potential non-capital sentencing 
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consequences of its decision. The wide-ranging and 
unanticipated results call for an exercise of this Court's 
supervisory power.  Sup. Ct. R. 10(a). 

C O N C L U S I O N 

The peti t ion for a w r i t of certiorari should be 
granted. 
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OPINION 

NELSON, Senior Circuit Judge: 

Petitioner Michael Joe Murdaugh appeals the 
denial of his federal habeas petition, which 
challenges his murder conviction and death sentence. 
Murdaugh claims that the district court erred i n 
denying claims brought pursuant to Ring v. Arizona, 
536 U.S. 584 (2002), and Tennard v. Dretke, 542, 
U.S. 274 (2004), as wel l as claims raising other 
errors by the state court and the ineffective 
assistance of counsel. Murdaugh also argues that the 
district court erred i n deeming various claims 
procedurally defaulted. We grant relief on 
Murdaugh's Ring claim and reserve judgment on 
Murdaugh's claims about his competence to waive 
the presentation of mit igat ing evidence. We 
otherwise affirm the district court. 
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1. Background 

1. The Murders of David Reynolds and Douglas 
Eggert 

 June 26, 1995, Murdaugh's girlfriend, Rebecca 
Rohr,  David Reynolds at a gas station.1 She  

 she was looking for a job,  they exchanged 
phone numbers. The  took a sordid tu rn 
when Reynolds offered to pay Rohrs to perform  
sex. Rohrs declined, returned home, and described 
the encounter to Murdaugh. Murdaugh decided "to 
teach Reynolds a lesson," and told Rohrs to invite 
h i m over. Murdaugh then  w i t h his friend Jesse 

 to buy methamphetamine, instructing Rohrs 
to page  as soon  Reynolds arrived. 

When they learned that Reynolds had arrived, 
  Dezarn quickly returned to the 

house, brandishing firearms. While  
 Reynolds, Rohrs and her friend Betty 

Gross looted Reynolds's plumbing  outside. 
 eventually came out of the house and 

reprimanded them for  wearing gloves and 
leaving fingerprints on everything. He exclaimed, 
"Do you know what I  going to have to do now? 

 These facts are drawn from the Arizona Supreme Court's 
summary of the evidence supporting Murdaugh's convictions, 
which are "presumed to he correct," unless Murdaugh rebuts 
that presumption by "clear and convincing evidence." 28  
§  2254(e)(1). Murdaugh does not challenge any of these facts in 
his petition. 
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Later that night, Murdaugh took Reynolds to his 
garage and ordered h im into the t ruck of his car. 
Murdaugh, Dezarn, Gross and  a l l returned to 
the garage throughout the night to  
 

I n the early hours of the next morning, Murdaugh 
and Dezarn decided to abandon Reynolds's van near 
 cemetery. While stopping for gas on the way back 

to the house, they ran into  acquaintance, Ron 
Jesse. They asked Jesse for drugs, and he returned 
to the house w i t h them. Dezarn and Jesse then left 
the house  buy more methamphetamine. Upon 
their return, Murdaugh, Dezarn, Jesse began using 
methamphetamine i n the garage. A t around  
A M , Gross and Rohrs joined them, and the group 
continued taking drugs. 

While they were al l i n the garage, Murdaugh 
opened the truck of his car to show Jesse that he was 
holding Reynolds inside. A t this point, Reynolds 
asked to use the bathroom. Murdaugh  Reynolds 
to a  of the garage to urinate, and while 
Reynolds's back was turned, Murdaugh struck h im 
on the head w i t h a meat tenderizer. Reynolds fell to 
the ground, and Murdaugh  up a metal 
jackhammer spike and continued to h i t h im i n face 
and head. Three major crushing blows to Reynolds's 
skull k i l led h im. Murdaugh then instructed Gross 
and Rohrs to sprinkle horse manure over the body 
and the surrounding blood. 

A t some point after the murder, Jesse attempted 
to leave Murdaugh's property but could not because 
the gate was locked. Murdaugh approached Jesse 
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and threatened  saying that i f he told anyone 
 happened, Murdaugh would " k i l l [Jesse]  

 peel the   his children." 

That evening, Murdaugh   loaded 
Reynolds's body into Murdaugh's horse trailer. 
Murdaugh told Rohrs to clean up the blood i n the 
garage and then left to go camping.  the campsite, 

 dismembered Reynolds's body in an effort 
to prevent identification of the  He cut off 
Reynolds's head  hands, sliced off Reynolds's 
finger pads, and pulled out Reynolds's teeth. As he 
was dr iving to a separate site to bury the body, he 
threw the teeth and finger pads  the window of 
his truck. He then buried the  and hands i n one 
shallow grave  the torso  another. 

 the next several days, the police began 
investigating Reynolds's disappearance. The police 
found Reynolds's van, obtained copies of Reynolds's 
cell phone records, and then contacted Rohrs. The 
police also interviewed Jesse, who  them he had 
witnessed Reynolds's murder. The police obtained  
search warrant for Murdaugh's home  garage  

 the scene exactly  Murdaugh had left i t . The 
Maricopa County Sheriffs Office put out  alert 
notifying law enforcement agencies that they were 
looking for Murdaugh. 

Investigators ult imately tracked down Murdaugh 
after  checked himself into an emergency room for 
a  wound  sustained while cleaning one of his 
horses's hooves. After waiving his Miranda rights, 
Murdaugh confessed to the murder  told the 
detectives where to  Reynolds's body. Because 
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Reynolds's murder was similar to the previous 
murder of a vic t im named Douglas Eggert, the police 
asked Murdaugh i f he had ever done anything like 
this before. Murdaugh then admitted to k i l l i ng 
Eggert by beating h im to death w i t h a meat 
tenderizer. 

2. Conviction 

A n Arizona grand ju ry charged Murdaugh w i t h 
first degree murder, kidnapping, aggravated robbery, 
and aggravated assault i n connection w i t h 
Reynolds's death. I t also charged Murdaugh w i t h the 

 murder and kidnapping of Eggert. The 
state appointed Jess Lorona to represent Murdaugh. 

I n November 1998, the t r i a l court ordered a 
competency screening of Murdaugh. Dr. Jack Potts, a 
forensic psychologist, noted that Murdaugh held 
some fringe beliefs but expressed a desire to plead 
guil ty to avoid pu t t ing his family and those of the 
victims through a t r i a l . Dr . Potts concluded that 
Murdaugh was aware of the charges against h i m and 
understood both his constitutional rights and the 
consequences of pleading guilty. 

The  then appointed Drs. Scialli and 
Sindelar to assess Murdaugh's competence. Both 
found Murdaugh competent to plead guilty. The 
parties stipulated that the court could determine 
Murdaugh's competency on the basis of these 
reports. The t r i a l court then found Murdaugh 
competent. 
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Around this time, Murdaugh repeatedly 
requested a skull x-ray because he believed that a 
tracking device  been  i n his  The 
deputy district attorney, Mark Barry, asked the 

 to order the skull x-ray. He argued that the x-
ray  reassure Murdaugh that no tracking 
device existed  that  would "alleviate any 
potential coercive allegations raised at any future 

 proceedings." The t r i a l court granted the 
request. 

I n May  the t r i a l court ordered a 
competency screening to reevaluate Murdaugh. Dr. 
Potts submitted  screening evaluation  Murdaugh 

 September 1999, in which he described Murdaugh 
as "continuing to experience paranoid beliefs and 
delusions secondary to his past amphetamine abuse." 
Dr. Potts recounted that Murdaugh  requested  
skull x-ray  had received a CT scan instead. The 
scan did  show an implant,  Murdaugh 
believed the results were doctored  requested an 

 Dr . Potts concluded that Murdaugh "is  
  who is simply expressing a very 

strong desire  on a clearly false belief. He  
capable  weighing various options." Dr. Potts 
opined that Murdaugh "fully appreciates the 
necessary waiver  his right  entering a plea of 
guilty," and "fully understands the consequences of 
entering the plea." 

 pled guilty to both indictments i n 
January of  The plea agreement provided  
the state would not seek the death penalty for 
Eggert's murder,  that the conviction for that 
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crime could s t i l l constitute an aggravating factor i n 
sentencing Murdaugh for Reynolds's murder. 

3. Sentencing 

Over the course of the next year, the defense 
team prepared a mit igat ion case by retaining a 
psychiatrist and an addictionologist, seeking the 
release of Murdaugh's Rolodex from the state to 
contact character witnesses, and having the 
mit igat ion specialist prepare a mit igat ion report. The 
t r i a l court ordered Murdaugh's mit igat ion experts, 
Dr.  and Dr. Shaw, and Lisa Christianson, to 
submit their reports to  state by August 24, 2001. 

On August 27, 2001, Lorona notified the state 
that Murdaugh would not allow h im to file w i t h the 
court, or provide to the prosecution, any of the 
mi t iga t ing materials the defense had prepared. The 
state moved to compel and sought sanctions against 
Lorona. 

The t r i a l court held a hearing on September 7, 
2001. Lorona told the court that Murdaugh feared 
that his life was i n danger and believed tha t staying 
i n the Arizona Department of Corrections would 
effectively be a death sentence whether or not he was 
sentenced to death. Lorona had asked the state to 
agree to an interstate compact to allow Murdaugh to 
serve his time outside Arizona, but the state refused. 
The court clarified that i t did not have the authority 
to te l l the Department of Corrections where to place 
an inmate. 



A-9 

Because he  not serve  life sentence 
outside  Arizona, Murdaugh instructed  counsel 
tha t he did not  to put on any mitigation case  
a l l . The court informed   i f  did not 
present mitigation,   would seek mitigating 
evidence from any source legitimately available to 
the court and would  the burden  the state to 
provide mit igat ing evidence. 

Three weeks later, the court held another 
hearing about Murdaugh's objection to the 
presentation of mit igat ing evidence.  
explained that though he   was 
competent to waive mit igat ion evidence, the court 
was  to determine the competency issue 
before proceeding. The  considered whether  
could compel either side to present mitigating 
evidence and asked for evidence regarding 
Murdaugh's competence. 

The D A offered the testimony  the state's 
expert, Dr.  Dr. Lang  experience 
conducting competency evaluations  did not do 
one i n  case.  testified that during the time 
she spent w i t h  she  not observe any 
indications that the petitioner was unable to 
understand the nature of the proceedings  
h im or that he   Dr. Lang also 
testified that Murdaugh was able to state the 
charges against h im, seemed to understand  
questions, and appeared coherent, and that she  
no reason to disagree w i t h the prior competency 
determinations made before Murdaugh pled guilty. 

  the court to take  notice  the 
earlier reports submitted by Drs. Scialli,  



 

and Potts regarding Murdaugh's competence to plead 
guilty. The court did so. 

The court found Murdaugh competent to assist 
counsel, to understand the nature of the proceedings, 
and to waive his r ight to present mit igat ion evidence. 
The court went on to conclude that the petitioner had 
a Fif th Amendment r igh t "not to testify directly or 
indirectly through other means." The court ruled 
that i t would not compel the defense to present 
mit igat ion but that i t would compel the state to do 
 

The state then proceeded to present mi t iga t ing 
evidence. The state first moved to admit the 
materials Dr.  used in preparing his report, 
as wel l as a prel iminary draft of Dr. Deming's report 
and a 1978 medical records evaluation of Murdaugh. 
Defense counsel objected, arguing that any 
information beyond what was contained i n the Rule 
11 competency reports was private. The t r i a l court 
sustained the objection and declined to consider 
these materials, f inding that to do so would moot 
Murdaugh's waiver of mit igation. 

The state next called Dr. Lang to offer  
evidence. Dr. Lang testified that she had diagnosed 
Murdaugh w i t h polysubstance dependence based on 
his history of drug abuse and w i t h antisocial 
personality disorder based on his history of 
aggressive and violent behavior, disrespect for 
society, involvement i n illegal activity and 
personality testing. Dr. Lang also testified that she 
did not believe Murdaugh was paranoid or delusional 
at the time of the offense, that neither his capacity to 



 

appreciate the wrongfulness  his conduct nor to 
conform his  to the requirements of  were 
significantly impaired  the time  the offense,  
that his cognitive functioning  unimpaired. 

More than halfway through this testimony, 
Lorona asked, "Is there some mit igat ion here 
somewhere?" The court noted its concern  the 
state was using the presentation  mit igat ing 
evidence  a  to introduce additional 
aggravating evidence. The  then proceeded to 
question Dr . Lang directly about Murdaugh's drug 
use leading up to Reynolds's murder  how i t 
affected Murdaugh's mental state. Dr. Lang testified 
that the psychological  of methamphetamine 
ingestion varies  can include euphoria, a feeling of 
power, increased energy, and decreased  to sleep 
or eat; i t also may aggravate aggression  
paranoia. Defense counsel declined to cross-examine 
Dr. Lang. 

Despite Murdaugh's decision to waive 
mitigation, Lorona filed a  sentencing 

    to the evidence that 
had been  w i t h the court. I t did not refer to any 
of the mit igat ion reports. Counsel argued that 
Murdaugh's convictions for Eggert's death could 
establish either of two aggravating factors2: that 

 At the time of Murdaugh's sentencing, Arizona law required a 
sentencing judge to find one or more of fourteen enumerated 
aggravating circumstances before a capital defendant could be 
eligible for the death penalty. See Ariz.Rev. Stat. § 13-703(E). 
The four aggravating circumstances relevant to this appeal are: 



 

Eggert's murder was a crime for which Murdaugh 
could be sentenced to life imprisonment or the death 
penalty, (F)(l) , or tha t Eggert's murder was a prior 
violent felony,    
(F)(2) (2001). Counsel argued, though, that i n 
accordance w i t h the terms of the plea agreement, 
Eggert's murder could not establish both factors. 
Counsel also argued that the state had not 
established aggravating factor  pecuniary gain. 
Finally, counsel argued that the state had not proved 
beyond a reasonable doubt factor (F)(6) or that the 
offense was committed i n an especially heinous, 
cruel, or depraved  W i t h respect to statutory 
mi t iga t ing circumstances,3 counsel asserted that 

(F)(l) . The defendant has been convicted of 
another offense in the United States for which 
under Arizona law a sentence of life  
or death was  
(F)(2). The defendant has been or was previously 
convicted of a serious offense, whether 
preparatory or completed. Convictions for serious 
offenses committed on the same occasion as the 
homicide, or not committed on the same occasion 
but consolidated for trial with the homicide, shall 
be treated as a serious offense under this 
paragraph. 
(F)(5). The defendant committed the offense as 
consideration for the receipt, or in expectation of 
the receipt, of anything of pecuniary value, 
(F)(6). The defendant committed the offense in an 
especially heinous, cruel or depraved manner. 

See id. § 13-703(F). 

 Arizona law at the time required a sentencing judge to 
consider five "statutory" mitigating 



 

Murdaugh's methamphetamine use rendered h im 
unable to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct 
or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the 
law, but not so much as to constitute a defense. 
Counsel pointed to testimony  at presentence 
hearing  Murdaugh was under the influence  

 at the  of the ki l l ing. 

The t r i a l court sentenced Murdaugh to death. 
The court found Reynolds's murder was especially 
cruel, heinous  depraved under Arizona  
Statute § 13-703(F)(6), and  found Eggert's murder to 
be  aggravating circumstance under Arizona 

(G)(l). The defendant's capacity to appreciate the 
wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his 
conduct to the requirements of law was 
significantly impaired, but not so impaired as to 
constitute a defense to prosecution. 
(G)(2). The defendant was under unusual and 
substantial duress, although not such as to 
constitute a defense to prosecution. 
(G)(3). The defendant was legally accountable for 
the conduct of another under the provisions of 
§  13—303, but his participation was relatively 
minor, although not so minor as to constitute a 
defense to prosecution. 
(G)(4). The defendant could not reasonably have 
foreseen that his conduct in the course of the 
commission of the offense for which the defendant 
was convicted would cause, or would create a 
grave risk of causing, death to another person. 
(G)(5). The defendant's age. 

Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 13-703(G). It also required the judge to 
consider any other "nonstatutory" mitigating circumstances 
that were "relevant in determining whether to impose a 
sentence less than death." Id. 



 

Revised Statute § 13-703(F)(l). The court 
considered the five statutory mit igat ing factors. Id. § 
13-703(G)(l)-(5). The court found that there was 
some evidence to support factor (G)(l), that the 
defendant's capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness 
of hos conduct or conform his conduct to the 
requirements of the law was significantly impaired. 
This evidence included the four reports prepared for 
Murdaugh's competency determinations before he 
pled guilty, his paranoid thoughts, and his long 
history of chronic drug abuse. The court also 
considered the testimony of Dr. Lang, but "only to 
the extent her testimony offered mit igat ing 
evidence." The court ul t imately concluded that the 
evidence did not establish the (G)(l) mit igat ing 
factor. 

The court next found eight non-statutory 
mi t iga t ing factors:  Murdaugh was under the 
influence of drugs at the t ime of the  (2) he was 
a chronic drug abuser; (3) he has a personality 
disorder,' (4) he experiences paranoid  (5) 
the combination of these four circumstances may 
have impacted his mental abilities; (6) he cooperated 
w i t h law enforcement; (7) he lacked a prior cr iminal 

 and (8) he admitted guil t and expressed 
concern toward the families of his victims. The court 
afforded these factors l i t t le weight and the 
aggravating factors great weight. The court 
concluded that the nonstatutory factors were 
insufficient to warrant leniency. 



 

3. Direct Appeal 

The Arizona Supreme Court upheld Murdaugh's 
convictions  death sentence   appeal. 
State  Murdaugh, 209   97  844 (2004) 
(en banc). The court addressed four issues. First,  
held  the delay i n Murdaugh's case did not 
constitute cruel and unusual punishment. Id.  851. 
Second,  held  reasonable evidence supported 
the t r i a l court's finding  Murdaugh was 
competent to plead guilty. Id.  852, Third , the court 
rejected Murdaugh's argument that his guil ty plea 
was not. knowingly made because he  not told he 

 a Sixth Amendment r ight to have a ju ry 
determine his sentence. Id.  853-54. The court held 
that such   did  exist  the time Murdaugh 
pled guilty. Id. at 853. Additionally, the court found 
nothing i n the record  indicated tha t Murdaugh's 
decision to plead guilty was influenced by whether a 
judge or a j u r y would decide i f he deserved to be 
sentenced to death. 

Finally, the  addressed Murdaugh's Ring 
claim that he was improperly sentenced by a  
rather than a jury . Id.  854-62. The court began by 
reiterating  Ring error is procedural error 
subject to harmless error review, not structural error 
as Murdaugh argued. Id.   Reviewing 
Murdaugh's sentence for harmless error, the  
found  the (F)(l) aggravating factor fell outside 
the Ring rule and that the state had proven the 
(F)(6) aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Id.  855-58. Considering the mit igat ing evidence 
adduced dur ing the penalty phase, including 
Murdaugh's sentencing memorandum, Dr. Lang's 



 

testimony during the sentencing hearing, the facts as 
recounted by the t r i a l court, evidence that Murdaugh 
took steps to avoid detection, and the competency 
reports produced before the plea agreement, the 
court held that no reasonable ju ry could find that the 
evidence was "sufficiently substantial" to call for 
leniency. Id. at 859-60. The court further  that 
because no mental health professional found a causal 
nexus between Murdaugh's paranoid thoughts and 
delusions and the murders, no reasonable ju ry would 
have weighted these factors any differently than did 
the t r i a l judge. Id. at 860. Finally, the court noted 
that the record did not support any mit igat ing 
circumstance not considered by the t r i a l court. Id. at 
8 6 1 - 62. 

Justice Berch dissented on the Ring issue. Id. at 
862- 64.  argued that a j u ry could have found the 
evidence of Murdaugh's mental impairment from 
chronic drug abuse more important than the judge 
did i n deciding the (F)(6) aggravating factor. Id. at 

 64. She also pointed out that the majority 
acknowledged that "some evidence  a 
finding of the statutory mi t iga t ing factor existed. Id. 
at 864. Finally, she noted that the aggravating 
factors here were similar to those i n State v. Pandeli, 
204 Ariz .  65 P.3d 950 (2003), a case i n which the 
court remanded for resentencing. Id. 

5.  Review 

Murdaugh raised twelve claims i n his peti t ion for 
post-conviction  and that Arizona state court 
denied relief. Concerning his claim that the 
competency determination was inadequate, the court 



 

 that there was no need for the  court to 
conduct a further competency determination, as the 
record was devoid of any evidence suggesting that 
Murdaugh's  to plead guilty   based on 
his desire to spare the victim's family and his  

 t r i a l . 

The court held  Murdaugh's second claim for 
inval id waiver of mitigation was precluded because 

 failed to raise the   appeal. The court 
further found that Murdaugh was aware of the 
mit igat ion evidence that could  presented but 
nevertheless decided not to present  The court also 
noted that the t r i a l court "considered  found 
mitigation" despite Murdaugh's waiver. 

The   Murdaugh's t h i r d claim for 
mental competence was precluded. 

The court dismissed Murdaugh's fourth claim 
that his guilty plea and decision to waive mitigation 
were involuntary because they were the products of 
false promises and threats, finding that the t r i a l 
court carefully questioned Murdaugh during his plea 
colloquy  that Murdaugh told the t r i a l court there 
were no other promises made to him. 

The court set  evidentiary hearing to 
determine the merits of Murdaugh's sixth claim for 
ineffective assistance of t r i a l counsel. The court 
rejected Murdaugh's claims  inadequate public 
financing of  t r i a l  appellate counsel, finding 
that there was no legal basis to determine that the 
Office   Appointed Counsel's   
scale was inadequate. 



 

The court held the t r i a l court's order that the 
prosecutor present mit igat ion evidence did not create 
a conflict of interest, and additionally that this claim 
was precluded. 

Concerning Murdaugh's claim that the 
sentencing court used an unconstitutional nexus 
text, the court held that the court used  lack of a 
causal  to weigh the evidence,  than to 
screen i t out. The court pointed out that the t r i a l 
court did i n fact f ind Murdaugh's mental state and 
methamphetamine addiction at the time of the crime 
to be mi t iga t ing circumstances, and gave them l i t t le 
weight. 

The court summarily dismissed Murdaugh's 
claim that the Arizona Supreme Court erroneously 
determined that the Ring violation was subject to 
harmless error analysis, and his claim that his 
appellate counsel was ineffective for fai l ing to raise 
the issue of whether a Ring violation is subject to 
harmless error analysis and for fai l ing to raise 
whether there was a proper determination that the 
Ring violation was harmless error. 

The court also dismissed Murdaugh's claim that 
le thal injection is cruel and unusual punishment. 

6. State Court Evidentiary Hearing 

The post-conviction court held an evidentiary 
hearing to determine the merits of Murdaugh's 
alleged fifteen instances of ineffective assistance of 
t r i a l counsel. Murdaugh claimed his counsel knew or 
should have known that he was not competent to 



 

waive mit igat ion and that counsel breached his duty 
to investigate Murdaugh's competency further. The 
court reviewed al l of the doctors' reports that t r i a l 
counsel had before Murdaugh waived mitigation and 
found tha t nothing i n the record, or i n the evidence 
presented during the evidentiary hearing, showed 
that Murdaugh's competence  the time he waived 
mit igat ion had deteriorated from the  he was 
deemed competent at his change of plea. Moreover, 
no evidence had been  to undermine the 
t r i a l court's finding of competence. The court also 
concluded that Murdaugh failed to show prejudice 
both because a competent  has the right to 
ignore the intelligent advice of his counsel, and 
because the mit igat ing evidence, i f presented, would 

 have overcome the aggravating evidence. The 
court declined to consider t r i a l counsel's 
performance. 

The Arizona Supreme Court denied Murdaugh's 

 for review of the denial of post-conviction 

relief. 

7. District Court Decision 

Murdaugh filed a federal habeas petition, which 
the district court denied i n full . The court also denied 
Murdaugh's motions for evidentiary development. 
The court found  many of the claims were record-
based and  not require development. For those 
that were not record-based, the court found that 
Murdaugh had not shown good cause for discovery or 
had failed to identify contested facts bearing on the 
merits of his petition. The  also denied an 
evidentiary hearing. The court granted a certificate 
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of appealability w i t h respect to eight claims. We 
 the certificate of appealability to include 

four additional claims briefed by Murdaugh on 
appeal. 

I I . Standard of Review 

We review the denial of habeas relief de novo, 
Doody v. Ryan, 649 F.3d 986, 1001 (9th Cir. 2011) 
(en banc), and the district court's findings of fact for 
clear error, Brown v. Ornoski, 503 F.3d 1006, 1010 
(9th Cir. 2007). We review the denial of an 
evidentiary hearing for abuse of discretion. Stanley 
v.  598 F.3d 612, 617 (9th Cir.  

The Ant i terror ism and Effective Death Penalty 
Act ("AEPDA") governs Murdaugh's peti t ion because 
he filed i t after the statute went into effect. Bee 
Lindh v. Murphy, 521 U.S. 320, 336-37 (1997). 
AEPDA circumscribes a federal court's power to 
grant habeas relief to a state prisoner. See Cullen v. 
Pinholster, 131 S. Ct. 1388, 1398 (2011). "A state 
court's determination that a claim lacks meri t 
precludes federal habeas relief so long as  
jurists could disagree' on the correctness of the state 
court's decision." Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 
770, 786 (2011) (quoting Yarborough v. Alvarado, 
541 U.S. 652, 664 (2004)). When a state court has 
adjudicated a claim on the merits, we may grant 
relief only i f the state court's resolution of that claim 

 resulted i n a decision that was contrary to, or 
involved an unreasonable application of, clearly 
established Federal law, as determined by the 
Supreme Court of the Uni ted States; or (2) resulted 
in a decision that was based on an unreasonable 



 

determination of the facts i n l ight  the evidence 
presented  the State court proceeding." 28  § 
2254(d). 

Clearly established federal law "refers to the 
holdings, as opposed to the dicta, of  Supreme] 
Court's decisions as of the time of the relevant 
court decision." Williams  Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 412 
(2000). A state court decision  involve an 
unreasonable application of   
precedent  one of two ways:  the state court 
identifies the correct governing legal rule from  
Supreme] Court's cases  unreasonably applies  
to the facts of the particular state prisoner's case,"  
" i f the state court either unreasonably extends a 
legal principle from [Supreme Court]  to a 
new  where  should not apply or 
unreasonably refuses to extend that principle to  
new context where  should apply." Id. at 407, 120 S. 
Ct. 1495. "Stated simply, a federal  court 
making the   inquiry should 

 whether the state court's application  clearly 
established federal  was objectively 
unreasonable." Id. at 409, 120 S. Ct, 1495. I n 
considering whether the state court unreasonably 
applied clearly established federal law, review is 
l imi ted to the factual record that was before the state 

 tha t  the claim  the merits. 
Pinholster, 131 S. Ct.  1398. 

I n determining whether a state court made  

unreasonable determination of the facts, " i t is  

enough that   reverse i n similar 

circumstances  this were  appeal from a  
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court decision. Rather, we must be convinced that an 

appellate panel, applying the normal standards of 

appellate review, could not reasonably conclude that 

the finding is supported by the record." Taylor v. 

 336 F.3d  1000 (9th Cir. 2004). 

I I I . Discussion 

1. Ring Claim 

I n Ring v. Arizona (Ring II),  U.S.  588-

89 (2002),  Supreme Court held that a defendant 

is enti t led to a ju ry determination of "the presence or 

absence of the aggravating factors required by 

Arizona law for imposition of the death penalty." 

This holding followed from the Court's decision i n 

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000), 

that a cr iminal defendant has a Sixth Amendment 

r ight to have a ju ry determine "any fact that increase 

the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed 

statutory maximum." I n response to Ring II, Arizona 

amended its capital sentencing scheme. Bee State v. 

Ring (Ring III), 65 P.3d 915, 926 (Ariz. 2003)  

banc) (describing Senate B i l l 1001). The new 

procedure allowed the j u ry to find and consider the 

effect of aggravating and mit igat ing circumstances 

and to decide whether the defendant should be -

sentenced to death. Ar iz . Rev. Stat. §   

(2002). 
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 remand from the Supreme Court, the Arizona 

Supreme Court considered the impact of Ring  on 

al l capital cases then pending on  appeal. Ring, 

  at 925. The court held that failing to submit 

capital aggravating factors to  jury did not require 

reversing the sentence i f the error  harmless. Id. 

at 933-36.  reviewing Ring error for harmlessness, 

the  concluded that i t was required to consider 

whether reversible Ring error  w i t h respect 

to both the aggravating and mit igat ing 

circumstances. Bee id. at 942-43. I n separate 

opinions, the  then individually reviewed for 

Ring error the death sentences of twenty-one 

defendants.  nineteen of these cases, the court 

found Ring error was not harmless and remanded for 

resentencing.4 Here, obviously, the court did  

 state v. Lamar, 115  611 (Ariz. 2005); State v. Moody, 94 
 1119 (Ariz. 2004); State v. Barm, 79  58 (Ariz. 2003); 

State v. Montano, 77  1246 (Ariz. 2003); State v. 
Nordstrom, 77  40 (Ariz. 2003); State v. Rutledge, 76  
443  State v. Prasertphong, 76  438 (Ariz. 
2003); State v. Ring, 76  421  2003); State v. Cropper, 
76  424 (Ariz. 2003); State v. Prince, 75  114 (Ariz. 
2003); State v. Jones, 72 P.3d 1264 (Ariz. 2003); State v. 
Phillips, 67  1228  2003); State v. Finch, 68  123 
(Ariz. 2003); State v. Tucker, 68  110 (Ariz. 2003); State v. 
Lehr, 67  703 (Ariz. 2003); State v. Harrod, 65  948 
(Ariz. 2003); State v. Pandeli, 65  950  2003); State v. 
Hoskins, 65  953 (Ariz. 2003); State v. Canze, 74  932 
(2003). 
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A) Scope of the Right 

We must first determine the scope of the r ight 

articulated i n Ring II. The state argues that our 

review for Ring error is l imi ted by the express 

wording of Ring II, 536 U.S. at  which 

addressed only "the aggravating factors required by 

Arizona law for imposition of the death penalty."5 A 

narrow reading of Ring I I would extend the Sixth 

Amendment r ight no further than its express holding 

by concluding that t defendant only has a r ight to 

have a j u ry determine aggravating factors. 

We are not convinced that Ring I I should be read 

so narrowly. Echoing Apprendi, the Ring I I Court 

held that a ju ry must f ind any fact upon which the 

"increase of a defendant's authorized punishment [is] 

contingent." Ring II, 536 U.S. at 602, (citing 

Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 494) (internal quotation marks 

omitted). Because the penalty of death was 

contingent on the presence or absence of aggravating 

factors under Arizona law, the Court held that 

Apprendi required a j u r y to find them. Id. at 609. 

But the existence of an aggravating factor was 

not the only death-qualifying element of Arizona's 

The question in Ring II was: "whether [the] 
aggravating factor may be found by the judge ... or whether 
the Sixth Amendment's jury trial guarantee ... requires that 
the aggravating factor determination be entrusted to the 
jury." 536 U.S. at 597. 
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superseded capital sentencing statute.  Ring II, the 

Supreme Court described several determinations 

that had  occur  Arizona laws before a 

defendant became death-eligible, including the 

judge's determination that "there are no mitigating 

circumstances sufficiently substantial to call for 

leniency." Id.  593 (quoting Ariz. Rev. Stat. §  

703(F) (2001)).6 Arizona's sentencing scheme 

required a judge "to determine  there are  

mit igat ing circumstances" and "weigh them against 

the aggravators and decide by 'special verdict' 

whether a death sentence is appropriate." State  

Ring  I),   1139, 1151  2001) 

(citations omitted). The statutes  "more than 

the presence of one or more statutorily  

aggravating factors to impose the death penalty." 

Ring III,   at 946. I t also mandated that "a 

tr ier of  ... determine whether mit igat ing 

circumstances cabled] for leniency." Id. 

Under the superseded law, a defendant's 

el igibil i ty for a death sentence   

contingent  the judge's findings regarding both 

aggravating  mitigating circumstances. The 

"ultimate element" qualifying the defendant for 

 was "at least one aggravating circumstance 

not   one or more mitigation factors." 

 III 65  at 935 (citing  Rev. Stat. § 13-

 Unless otherwise noted, subsequent citations to Arizona 
statutes refer to those statutes as they existed in 2001. 
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703(E)); see also Ring II, 536 U.S. at 593. A judge's 

determination that no mit igat ing circumstances 

existed therefore also served to establish a fact that 

qualified a defendant for the death sentence. 

Applying the rationale of Apprendi and Ring II, the 

existence or absence of a mit igat ion circumstance 

was thus a finding of fact upon which the "increase of 

a defendant's authorized punishment [was] 

contingent."  536 U.S. at 602. 

This reasoning makes sense given the nature of 

factfinding at the  stage. A finding 

that certain facts establish an aggravating factor 

often necessarily implies that the same facts do not 

establish a mit igat ing factor. I n this appeal, for 

instance, Murdaugh argues his dismemberment of 

Reynolds's body demonstrates his paranoia and 

delusions, and therefore helps establish a mit igat ing 

circumstance. The state argues, conversely, that the 

mut i la t ion establishes that the murder was 

depraved. I n finding that dismemberment supported 

the  aggravating factor, then, the t r i a l judge 

also impl ic i t ly found that this evidence did not 

establish any mit igat ing factors. The  

nature of the inquiry means that a factfinder's 

analysis of aggravating factor i n isolation is 

conceptually untenable. 

A jury's findings concerning aggravating factors 

are also necessarily intertwined w i t h its findings 
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about mit igat ing circumstances because of the 

 for  evidence  the  stage. 

A  does not  the aggravating evidence  a 

void. Rather, a defendant presents mitigating 

 following the state's presentation  

aggravating evidence,   attempt to establish 

some basis  leniency. See Ariz. Rev. Stat. §   

  I t would be impossible for a ju ry 

to consider only the aggravating evidence,  

determining whether the aggravating factors were 

met  also implic i t ly considering contravening 

mit igat ing evidence. A   has listened to 

extensive mit igat ing evidence  the defendant's 

good character, for instance, may  much less l ikely 

to find the  acted heinously  cruelly i n 

committ ing the offense. The right to have a  

determine aggravating factors is therefore also a de 

facto right to have   determine mit igat ing facts.7 

 practical effect, Ring II created  right to have the  
determine all the facts on which a sentence of death depended, 
both aggravating and mitigating, since capital sentencing 
statutes assigned this function to one factfinder.  Ring III, 
65  at 943. The capital sentencing statues in all states with 
the death penalty, with the sole exception of Nebraska, now 
require juries to consider mitigating evidence, determine the 
existence or absence of mitigating circumstances, and decide 
whether death is the appropriate sentence. See Ala. Stat. 
§  13A-5-46(e); Ark. Code §§ 5-4-602(3)-(5), 603(a);  Ariz. Rev. 
Stat. § 13-752; Cal. Penal Code § 190.3;  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-
1.3-120l(2)(a);  Code  11 § 4209(c)(3);   Stat. 
§  921.141(2); Ga. Code §§ 17-10-30(b), 31(a); Idaho Code §  
2515(3)(b);  Code § 35-50-2-9(1); Kan. Stat. § 21-6617(e); 
Ky. Rev. Stat. § 532.025(l)(b), (3) L a . Code  Crim.  art. 
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The jury plays a similar role i n the federal capital 

sentencing statute. Bee 18  §3594.  Even in 

those states where the ult imate ju ry 

recommendation of death remains nonbinding, the 

j u r y retains the role of first factfinder. See Ala. Stat. 

§  13A-5-46(e); Del. Code t i t . 11, & 4209(c)(3);  

Stat. § 921.141(2); Ga. Code §§   31(a); 

Ky . Rev. Stat. § 532.025(l)(b)(3). 

As the Supreme Court has stressed repeatedly, 

how a fact is labeled is irrelevant to the Apprendi 

analysis. See Ring II, 536 U.S. at 602, 122 S. Ct. 

905.3; Md. Crim. Law §  2-303(0(1); Miss. Code § 99-19-101(3); 
Mo. Rev. Stat. §§ 565.030.4, 565.032; Nev. Rev. Stat. § 175.554; 
N.H. Rev. Stat. §  630:5(IV); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-2000(b); N.Y. 
Crim.  § 400.27; Ohio Rev. Code § 2929.03(D)(2);   
Stat., tit. 21, §   Or. Rev. Stat. § 163.150; 42 P.  Cons. 
Stat. § 9711; S.C. Code § 16-3-20; S.D. Codified  Laws § 23A-
27A-3; Ten. Code § 39-13-204; Tex. Code  Crim. Proc. art. 
37.071; Utah Code § 76-3-207; V a . Code § 19.2-264.4;  Wash. 
Rev. Code § 10.95.606; Wyo. Stat. § 6-2-102. Although 
Montana has not revised its capital sentencing scheme since 
Ring II, see Mont. Code 46-18-301, the  also has not 
sentenced any defendant to death since 1996. See Death 
Penalty Information Center, Death Sentences in the United 
States from 1977 By State and By Year, 

 (last visited Apr. 18, 2013). 

The jury plays a similar role in the federal capital sentencing 
statute. See 18 U.S .C. § 3594.  Even in those states where the 
ultimate jury recommendation of death remains nonbinding, 
the jury retains the role of first factfinder. See Ala. Stat. § 13A-
5-46(e); Del. Code tit. 11, § 4209(c)(3); F la . Stat. § 921.141(2); 
Ga. Code §§   31(a); Ky. Rev. Stat. § 532.025(l)(h), 
(3). 
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4228; Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 494; Apprendi, 530 U.S. 

at 494.  is the  of a  that dictates whether 

  must determine i t , Apprendi, 530 U.S.  464; 

see also  v. United States,  S. Ct. 2151, 

186 L.Ed.2d 314 (2013) (reiterating that any fact 

  the effect  increasing the penalty for a 

crime   submitted to the ju ry) . Because the 

existence or absence  mit igat ing circumstances 

directly affected whether Murdaugh was  

eligible under Arizona law. He  a r igh t to have a 

 decide those facts.8 

B) Standard of Review 

We next address Murdaugh's argument that, 

contrary to the holding of the Arizona Supreme 

Court, Ring error is   should not be 

subject to harmless error review. 

I n Ring II, the Supreme Court did  reach the 

question  whether the Ring error there was 

harmless, noting that "this Court ordinarily leaves  

 A narrow reading of Ring II is particularly problematic for an 
appellate court reviewing a Ring error for harmlessness. In 
many cases, the question of whether the judge's role in finding 
aggravating factors prejudiced the verdict will depend on the 
extant   Consider a judge who found 
two aggravating factors when a jury would have found only one. 
If there are no mitigating circumstances to counterbalance the 
unblemished aggravator, the error is  if 
there are substantial mitigating  the error might 
make all the difference. See State v. Lehr, 67 P.3d 703, 705 
(2003). 



 

to lower courts to pass on the harmlessness of error 

i n the first instance." 536 U.S. at 609 n.7 (citing 

Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 25 (1999)). The 

Court reiterated that i t had left open the question of 

whether the error in Ring I I was harmless i n 

Mitchell v. Esparza, 540 U.S.  17 (2003). The 

Court emphasized that where i t  not set forth a 

standard of review for a constitutional error and the 

Court's precedent "is, at best, ambiguous," a federal 

court may not overrule a state court's decision to 

apply harmless error review.  

I n Ring III, the Arizona Supreme Court 

definitively answered this  applying the 

harmless error standard set forth i n Neder, 65  

at 935—36. As part of this review, the court asked 

whether i t could conclude, "beyond a reasonable 

doubt, t ha t no rational t r ier of fact would determine 

that the mit igat ing circumstances were sufficiently 

substantial to call for leniency." Id. at 946. If, i n 

future Ring error cases, the court could not answer 

this question i n the affirmative, i t would remand the 

case for resentencing by a jury . Id. The state 

challenged the Arizona Supreme Court's application 

of the harmless error test, arguing that this 

application of harmless error review which included 

review of the mit igat ing factors for harmless error, 

was beyond the scope of the constitutional error 

articulated i n Ring II. See Nordstrom, 77  at 46 

n.5. The Arizona Supreme Court rejected this 



 

argument, and the Supreme Court denied certiorari. 

Bee Pandeli, 540 U.S. 962 (2003). Thus,   now 

 that Ring error  subject to the 

harmless error  articulated  Ring III,  we 

may not reconsider the  here. 

C) Harmless Error Review 

Harmless error analysis requires  courts to 

determine "whether the error  substantial  

injurious effect or influence i n determining the  

 Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 637 

(1993) (quoting Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 

750, 776 (1946)). We "apply the Brecht test without 

 for the state court's harmlessness 

determination."  v. Chrones, 629 F.3d 1007, 

 (9th  2010) (citing Fry v. Fliler, 551 U.S. 

  (2007)). The Brecht standard has been 

described as follows: 

 one  say,   
assurance, after pondering a l l that 
happened without stripping the 
erroneous actions from the  that 
the judgment  not substantially 
swayed  the error, i t is impossible to 
conclude  substantial rights were 
not affected. The inquiry cannot be 
merely whether there was enough to 

 the result, apart from the 
phase affected by the error. I t is 
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rather, even so, whether the error 
itself had substantial influence. 

Merolillo v. Yates, 663 F.3d 444, 454 (9th Cir. 2011) 

(quoting Kotteakos, 328 U.S. at 765). "Where the 

record is so evenly balanced that a judge  

himself i n v i r tua l equipoise as to the harmlessness of 

the error' and has 'grave doubt about whether an 

error affected a ju ry [substantially and injuriously], 

the judge must treat the error as i f i t did  Id. 

(quoting O'Neal v. McAninch, 513 U.S. 432, 435, 

437-38 (1995)) (alteration i n original) ( internal 

quotations omitted). Of course, here, the underlying 

error is the absence of a ju ry itself. Accordingly, the 

Brecht inquiry is whether the absence of a j u ry as 

factfinder at the penalty stage "substantially and 

injuriously" affected or influenced the outcome. I n 

other words, we ask whether a rational ju ry could 

have found that the facts called for leniency. I n order 

to determine whether Murdaugh has met the Brecht 

standard, we review the aggravating and mit igat ing 

factors. 

a) Aggravating factors 

The Arizona Supreme Court held that the (F)(1) 

aggravating factor fell outside the Ring rule and 

concluded that the government had proven the (F)(6) 

aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt.9 

 Recall that the (F)(l) aggravating factor is established when a 
 "has been convicted of another offense in the United 
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Murdaugh does not challenge the court's 

determination  to the (F)(l) aggravating factor. 

W i t h respect to the (F)(6) factor, he argues that the 

Arizona Supreme Court's conclusion that  

rat ional  would have  the aggravating 

factor "hinged upon Murdaugh's mut i la t ion of the 

body  the crime," which the  further found 

"needed to  motivated  debasement," Since he 

 the body to avoid detection,  

contends a rational jury might not  found the 

F(6) factor. 

But the  did not "hinge" its determination 

that the state  proven the (F)(6) factor on 

Murdaugh's muti lat ion of the body alone. Murdaugh, 

97  at 856. The  correctly noted  the 

(F)(6) aggravating factor would have  

established i f the state had proven only one of the 

heinous, cruel, or depraved elements. Id. And, 

although the court concluded  "muti lat ion by 

itself w i l l establish the elements  heinousness or 

depravity," id. at 858, the  nonetheless found 

that three other factors also supported a finding  

the act was "heinous or depraved." According to the 

court, the state established beyond a reasonable 

doubt    relished the murder, (2)  

States for which under Arizona law a sentence of life 
imprisonment or death was imposable." Ariz. Rev. Stat. §   
703. The (F)(6) aggravating factor is established if the murder 
was committed in an "especially cruel, heinous or depraved 
manner." Id. 
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murder was senseless, and (3) the v ic t im was 

helpless. Id. at 856. 

Murdaugh is also incorrect i n asserting that the 

Arizona Supreme Court found the muti la t ion 

"needed to be motivated by debasement." To the 

contrary, the court described how Murdaugh 

muti la ted the body to prevent identification and cited 

State v. James, 141 Ariz . 141, 685   1299 

(1984), for the proposition that "[t]he mode of 

disposing of the body itself demonstrates a certain 

callousness and depravity and disregard for the 

victim's family who might never have learned of the 

fate of [the vict im]." Id. at 857. Thus, regardless of 

Murdaugh's ul t imate purpose i n mut i l a t ing the body, 

the court concluded  mut i la t ion demonstrated 

depravity for purposes of finding the (F)(6) factor. Id. 

Although Murdaugh is correct that "heinous and 

depraved" refers to the mental state of the 

defendant, i t is the defendant's "words and actions" 

which demonstrate this mental state. Bee State v. 

Gretzler, 659 P.2d 1, 10 (Ariz. 1983) (en banc). The 

Arizona Supreme Court has repeatedly held that 

needlessly mut i la t ing a body is the k ind of action 

that shows depravity, regardless of the mutilator's 

purpose. See State v. Spencer, 859  146, 154 

(Ariz. 1993); James, 685 P.2d at 1299. We conclude 

that no rat ional j u ry could have found that the 

evidence failed to establish the (F)(6) factor. 
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b) Mitigating factors 

Murdaugh next argues that a rational jury could 

have  that his  established the (G)(l) 

 factor and consequently imposed a 

sentence of life, not  We agree. For the reasons 

discussed below, we hold  the Ring error had  

"substantial and injurious effect  influence"  the 

 court's failure to find the (G)(l) mit igat ing 

factor  thus the t r i a l court's imposition  a death 

sentence. 

The (G)(l) factor exists i f the "defendant's 

capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness  his 

conduct or to conform his  to the 

requirements of the law was significantly impaired 

but not so impaired as to constitute a defense to 

prosecution."  Rev. Stat, § 13-703(G)(l).  Drug 

impairment  be a mit igat ing circumstance under 

the (G)(l) factor, but only i f the defendant  show a 

connection between the drug use  the offense. See 

State  Sansing, 77  30, 37 (Ariz. 2003). 

Typically, testimony by  expert witness can 

establish this causal nexus. Id. The claim of drug 

 is undermined, though, i f the evidence 

shows "the  took steps to avoid prosecution 

shortly after the murder, or  i t appears  
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intoxication did not overwhelm the defendant's 

abi l i ty to control his physical behavior." Id. (quoting 

State v. Rienhardt, 951  454, 466-67 (1997) (en 

banc)). 

Even though Murdaugh did not present a 

mi t iga t ion case, the t r i a l court considered the Rule 

11 competency reports and Dr. Lang's testimony i n 

determining whether the (G)(l) mi t iga t ing factor was 

established. This evidence included Dr. Potts's 

conclusion that "[t]he use of methamphetamine quite 

l ike ly greatly contributed to the alleged offenses 

having occurred," as wel l as Dr.  summary 

of Murdaugh's "long history of mult iple substance 

abuse, including intravenous injection of 

methamphetamine." Based on this record, the t r i a l 

court found that Murdaugh  evinced paranoid 

thoughts, including his paranoid belief that the CIA 

had placed a tracking device i n his  (2) had a 

long history of chronic drug abuse, which may have 

been a cause of his paranoid delusions; (3) was 

ingesting drugs and was under the influence of drugs 

when he murdered Reynolds,' and (4) possibly 

suffered from a personality disorder amplified by 

methamphetamine abuse. I n considering the total i ty 

of the circumstances, the t r i a l court also found that 

Murdaugh arranged for Reynolds to be lured to his 

home, imprisoned h im for an extended period of t ime, 

elaborately dismembered his body, and then was able 

to find medical care for himself when he injured his 
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leg. The t r i a l  concluded that "[t]he industry 

 thought,  over  extended period of 

time,  went  the murder   Reynolds 

belies a finding that the   significantly 

impaired."  this basis, the t r i a l court held that the 

record did not establish by  preponderance  the 

evidence  Murdaugh's capacity to appreciate the 

wrongfulness  his   to conform his conduct 

to the requirements of the law  significantly 

impaired, and thus that the evidence did  

establish the (G)(l) mitigation factor. 

While i t is certainly possible  a reasonable 

ju ry  have  w i th the t r i a l  and  

 the facts  the murder undermined 

the evidence  drug impairment i n the Rule  

reports,  is also entirely possible  a rational 

tr ier  fact could have drawn the opposite conclusion 

 found Murdaugh's actions did  evince  sober 

mind. See e.g., Nordstrom,   at 46. This is 

particularly true  l ight  the low burden  proof 

for finding a statutory mi t iga t ing  a 

nonunanimous  need only find the mit igat ing 

factor supported by a preponderance of the evidence. 

See Ariz . Rev. Stat, § 13-703(C). for instance, a 

reasonable  might not have   

Murdaugh's actions to cover up the murder 

demonstrated any k ind of sober sophistication. 

Instead of cleaning up the crime scene, Murdaugh 

asked Rohrs  Gross to sprinkle horse  
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over Reynolds's body and on the surrounding blood, 

and then left the body there for the remainder of the 

day. I t was not u n t i l that evening-probably at least 

eight to ten hours after the cr ime-that Murdaugh 

dismembered the body. Thus, a reasonable ju ry 

might not have found Murdaugh's attempt to thwar t 

identification of the body to  inconsistent w i t h a 

finding the Murdaugh was "significantly, but only 

part ial ly, impaired" at the t ime of the offense. 

Gretzler, 659  at 17. That a rational  might 

have found that the evidence established the (G)(l) 

mi t iga t ing factor is sufficient to establish prejudice 

under Brecht. 

The Arizona Supreme Court's determination that 

any error was harmless casts no doubt  our 

conclusion, because that court clearly failed to 

consider evidence i n the  that the 

t r i a l court did consider i n determining whether the 

(G)(l) mit igat ing factor was  I n reviewing 

the t r i a l court's finding on the (G)(1) factor for 

harmless error, the Arizona Supreme Court stated 

that is considered the reasoning of the t r i a l court, the 

testimony of Dr. Lang and  evidence 

i n the record ... that Murdaugh took steps to avoid 

detection." Murdaugh, 97 P,3d at 860. The court 

found that because Murdaugh did not present any 

mitigation, he did not present  expert testimony 

to establish that his abil i ty to control his behavior or 

appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct was 
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significantly impaired." Id. (emphasis added). Thus, 

 of the complete lack of evidence  a causal 

connection between Murdaugh's drug use and the 

murder," the court  "beyond a reasonable 

 that no rat ional jury would have  that 

Murdaugh established the (G)(l) mitigating 

circumstance." Id.  860 (emphasis added). 

Murdaugh correctly argues that the  

Supreme Court failed to consider   11 

competency reports, which included expert testimony 

establishing  direct causal l ink  Murdaugh's 

 use  the murder. Under then-existing 

Arizona case law, the Rule  reports were the  

 evidence that could have established drug 

 for purposes  the (G)(l) factor. Bee 

 659   16-17 (concluding the evidence 

supported t r i a l  finding  the (G)(l) factor 

when the defendant "used  continuously  a 

period   nine years"  "medical testimony 

[showed]  this continuous use  drugs likely 

impaired defendant's volitional capabilities"). 

Moreover, i n applying harmless error analysis i n 

other Ring error cases, the Arizona Supreme court 

has found reversible error as to the (G)(l) factor 

based solely on the contradicted testimony  one 

expert. See Pandeli, 65  at 952; see also 

Nordstrom, 77  at 46 (finding Ring error where 

 presented evidence from one   the 

possible connection between  alcohol  
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substance abuse and the murders even though the 

evidence "was not part icularly compelling"). Thus, 

under the Arizona Supreme Court's own cases, we 

cannot see how the Arizona Supreme Court could 

have reasonably concluded that no rat ional j u ry 

could find the evidence here supported drug 

impairment by a preponderance of the evidence. Had 

the Arizona  Court considered all the 

evidence i n conducting its harmless error review, i t 

would have been impossible to conclude that no 

rat ional ju ry could have found the (G)(1) factor. 

We conclude that the absence of a j u ry at the 

sentencing stage had a "substantial and injurious 

effect or influence" on Murdaugh's sentence of death. 

Brecht, 507 U.S. at 637 (internal quotation marks 

and citations omitted). Al though a j u ry would have 

found the (F)(6) aggravating factor beyond a 

reasonable doubt, some evidence supported the (G)(l) 

mi t igat ing factor. The expert reports, though not 

drafted for the purpose of mitigation, provided some 

details about Murdaugh's chronic drug use, which a 

j u ry might have found established drug impairment. 

Because a j u ry could have found that a 

preponderance of the evidence supported the (G)(l) 

mi t igat ing factor, and voted for leniency on that 



 

basis, the Ring error was prejudicial. We must grant 

the habeas pet i t ion. 1 0 

2. Unconstitutional Nexus Test Claim 

Murdaugh next argues that, i n reviewing his 

 for harmless error, the Arizona Supreme 

Court applied  unconstitutional causal nexus test 

to mit igat ing evidence of his drug use and delusions. 

Because the state post-conviction court did not 

address this claim,  review  novo whether the 

 Supreme Court applied   

test.  his petit ion for post-conviction relief, 

Murdaugh argued  both the sentencing  and 

 Arizona Supreme Court  consider and reject 

Murdaugh's claim w i t h respect to the sentencing 

court, a decision Murdaugh does not appeal. The 

state post-conviction court said nothing, however, 

regarding Murdaugh's claim  the Arizona 

Supreme Court, Given that  claim had arguable 

merit, and i n   the state post-conviction court's 

otherwise careful consideration  evaluation of 

every other claim  Murdaugh's petition, "the 

evidence  very clearly to the conclusion  a 

federal claim was inadvertently overlooked in state 

 Though not part of our prejudice analysis here, we note that 
of the nineteen Ring cases remanded for resentencing by a jury, 
eleven  resulted in a sentence other than death. See Justin 
F . Marceau, Arizona's Ring Cycle, 44 Ariz. St. L . J . 1061, 1077 
(2012). 
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court," thus permit t ing de novo review. Johnson v. 

Williams, 133 S. Ct. 1088, 1097 (2013). 

A  court violated a capital defendant's 

Eighth and Fourteen Amendment rights to an 

individualized sentencing when i t excludes or refuses 

to consider i n mitigation evidence that lacks a causal 

nexus to the crime. Bee Smith v. Texas, 543 U.S. 37 

(2004) (per curiam); Tennard v. Dretke, 542 U.S. 274, 

282-88 (2004). A , court may, however, consider the 

failure to establish a causal connection between the 

mit igat ing factors and the crime " in assessing the 

quality and strength of the mit igat ion evidence." 

Towery v. Ryan, 673 F.3d 933, 945 (9th Cir. 2012) 

(quoting Schad v. Ryan, 671 F.3d 708, 723 (9th Cir. 

 (per curiam)). 

Murdaugh argues that an unlawful nexus test 

was manifest i n the Arizona Supreme Court's 

explanation of why a rat ional ju ry would not have 

weighed the nonstatutory mi t iga t ing circumstances 

differently than the sentencing court did: 

The t r i a l court first found that the 

evidence proffered i n support of the 

(G)(l) mit igat ing circumstance  

supported a finding of [eight] non­

statutory mit igat ing circumstances 

. . . . The reports prepared by Drs. 

Sindelar, Potts and Scialli do 

reveal that Murdaugh experienced 
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certain  thoughts  

delusions that were 

exacerbated by his history of 

chronic  use. 

 because no mental  

professional found a causal nexus 

between these conditions  the 

murders,  find   

reasonable doubt that no rat ional 

  have weighed these 

factors any differently than did the 

t r i a l judge. 

Murdaugh,    860 (citations omitted). 

The court's discussion makes clear  i t did  

refuse to consider evidence  was not causally 

connected to the crime. Bee Eddings v. Oklahoma, 

455 U.S. 104 (1982). After observing that the 

sentencing court  eight nonstatutory mit igat ing 

 impairment from chronic 

and concurrent drug abuse,  personality disorder, 

   court explained that its 

task was to "determine  a  could have 

weighed these mit igat ing factors differently than did 

the t r i a l judge," who "did not give  much 

weight." Murdaugh, 97  at 860. The  

Supreme Court took no issue w i t h the t r i a l court's 

finding that the Sindelar, Potts,   reports 

did   establish various nonstatutory mit igat ing 
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circumstances.11 Rather, the court took the fact that 

no expert  drawn a causal l ink between those 

circumstances and Murdaugh's crime as compelling 

evidence that a rational j u ry would have afforded 

them l i t t l e weight, as the t r i a l court did. 

Because the court only raised the issue of a causal 

nexus to "determine the weight" that a hypothetical 

ju ry would have "given relevant mit igat ing 

evidence," the court did not violate Murdaugh's 

constitutional rights.  455 U.S. at 11 

3. Conflict of  Claim 

Murdaugh argues that the prosecutor's 

presentation of mit igat ion evidence at the behest of 

the t r i a l court violated his Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendment r ight to conflict-free representation. 

Murdaugh argues that the prosecutor acted 

simultaneously as counsel for the prosecution and 

the defense when he presented a mit igat ion case on 

Murdaugh's behalf. 

A) Procedural Default 

Murdaugh did not raise this claim i n his direct 

appeal to the Arizona Supreme Court. The post-

 As we discussed in our analysis of Murdaugh's Ring claim, 
supra Section III(l)(C)(b), the court did neglect to consider 

 expert evidence in its discussion of the (G)(l) statutory 
mitigating factor. But nothing in the court's opinion suggests 
that omission was the result of applying a nexus test. 
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conviction review  subsequently hold that the 

claim was precluded under Arizona Rule of Criminal 

Procedure 32.2(a)(3), which forecloses post-conviction 

relief  claims that are  "at t r i a l , on appeal, 

or  any previous collateral proceeding." 

Murdaugh's claim is  procedurally  

because he did not violate a state procedural rule. 

Arizona courts treat conflict of interest claims  a 

species  ineffective assistance of counsel claims. 

  State  Jenkins, 715 P.2d 716, 718-19 

(Ariz. 1986) (en banc). And Arizona law only permits 

defendants to bring ineffective assistance  counsel 

claims  Rule  post-conviction review proceeding. 

See  State ex  Thomas v. Raves,   

 1044 (Ariz. 2007) (en banc). Hence, Murdaugh's 

failure to raise this claim  direct appeal does not 

bar federal review. See Lee v. Kemna, 534 U.S. 362, 

376  2002). 

B) Analysis 

A  Sixth   to effective 

assistance    the entitlement to 

representation that  free from conflicts of interest." 

United States v. Wells, 394 F.3d 725, 733 (9th  

2005). To establish a violation of this right, a 

  demonstrate that  actual  

of  adversely affected his lawyer's 

performance."   Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 

U.S. 335 (1980)). 
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Murdaugh cannot show that his counsel had a 

conflict of interest. Murdaugh's attorney did not 

present any evidence i n mitigation, because 

Murdaugh did not let h im. The prosecutor was not 

transmuted into defense counsel when, at the t r i a l 

judge's request, he presented a mit igat ion case on 

Murdaugh's behalf, any more than a prosecutor 

becomes a defense attorney when he undertakes 

other acts favorable to the defendant's interest, such 

as disclosing material evidence or advocating a 

downward sentencing departure. 

Arizona law does not require the prosecution to 

confine i ts presentation to matters inimical to the 

defendant: "At the penalty phase of the sentencing 

proceeding . . . . the prosecution or the defendant 

may present any information that is relevant to any 

of the mi t iga t ing circumstances included in 

subsection G of this section . . . ." 

Ariz . Rev. Stat.  i n presenting a case i n 

mit igat ion then, Murdaugh's prosecutor was not even 

acting outside his remi t -much less acting as de jure 

defense counsel. 

Because the prosecutor never represented 

Murdaugh, the prosecutor's presentation of the 

mit igat ion case did not violate Murdaugh's r ight to 

conflict-free representation. Murdaugh's derivative 

claims that his t r i a l and appellate counsel were 

ineffective for fail ing to raise the conflict of interest 
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claim are equally meritless. See Boag v. Raines, 769 

 1341, 1344 (9th Cir. 1985). 

4. Claims Concerning Murdaugh's Guilty Pleas 

Murdaugh contends that  guilty pleas were 

not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary because  

counsel was ineffective  representing Murdaugh 

leading up   during his guilty plea, and (2) the 

Ring I I decision undermined the voluntariness of 

Murdaugh's gui l ty  Neither of these claims  

 

First, the  does not support Murdaugh's 

contention that counsel was deficient. Murdaugh 

argues counsel was ineffective because  counsel 

 to provide "background information" to the 

evaluating doctors  preparation for Rule 11 

 (2) he  "excessively l imited access" to 

his counsel; (3) t r ia l counsel failed to explain the 

advantages, disadvantages, and potential 

consequences of the plea agreement and  sent 

the fact investigator to discuss the terms  the plea 

w i t h Murdaugh;  (4) counsel promised Murdaugh 

  to prove there was no tracking chip  

Murdaugh's head  order to convince Murdaugh to 

plead guilty. 

The record does not show, however, that any 

deficiencies  counsel's performance were "so serious 

 counsel was not functioning as the  
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 the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). 

Second, the Arizona Supreme Court did not 

unreasonably apply the law or the facts i n denying 

Murdaugh's claim that the Ring I I decision 

 the voluntariness of his guilty pleas. 

Nothing i n the record indicates that Murdaugh's 

decision to plead guilty was influenced by whether a 

judge or a ju ry would decide his sentence. And while 

i t is true that the Supreme Court held that the "new 

rule" of Ring applied to cr iminal cases s t i l l pending 

on direct review, see Brady v. United States, 397 

U.S. 742 (1970). Accordingly, the Arizona Supreme 

Court's denial of Murdaugh's claim was not 

unreasonable. 

5. Competence Claims 

Murdaugh also raises various claims concerning 

his competence to waive the presentation of 

mi t iga t ing evidence. Specifically, Murdaugh 

contends that he was incompetent to waive 

mitigation, that t r i a l court erred i n handling the 

mit igat ion waiver, and that appellate counsel failed 

to raise a l l of the claims related to this issue on 

direct appeal. Having granted relief on Claim 1, we 

reserve any decision on these competence issues. 
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IV. Conclusion 

Because we reverse the  of relief  

Murdaugh's Ring claim,  need not reach the 

claims concerning Murdaugh's competence to waive 

the presentation of mi t igat ing evidence. We 

otherwise affirm the  court and remand w i t h 

instructions to grant the petition unless the state 

conducts a new sentencing hearing w i t h i n a 

reasonable period  time. Cf. Jennings v. Woodford, 

290 F.3d 1006, 1020 (9th Cir. 2002). 

R E V E R S E D in part, A F F I R M E D in part, and 

R E M A N D E D . 
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APPENDIX B 

U N I T E D STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR T H E N I N T H CIRCUIT 
 03 2013 

Molly C.  Clerk 
U.S. C O U R T O F 

A P P E A L S 

M I C H A E L JOE M U R D A U G H , 

Petitioner - Appellant, 

v. 

CHARLES L. RYAN, 

Respondent —  Appellee. 

No. 10-99020 

D.C. No. 2-09-CV-
 
Distr ict of Arizona, 
Phoenix 

ORDER 

Before; D.W. NELSON, REINHARDT,  SMITH, 
Circuit Judges. 

The members of the panel that decided this case 
voted unanimously to deny the peti t ion for rehearing. 
Judges Reinhardt and M . Smith voted to deny the 
petit ion for rehearing en banc. Judge Nelson 
recommended denial of the peti t ion for rehearing en 
banc. 

The fu l l court has been advised of the peti t ion 
for rehearing en banc and no active judge has 
requested a vote on whether to rehear the matter en 
banc. (Fed.R.App.P. 35.) 

The peti t ion for rehearing and the peti t ion for 
rehearing en banc are denied. 
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The court has before i t Petitioner Michael 
Murdaugh's Petition for W r i t of Habeas Corpus (Doc. 
35),  (Doc. 38), Petitioner's Reply 
(Doc. 41), Petitioner's Mot ion for Evidentiary 
Development (Doc. 51), Respondents' Response (Doc. 
52), and Petitioner's Reply (Doc. 53). 

I . B A C K G R O U N D 

Petitioner was convicted and sentenced to death for 
the 1995 murder of David Reynolds. The following 
facts concerning the crime are based on the Arizona 
Supreme Court's opinion i n State v. Murdaugh, 209 
Ar iz . 19, 22-26, 97 P.3d 844, 847-51 (2004), and this 
court's review of the record. 

On June 26, 1995, Petitioner's girlfriend, Rebecca 
Rohrs, met the vict im, David Reynolds, at a gas 
station. Rohrs told Reynolds that she was looking for a 
job and Reynolds indicated he might be able to help 
her. Rohrs gave Reynolds a copy of her resume and the 
two exchanged phone numbers. A t some point i n the 
conversation, Reynolds offered to pay Rohrs for oral 
sex. Rohrs declined and went home. 

When Rohrs arrived at the home she shared w i t h 
Petitioner, she told h i m what had happened at the gas 
station. Petitioner decided to teach Reynolds a lesson 
and instructed Rohrs to contact Reynolds and invite 
h im to the house. 

Rohrs paged Reynolds and invi ted h im to party 
w i t h her and her friend, Betty Gross. Reynolds 
returned the page. While Rohrs was ta lk ing to 
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 Petitioner stood  and  her what to 
say. After the call, Petitioner and a friend, Jesse 
Dezarn, left to buy methamphetamine. They instructed 
Rohrs and Gross to  them as soon as  
arrived. Petitioner  told them to  sure 
Reynolds did not leave before he returned. 

Approximately fifteen minutes after Reynolds 
arrived, Petitioner  Dezarn entered the house 
brandishing firearms. Petitioner shouted  Reynolds, 
demanding to know why he thought t hat he could treat 
Rohrs "like a whore." Petitioner continued to yell  
Reynolds  Gross and Rohrs  the house to 
remove anything of value from Reynolds' van. Reynolds 

 i n the house w i t h Dezarn  Petitioner, 
both of whom continued to wave their guns. Petitioner 
ordered Reynolds to empty his pockets onto the coffee 
table. Reynolds   $200  cash. A t some point 
i n the evening Petitioner took the money. 

While Rohrs and Gross were unloading the  
Petitioner went outside   them for not 
wearing gloves. He told them that they had  
fingerprints on everything and asked, "Do you know 

 I  going to have to do now?" Petitioner 
instructed Gross  Rohrs to wipe the  
clean  fingerprints  to  everything back i n 
Reynolds' van. Reynolds l ikely heard this exchange. 

Petitioner returned to the house and at his request 
Rohrs brought  a baseball bat.   Rohrs i f 
she would  to take a swing at Reynolds' head. She 
declined. Petitioner also told Gross to take  swing  
Reynolds, but. she too refused. 
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A t about  p.m., after Rohrs, Petitioner, 
Dezarn, and Gross ate dinner, Petitioner led Reynolds 
to the garage. Dezarn, s t i l l armed w i t h a firearm, 
walked behind Reynolds. Inside the garage, Petitioner 
ordered Reynolds into the t runk of his Buick so that he 
could  things out." Throughout the night, 
Petitioner, Dezarn, Gross, and Rohrs returned to the 
garage to take methamphetamine. 

I n the early morning hours of the next day, Dezarn 
and Petitioner agreed that they needed  get r i d of 
Reynolds' van. They decided to "ditch" i t near Whitman 
Cemetery. Petitioner led the way i n his t ruck while 
Dezarn followed i n Reynolds' van. They abandoned the 
van on Cemetery Road and began driving back to 
Petitioner's house. On the way, they stopped for gas i n 
Whi tman and ran into an acquaintance named Ron 
Jesse. They asked Jesse for drugs, and a l l three 
returned to Petitioner's house. From there, Dezarn and 
Jesse left to get more methamphetamine w i t h the 
money Petitioner had taken from Reynolds. 

After Dezarn and Jesse returned w i t h the drugs, 
they and Petitioner locked themselves i n the garage to 
shoot up. While i n the garage, Petitioner told Jesse 
what happened to Rohrs at the gas station and that he 
had Reynolds locked i n the t runk. 

A t about 8:30 a.m., Petitioner opened the door to 
the garage and allowed Gross and Rohrs to jo in h im, 
Dezarn, and Jesse to take more drugs. When Petitioner 

 the t runk to show Jesse that Reynolds was 
there, Reynolds stated that he needed to relieve 
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himself. Petitioner  Reynolds out  the t r u n k and 
took h im to the corner of the garage to urinate. While 

   turned, Petitioner struck h im i n 
t he  w i t h  nylon meat tenderizer. Reynolds fell to 
the floor. Petitioner picked up a   spike 

 continued to  h im i n the face   The 
attack caused three major crushing blows to Reynolds' 
skull , result ing in his death. A t some point, Petitioner 

 a bag over Reynolds' head. 

Petitioner left Reynolds lying face down i n the 
garage w i t h the bag tied over his head. He instructed 
Gross and Rohrs to sprinkle horse manure over 
Reynolds' body   the blood surrounding his body. 
The body was   this condition for the rest of the 
day. 

 some point after the murder Jesse attempted to 
leave Petitioner's home but was unable to do so 
because of a locked gate. When Petitioner arrived to 

 the gate he threatened Jesse, stating that  
Jesse  anyone   happened i n the garage  
would " k i l l [Jesse] last and  the skin off  
children." Petitioner then opened the gate  allowed 
Jesse to leave. 

Around the time of the murder, Petitioner realized 
 he and Dezarn  left items  the van that 

would show i t belonged to Reynolds. Pet itioner directed 
Dezarn and Rohrs to remove the items. Dezarn 
retrieved Reynolds' pagers,   identification 
papers and returned to Petitioner's house w i t h Rohrs. 

Later that evening, Petitioner  Dezarn loaded 
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Reynolds'  into Petitioner's horse trailer. 
Petitioner told Rohrs to clean up the blood i n the 
garage. He then packed to go on a camping t r ip , 
leaving some time after midnight. 

Once at his campsite, Petitioner dismembered 
Reynolds' body i n an effort to prevent its identification. 
First, he cut off Reynolds'  and hands. He then 
removed the finger pads from the hands and pulled al l 
of Reynolds' teeth. He threw the teeth and finger pads 
out the window of his t ruck as he drove along  forest 
service road. He then buried the head and  i n  
shallow grave and the torso i n another. He returned to 
his campsite, where he placed several calls to Rohrs 
using Reynolds' cell phone. 

The police, having been notified by Reynolds' family 
of his disappearance, obtained copies of Reynolds' cell 
phone records. They discovered that on June 26 
Reynolds had made several calls to his company and 
his girlfriend, and that he had also called Rohrs five 
times. Officers contacted Rohrs on June 28, and she 
told them that she had Reynolds' business card and 
was w i l l i n g to come to the  Office to look at a 
photograph of Reynolds. Rohrs never went to the 

 Office to make the identification. On June 29, 
the police discovered that Reynolds' cell phone had 
been used to make several additional calls to Rohrs on 
June 28. 

On June 29, police located Reynolds' van. They 
found his work boots i n the vehicle and discovered that 
his cell phone was missing. They learned that the most 
recent calls from the cell phone originated from the 
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Flagstaff area. The same day, the police were contacted 
by a resident of Whitman who told them that a murder 

 taken place in Petitioner's garage. After contacting 
another witness, the police interviewed Ron Jesse, who 

 them that he  witnessed Reynolds' murder. 

Dur ing their phone conversations, Rohrs told 
Petitioner that the police were tracking the calls he 
made w i t h Reynolds' cell phone. Petitioner  his 
campsite and called Rohrs from a pay phone. She told 
h im  she had been contacted by the police  had 

 told them  Petitioner broke Reynolds' cell 
phone into pieces  disposed of i t , along wi th 
Reynolds' wallet and  near Reynolds' body. Back 
at the campsite,  was cleaning one  his 
horse's hooves when his knife slipped  severely  
his leg. He  to the Yavapai Regional Medical 
Center for treatment. 

  30, 1 9 9 5 , the police obtained a search 
warrant for Petitioner's home and garage. They  

 stains covered w i t h horse   the garage 
floor. 

The  County  Office notified other 
law enforcement agencies  they were looking for 
Petitioner. The Yavapai County  Office called 
the investigators  informed them that Petitioner 

  the emergency room at the Yavapai Regional 
Medical Center. The investigators asked the Yavapai 
authorities to  Petitioner's vehicle  then 
went to the hospital to contact Petitioner. 

Detective Griffiths of the Maricopa County  
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Office spoke w i t h hospital personnel, confirming that 
Petitioner had not been given any pain medication. He 
then met w i t h Petitioner at approximately  p.m. on 
June 30. He read Petitioner the Miranda warnings and 
Petitioner agreed to answer questions. Petitioner asked 
whether his garage had been cleaned. When informed 
that i t had not, he responded, "Then you have enough 
to do me in . " He then described Reynolds' murder and 
provided Detective Griffiths w i t h a detailed map and 
directions to the campsite. He also told Griffiths where 
to f ind Reynolds' body and personal effects. Police 
located the body the next day. 

The detectives also questioned Petitioner about the 
murder of Douglas Eggert, which had occurred earlier 
i n 1995 and bore similarities to the Reynolds murder. 
Petitioner admitted that he had k i l l ed Eggert by 

 h i m to death w i t h a meat tenderizer and then 
throwing the body into a canal. 

On January 10, 2000, Petitioner pled guilty to the 
kidnapping, robbery, and first degree murder of 
Reynolds. He also pled guilty to the kidnapping and 
first degree murder of Eggert. The State and Petitioner 
agreed that he would receive a life sentence for the 
murder of Eggert. Petitioner also acknowledged that 
his guil ty plea to the Eggert murder would be used as 
an aggravating factor i n the Reynolds case. 

A t sentencing, the t r i a l court found that the State 
had proved two aggravating circumstances w i t h 
respect to the Reynolds murder: that Petitioner had 
been convicted of another offense for which a sentence 
of life imprisonment or death was imposable, pursuant 
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to A.R.S. § 13-703(F)(1), and that he committed the 
murder   especially heinous,   depraved 
manner under § 13-703(F) (6). 1 Although Petitioner 

 the presentation of mit igat ing evidence, the 
t r i a l court found eight nonstatutory mit igat ing 
circumstances, based pr imar i ly on the effects of 
Petitioner's drug abuse, personality disorder, and 
paranoia. The court determined, however,  these 
circumstances were not sufficiently substantial to 
outweigh the aggravating factors, and sentenced 
Petitioner to death. 

 direct appeal to the Arizona  Court, 
Petitioner  two claims  his opening brief. First, 
he argued that Ring error was not harmless.2 

Appellant's Opening Brief at  Second, he 
contended that his plea agreement  "not 
enforceable" because he could  have knowingly and 
voluntari ly waived his rights when he was not 

 that he  a  to a ju ry determination of 
his sentence under Ring. Id. at  The Arizona 
Supreme Court rejected these claims. Murdaugh, 209 

 at 28-33, 97  at 853-58. 

  argument before the Arizona Supreme 
Court, Petitioner raised two new claims: that the delay 

 Effective January  2009, A.R.S. §  13-703 was renumbered to 
§  13-751. 

 Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), invalidated the capital 
sentencing scheme under which aggravating factors were found by 
a judge rather than a  See Claims 1  2 below. 
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i n his case constituted cruel and unusual punishment 
and  he had been incompetent to plead guilty. Id. 
at  97  at 851. The Arizona Supreme Court, 
after reviewing the claims for fundamental error and 
finding none, deemed both claims waived. Id. at 26-27, 
97 P.3d at 851-52. The court affirmed Petitioner's 
convictions and death sentence. Id. at 37, 97  at 
862. 

Petitioner filed an Amended Petit ion for Post-
Conviction  ("PCR") on November 4, 2005, raising 
12 claims. (Doc. 31, Ex. 39.) The PCR court held an 
evidentiary hearing on Petitioner's claim of ineffective 
assistance of counsel at sentencing.3 The court denied 
the claim and dismissed the remaining claims, the 
majority of which challenged Petitioner's competence 
to plead guilty and waive mitigation, as precluded or 
not colorable. (Id., Ex's. 93, 98.) Petitioner filed a 
peti t ion for review, which the Arizona Supreme Court 
summarily denied. Petitioner then commenced 
proceedings i n this court. 

I I . A P P L I C A B L E L A W 

Because i t was filed after A p r i l  this case is 
governed by the Anti terror ism and Effective Death 
Penalty Act of 1996, 28 U.S  § 2254  (AEDPA). Lindh 
v. Murphy, 521 U.S. 320, 336 (1997); see also Woodford 
v. Garceau, 538 U.S. 202, 210 (2003). 

 Judge Sherry Hutt  over Petitioner's trial and 
sentencing. Judge Warren Granville presided over the P C R 
proceedings. 



 

 Principles of  and Procedural Default 

Under the AEDPA, a w r i t of habeas corpus  
 granted unless i t appears that the petitioner  

exhausted a l l available state court remedies. 28  
§  2254(b)(1); see Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S.  

 (1991); Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S. 509 (1982). To 
exhaust state remedies, the petitioner must "fairly 

 his claims to the state's highest court  a 
procedurally appropriate manner.  v. 
Boerckel, 526 U.S. 838, 848 (1999). 

A claim  fair ly presented i f the petitioner has 
described the operative facts and the  legal 
theory  which his claim  based. Anderson v. 
Harless, 459 U.S. 4, 6, 103 S.Ct. 276 (1982);  v. 
Connor,  U.S. 270 (1971). A petitioner must clearly 
alert the state court that he is alleging  specific 
federal constitutional violation. Bee Casey v. Moore, 
386 F.3d 896, 913 (9th Cir. 2004). He must make the 
federal  of the  explicit either by citing 
specific provisions of federal law or federal  law, 
even i f the federal basis  a claim is "self-evident," 
Gatlin  Madding, 189 F.3d 882, 888 (9th Cir. 1999), or 
by citing state cases that explicitly analyze the same 
federal constitutional claim, Peterson v. Lamport; 319 
F.3d 1153, 1158 (9th Cir. 2003) (en banc). 

 Arizona, there are two procedurally appropriate 
avenues for petitioners to exhaust federal 
constitutional claims: direct appeal   
proceedings. Rule  of the Arizona Rules of Criminal 
Procedure governs  proceedings and provides that 



 

a petitioner is precluded from relief on any claim that 
could have been raised on appeal or i n a prior PCR 
petit ion. Ariz .  P. 32.2(a)(3). The preclusive 
effect of Rule 32.2(a) may be avoided only i f a claim 
falls w i t h i n certain exceptions and the petitioner can 
justify his omission of the claim from a prior petition or 
his failure to present the claim i n a timely manner. Bee 
Ar iz . R.Crim. P. 32.l(d)-(h), 32.2(b), 32.4(a), 

A habeas petitioner's claims may be precluded from 
federal review i n two ways. First, a claim may be 
procedurally defaulted i n federal court i f i t was 
actually raised i n state court but found by that court to 
be defaulted on state procedural grounds. Coleman, 
501 U.S. at 729-30. Second, a claim may be 
procedurally defaulted i f the petitioner failed to 
present i t i n state court and "the court to which the 
petitioner would be required to present his claims i n 
order to meet the exhaustion requirement would now 
find the claims procedurally barred." Id. at 735  see 
also Ortiz v. Stewart, 149 F.3d 923, 931 (9th Cir. 1998) 
(district court must consider whether the claim could 
be pursued by any presently available state remedy). 

Therefore, i n the present case, i f there are claims 
that were not raised previously i n state court, the court 
must determine whether Petitioner has state remedies 
currently available to h im pursuant to Rule 32. Id. I f 
no remedies are currently available, Petitioner's claims 
are "technically" exhausted but procedurally defaulted. 
Coleman, 501 U.S. at 732, 735  

I f there are claims that were fair ly presented i n 
state court but found defaulted on state procedural 



 

grounds, such claims w i l l be found procedurally 
defaulted i n federal court so long as the state 
procedural  was independent of federal law and 
adequate to warrant preclusion of federal review. Bee 
Harris v. Reed, 489 U.S. 255, 262 (1989). I t is well 
established that Arizona's preclusion rule is 

 of federal law, see   Smith, 536 
U.S. 856, 860 (2002), and the N i n t h Circuit has 
repeatedly determined  Arizona   
consistently applies its procedural  rules such 
that they are  adequate  to federal review  a 

 See Ortiz, 149 F.3d at 932 (Rule 32.2(a)(3) 
regularly followed and adequate); Poland  Stewart, 
117  1094,  (9th  1997); 
Villareal  Lewis, 80 F.3d 1301, 1306 (9th Cir. 1996); 
see also Ramirez v. Ryan, No.  
2010 W L 1268138 (D. Ariz. 2010) (May 30, 2010). 

Nonetheless, because the doctrine of procedural 
 is based  comity, not jurisdiction, federal 

courts retain the power to consider the merits of 
procedurally defaulted claims. Reed v. Ross,  U.S. 
1, 9 (1984). As a  matter, however, the  
w i l l not review the merits  a procedurally defaulted 
claim unless the petitioner demonstrates legitimate 
cause for his failure to exhaust the claim  state court 

 prejudice from the alleged constitutional violation, 
or shows that a fundamental miscarriage of  
would  i f the claim were    the merits 
i n federal court, Coleman, 501 U.S. at 750. 

Ordinarily, "cause" to excuse a default exists i f  
petitioner can demonstrate that "some objective  
external to the defense impeded counsel's efforts to 



 

comply w i t h the State's procedural rule." Id. at 753. 
Objective factors that constitute cause include 
interference by officials that makes compliance w i t h 
the state's procedural rule impracticable, a showing 
that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not 
reasonably available to counsel, and constitutionally 
ineffective assistance of counsel. Murray v. Carrier, 
477  478, 488 (1986); King v. LaMarque, 455 F.3d 
1040, 1045  Cir. 2006).   actual ha rm 
resulting from the alleged constitutional error or 
violation. Vickers v. Stewart, 144 F.3d 613,  (9th 
Cir. 1998). To establish prejudice resulting from  
procedural default, a petitioner bears the burden of 
showing not merely that the errors at his t r i a l were 
possibly prejudicial, but that they worked to his actual 
and substantial disadvantage,  his entire t r i a l 
w i t h errors of constitutional dimension. United States 
v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 170  

Two kinds of claims are recognized under the 
fundamental miscarriage of justice exception: that a 
petitioner is "innocent of the death sentence" (in other 
words, that the death sentence  erroneously 
imposed); and that a petitioner is innocent of the 
capital crime. I n the first instance, the petitioner must 
show by clear and convincing evidence that, but for 
constitutional error, no reasonable factfinder would 
have found the existence of any aggravating 
circumstance or other condition of e l igibi l i ty for the 
death sentence under the applicable state law. Sawyer 
v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 336, 345 (1992).  the second 
instance, the petitioner must show that "a 
constitutional violation has probably resulted i n the 
conviction of one who is actually innocent."  v. 



 

 513 U.S.  327 (1995). To establish the 
requisite probability, the petitioner must show that " i t 
is more l ikely than not  no reasonable juror would 
have found petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable 
doubt." Id. Such a showing is "extremely rare,"  
"requires petitioner to  his allegations of 
constitutional error  new reliable  
whether i t be exculpatory  evidence, 
trustworthy eyewitness accounts, or crit ical physical 

 was not presented at  Id.  324; 
see also House  Bell, 547 U.S. 518,  (2006). 

Finally,  federal habeas court  reject  claim 
on the merits  reaching the question  
exhaustion. 28 U.S.C. § 2254(b) (2)  (allowing denial of 
unexhausted claims on the merits); see Rhines v. 
Weber, 544 U.S. 269, 277 (2005) (a stay  
inappropriate  federal  to allow claims to  
raised  state court i f they are subject to dismissal 

 (b)(2)  "plainly meritless"); Washington v. 
 422 F.3d 864, 871 (9th Cir. 2005). 

 Standard for Habeas Relief 

For properly exhausted claims, the AEDPA 
established  "substantially higher threshold for 
habeas r e l i e f  the "acknowledged purpose of 

   the execution of state and federal 
cr iminal sentences.' "  v. Landrigan, 550 U.S. 
465, 475 (2007) (quoting Woodford v. Garceau, 538 
U.S. 202, 206 (2003)). The   
deferential standard for evaluating  rulings' 
... demands that  decisions  given the 
benefit of the doubt." Woodford v. Visciotti, 537 U.S. 



 

 24 (2002) (per curiam) (quoting Lindh v. Murphy, 
521 U.S. 320, 333 n.7 (1997)).4 

Under the AEDPA, a petitioner is not entitled to 
habeas relief on any claim "adjudicated on the merits" 
by the state court unless that adjudication: 

 resulted i n a decision that was contrary to, 
or involved an unreasonable application of, 
clearly established Federal law, as determined 
by the Supreme Court of the Uni ted States; or 

(2) resulted i n a decision that was based on an 
unreasonable determination of the facts i n l ight 
of the evidence presented i n the State court 
proceeding. 

28 U.S.C. § 2254(d). The relevant  state court 
decision is the last reasoned state decision regarding a 
claim. Barker v. Fleming, 423 F.3d 1085, 1091 (9th 
Cir. 2005) (citing Ylst v. Nunnemaker, 501 U.S. 797, 
803-04 (1991)). 

"The threshold question under AEDPA is whether 
[a petitioner] seeks to  a rule of law that was 

 The court rejects Petitioner's contention that the A E D P A is 
unconstitutional. (See Doc. 35 at 8-10.) The A E D P A violates 
neither the Suspension Clause nor the separation of powers 
doctrine. See, e.g., Felker v. Turpin, 518 U.S. 651, 664 (1996); 
Craterv.  491 F.3d 1119 (9th Cir.2007), reh'g and reh'g en 
banc denied, 508 F.3d 1261 (9th Cir. 2007); Allen v. Ornoski, 435 
F.3d  960-61 &  (9th Cir. 2006). 



 

clearly established at the time his  
conviction  final." Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 
362, 390 (2000). Therefore, to assess a claim under 
subsection (d)(1), the court must first identify the 
"clearly established Federal law," i f any, that governs 
the sufficiency of the claims on habeas review. "Clearly 
established" federal law consists of the  of the 
Supreme Court at the time the petitioner's state court 
conviction became final. Williams, 529 U.S. at 365,' see 
Carey   549 U.S. 70, 76 (2006). Habeas 
relief    i f the Supreme Court has not 
"broken sufficient legal ground" on a constitutional 
principle advanced by  petitioner, even i f  
federal courts have  the issue. Williams, 529 
U.S. at 381; see  549 U.S. at 77. 
Nevertheless, while only Supreme Court authority  
binding, circuit court  may  "persuasive" in 
determining  law is clearly established and 
whether a state  applied that law unreasonably. 
Clark v. Murphy, 331 F.3d 1062, 1069 (9th Cir. 2003). 

The Supreme Court  provided guidance  
applying each prong of § 2254(d)(1). The   has 
explained  a state court decision  "contrary to" 
the Supreme Court's clearly established precedents i f 
the decision applies a rule that contradicts the 
governing law set forth  those precedents, thereby 

 a conclusion opposite to  reached by the 
Supreme   a matter  law,  i f i t confronts a 
set of facts that is materially indistinguishable from a 
decision of the Supreme  but reaches a different 
result. Williams, 529 U.S. at 405-06; see Early v. 
Packer, 537 U.S. 3, 8 (2002) (per curiam). I n 
characterizing the claims subject to analysis under the 



 

"contrary to" prong, the Court has observed that "a 
run-of-the-mill state-court decision applying the correct 
legal rule to the facts of the prisoner's case would not 
f i t comfortably w i t h i n § 2254(d)(l)'s   to' 
clause." Williams, 529 U.S. at 406. 

Under the "unreasonable application" prong of 
§  2254(d)(1), a federal habeas court may grant relief 
where a state court "identifies the correct governing 
legal rule from [the Supreme] Court's cases but 
unreasonably applies i t to the facts of the particular ... 
case" or "unreasonably extends a legal principle from 
[Supreme Court] precedent  a new context where i t 
should not apply or unreasonably refuses to extend 
that principle to a new context where i t should apply." 
Williams, 529 U.S. at 407. For a federal court to find a 
state court's application of Supreme Court precedent 
"unreasonable" under §  2254(d)(1), the petitioner must 
show that the state court's decision was not merely 
incorrect or erroneous, but "objectively unreasonable." 
Id. at 409;  537 U.S. at 25. 

Under the standard set forth i n §  2254(d)(2), habeas 
relief is available only i f the state court decision was 
based on an unreasonable determination of the facts. 
Miller-El v. Dretke, 545 U.S. 231,  (2005) (Miller-
El I I ). A state court decision "based on a factual 
determination w i l l not be overturned on factual 
grounds unless objectively unreasonable i n l ight of the 
evidence presented i n the state-court proceeding." 

 537 U.S. at 340; see Taylor v. Maddox, 366 
F.3d 992, 999 (9th Cir. 2004). I n considering a 
challenge under 2254(d)(2), state court factual 
determinations are presumed to be correct, and a 



 

petitioner bears the "burden of rebutting this 
 by clear  convincing evidence." 28 

U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1); Miller-El II, 545 U.S. at 240. But 
only the state court's  findings,  its ult imate 
decision, are subject to § 2254(e)(l)'s presumption of 
correctness. Miller-El  537 U.S. at 341-42, But see 
Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 130 S. Ct. 841,  (2010) 
(electing not to resolve "how and when" § 2254(e)(l)'s 
requirement that a petitioner rebut a state court's 
presumptively correct factual determinations w i t h 
"clear and convincing evidence" applies i n challenges to 
state court findings of fact under § 2254(d)(2)). 

I I I . C L A I M S 

Petitioner sets forth  claims i n his habeas 
petition. Respondents concede that  claims are 
properly exhausted i n whole or  part, They contend 
that Claims 5, 6, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 17, 19, and 20 are 
procedurally barred. Petitioner seeks evidentiary 
development w i t h respect to  but two of his claims. 
Respondents contend that Petitioner is not entitled to 
evidentiary  The   first address, 
as necessary, the procedural status and merits  
Petitioner's claims. The court w i l l then consider 
Petitioner's requests for evidentiary  

Petitioner's principal claims  based  his 
assertion  his guilty pleas  waiver  the 
presentation of mitigating evidence were not val id due 
to his mental   addition, according to 
Petitioner, both defense  and the   

 to take Petitioner's incompetence into  in 
allowing h i m to plead guilty  waive mitigation. The 



 

 w i l l first discuss the claims relat ing to 
Petitioner's guilty pleas. 

 Guilty Pleas: Claims 8-11 

Petitioner contends that he was mentally 
incompetent to enter a knowing, voluntary, and 
intell igent guilty plea, that defense counsel performed 
ineffectively i n handling the issue, and that the t r i a l 
court failed to make an adequate competency 
determination before accepting the guilty pleas. 

Background 

A t t r i a l and sentencing Petitioner was represented 
by Jess Lorona, pursuant to Lorona's contract w i t h the 
Maricopa County Office of Court Appointed Counsel 
("OCAC"). Lorona was assisted by co-counsel (first 
Patricia Gitre, then Peter  investigators 
(Stella Salinas and Jeff Bachtle), and a mit igat ion 
specialist (first Holly Wake, then Linda Christianson). 

On November 20, 1998, at the request of defense 
counsel, the t r i a l court ordered that Petitioner undergo 
a competency screening evaluation " in preparation for 
a possible Change of Plea." (Doc. 35, Ex. 132.) On 
December 9, 1998, Dr. Jack Potts, a forensic 

 conducted the evaluation. (Doc. 35, Ex. 
68.) Dr. Potts reviewed the court's minute entry 
ordering the evaluation, a police report regarding the 
Reynolds murder, a copy of the indictment, and 
Petitioner's Correctional Heal th Services medical 
records. (Id. at 1.) 
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According to Dr. Potts, Petitioner was "fully alert 
 oriented to his name, our location,  the general 

reason for  interview." {Id. at 2.) Petitioner's 
thought processes were  ah   intact 
throughout"  there was "absolutely no evidence 
that he  suffering from perceptual disturbances 
such  auditory or visual hallucinations during the 
time of [the] evaluation." (Id.) Petitioner denied having 
any "special powers," his  was "grossly intact 
for both recent and remote events," his "cognitive 
abilities appeared to be consistent w i t h  of the 
general population, i f not sl ightly above average," and 
"his abilities to abstract and conceptualize appeared to 
be grossly intact," (Id.) 

Dr. Potts   Petitioner had "some beliefs 
that may be considered 'fringe.'" (Id.) Petitioner 
described having "out of body experiences." (Id.) He 
claimed to have knowledge  the  monk 
kil l ings i n  (Id.) Petitioner also  Dr. 
Potts that  believed  was "being monitored 
through telephone wiretaps  surveillance,"  
Petitioner  concerned that when he underwent leg 
surgery while incarcerated, "a location transmit t ing 
 device   implanted  his skull"; he wanted to 
get a CT scan or  x-ray to confirm this suspicion. 
(Id.) Dr. Potts noted, however, that "when questioned 
further, the defendant said these concerns  
knowledge of surveillance activities" had "nothing to do 
w i t h his tak ing a plea." (Id.) 

Dr. Potts  that Petitioner understood the 
charges against  was aware of his constitutional 
rights, knew that the prosecution would  seeking the 



 

death penalty, and understood the ramifications of 
pleading guilty. (Id.) Petitioner maintained that he 
was "not desirous of put t ing his family or the alleged 
victim's families through the trauma of a t r ia l . "  at 
3.) 

 Potts opined that Petitioner would l ikely be 
found competent. (Id.) His " ini t ia l impression" was that 
Petitioner's "belief systems do  impact on his 
ra t ional or factual understanding of the proceedings he 
is facing, his abil i ty to effectively assist his attorney, or 
his understanding of waiving his rights by entering  

 ( I d ) 

However, while noting that Petitioner had never 
evidenced "any major mental illness" to the court or to 
the attorneys, Dr. Potts explained that Petitioner had 
a long history of "abusing methamphetamine" and 
might suffer from "a paranoid delusional disorder 
secondary to his past use." (Id.) Therefore, Dr. Potts 
recommended that Petitioner's competency be 
evaluated further, out of concern that Petitioner's 

 might  his  and could prompt 
h i m to plead guilty whether or not doing so was i n his 
best interest. (Id.) 

On December 10, 1998, the t r i a l court granted 
Petitioner's motion for a competency determination 
and transferred the case to a Commissioner for further 
Rule 11 proceedings. (Doc. 35, Ex. 133.) The court 
appointed Drs. John Scialli, a psychiatrist, and Scott 
Sindelar, a clinical psychologist, to examine Petitioner 
and evaluate his competency to stand t r i a l or plead 
guil ty. (Id., Ex.  The doctors were ordered to 
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evaluate Petitioner's "present competency," including 
whether  was "able to understand the nature  
object  the proceeding"   to assist i n [his] 
defense." (Id.) They were also instructed to address 
"whether mental  defect or disability has 
substantially impaired [Petitioner's] ability to make a 
competent  concerning a waiver of rights and to 
have a rational, as   factual understanding of the 
consequences of entering  plea  guilty,"   
Petitioner understood the constitutional   
would give up by pleading guilty. (Id.) 

Dr. Sindelar examined Petitioner  January  
1999. (Doc. 35, Ex. 69.) He determined that Petitioner 
was "competent to stand t r ia l , " "able to  the 
nature of the proceedings  him," and "currently 
able to assist counsel in the preparation of his defense." 

 at 1.) Dr. Sindelar noted that Petitioner had  
"long history  multiple substance abuse,"  
intravenous injection  methamphetamine.  
Nonetheless, Dr. Sindelar believed  Petitioner 
could make a competent decision concerning the waiver 

 his rights   he  a "factual and a rat ional 
understanding of the consequences of pleading guilty." 
(Id. at 2.) Petitioner "appeared very knowledgeable 
about his alternatives and the reasons for his choices ." 
(Id.) His "thought content  logical  connected 
except when  attempted to convince [Dr. Sindelar] 

 he might have  electronic device implanted  
his skull"; according to Dr. Sindelar, this  
sounded delusional." (Id.) However, Dr. Sindelar did 
not believe this delusion affected Petitioner's 
competency  his "ability to help his attorney." (Id.) 
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Dr. Scialli examined Petitioner and also concluded 
that he was competent to stand t r i a l and to plead 
guilty. (Doc. 35,  70 at 1.) Dr. Scialli interviewed 
Petitioner on January 12, 1999. (Id. at 1.) He reviewed 
police reports from Petitioner's offenses, medical 
records from Correctional Health Services, Dr. Potts' 
pre-screening report, and news stories regarding the 
charges against Petitioner. (Id. at 2.) Dr. Scialli noted 
that Petitioner had one prior "known psychiatric 
contact," an incident i n 1978 when Petitioner was 
briefly hospitalized i n Indiana while intoxicated w i t h 
amphetamines. (Id.) I n 1997, while incarcerated on the 
present charges, Petitioner had informed j a i l staff that 
he was depressed, suicidal, and had a sleep disorder. 
(Id.) No medication was prescribed at the time, but 
subsequently he was diagnosed w i t h anxiety disorder 
and prescribed anti-anxiety medication. (Id.) Dr. Scialli 
indicated that he had spoken to Petitioner's ex-wife, 
who said that Petitioner "had been making comments 
about the CIA for around the year prior to his 
incarceration," and that Petitioner believed a tracking 
device had been implanted i n his leg. (Id. at 2.) 

Dr. Scialli determined that Petitioner was 
"criminally competent to stand t r i a l , " explaining that 
Petitioner was able to "understand the nature of the 
proceedings against h im" and "assist counsel i n the 
preparation of his own defense." (Id. at 2-3.) Al though 
Petitioner possessed the "fringe" beliefs noted by Dr. 
Potts, Dr. Scialli found "no evidence of illogical 
thoughts, delusions or hallucinations." (Id.) Dr. Scialli 
also found that Petitioner's beliefs did not interfere 
w i t h his reasoning abil i ty. (Id.) 
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According to Dr. Scialli,  Petitioner "chooses to 
plead guilty, mental illness has not substantially 

 [his] abil i ty to make  competent decision 
concerning waiver of rights,  to have a rational, as 

 as factual, understanding of the consequences of 
pleading guilty." (Id.) Petitioner  aware  the 
details of his plea agreement, which he  discussed 
w i t h counsel,' he specifically acknowledged to Dr. 
Scialli that  would s t i l l "get the death penalty even 
w i t h the plea  (Id.) Petitioner's motivation for 
accepting the plea deal   "death row has a 
better quality of life" than  of the general prison 
population, and  he wanted to "spare others from 
the stress of a t r ia l . " (Id. at 4.) He also believed that 
the outcome would be the same whether he  guilty 

 went to t r ia l . (Id.) Dr. Scialli found "nothing 
illogical"  Petitioner's reasoning. (Id.) When Dr. 
Scialli explained "possible defense and/or mitigating 
factors" available   t r ia l ,  indicated that 
he was "not previously aware of these things"  even 

  information he would s t i l l choose to plead 
guil ty. (Id.) 

Finally, Dr.  discussed Petitioner's desire to 
obtain  x-ray to identify the tracking device he 
believed was i n his skull ,  the possible  of this 
desire  his decision to  guilty. (Id.) Petitioner 

 Dr. Scialli  when he discussed the plea 
agreement w i t h Lorona, Lorona told h i m he would get 
the x-ray i f he signed the agreement.  Dr. Scialli 

 that Petitioner's   the issue was 
"done   logical way, notwithstanding no information 
from his attorney as to whether the  x-ray had 
been discussed when discussing the plea agreement." 
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(Id.) Dr. Scialli found that Petitioner's beliefs about the 
implant did not  [ ] w i t h his abil i ty to enter a 
plea of guilty" and concluded that "[w]hat was more 
convincing was that the defendant said that he would 
s t i l l enter  plea(s) of guilty even i f getting an x-ray 
were not part of the deal." (Id.) Dr. Scialli also noted 
that Petitioner would "drop" the issue i f he received an 
x-ray and i t showed no evidence of an implant . (Id.) 
According to Dr. Scialli, "This sort of reasoning is not 
typical of a paranoid delusion." (Id.) 

On January 26, 1999, the parties stipulated to a 
determination of Petitioner's competency based on Dr. 
Sindelar and Dr.  reports. RT 1/26/99 at 3-4; 
ROA  The Commissioner found Petitioner 
competent to stand t r ia l , concluding that he was 
"competent i n assisting counsel i n his own defense, and 
making rat ional decisions reference the handling of 
this matter." RT 1/26/99 at 4-5; M E 179. The 
Commissioner then remanded the case to the t r i a l 
court for a status conference. RT 1/26/99 at 5-6; M E 
179. 

 "ROA" refers to the four-volume record on appeal from trial and 
sentencing prepared for Petitioner's direct appeal to the Arizona 
Supreme Court (Case No.  "RT" refers to the 
court reporter's transcripts. "ME" refers to the minute entries of 
the state court. The original reporter's transcripts and certified 
copies of the trial and  records were provided to 
this court by the Arizona Supreme Court on July 15, 2009. (See 
Docs. 19, 24.) Pursuant to the court's order, Respondents filed 
additional records from the postconviction proceedings. (See Docs. 
27, 31-34.) 
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 February 1, 1999, the State filed a motion 
requesting that the court order Correctional Health 
Services to provide Petitioner  a skull x-ray. ROA 
182. The prosecutor stated  the x-ray would 
"reassure [Petitioner] that no tracking device exists" 
and "alleviate any potential coercive allegations raised 
at any  plea proceedings." Id.  2. The court 
granted the State's motion  ordered Correctional 
Heal th Services to perform a skull x-ray.  2/2/99  
2-3. 

On May 3, 1999, Lorona orally requested  
Petitioner be   to Dr. Potts for an  
Rule 11 competency evaluation; the  granted the 
request, RT 5/3/99  3; ROA 191. Thereafter, the court 
granted a number of continuances for Dr. Potts to 
complete the evaluation. Bee RT 7/7/99  3-4; RT 
8/11/99 at 3-4. 

Dr. Potts visited Petitioner again  August  
1999, eight months after his in i t i a l interview, and 

 that  "continues to present as he has."6 

 35, Ex. 71 at 1.) Dr. Potts again opined that 

 As discussed below, the record presented during the P C R 
proceedings indicates that on July 30,  jail staff discovered 
that Petitioner had cut himself on his left wrist and elbow and on 
the top of both feet.  35, Ex . 103 at 2.) He was escorted on his 
own power to the jai l clinic where he received stitches.  After 
assuring staff that he would not harm himself further, he 
returned to his cell. (Id.) Petitioner stated that he was upset over 
the anniversary of his father's death. (Id.) Staff also found a 
"suicide note." (Id.) 
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Petitioner was "very wel l aware of the charges he is 
facing" and "well aware that he has been offered a plea 
agreement wherein, on at least one of the cases he 
would be sentenced to life, and i n the other case, he 
might receive the death penalty." (Id.) Dr. Potts noted 
tha t Petitioner continued to desire testing to "see i f 
there is an implant  his brain." (Id.) Petitioner had 
already undergone a CT scan, which was "reported as 
negative," but,  is not uncommon w i t h paranoid 
individuals," Petitioner believed that the results might 
have been  and now wanted an  (Id.) 

Although Petitioner s t i l l believed he had a tracking 
device i n his head, Dr. Potts stated that Petitioner did 
not "believe that the implant has anything to do w i t h 
the legal proceedings he is facing." (Id. at 2.) Dr. Potts 
also noted that Petitioner continued to claim 
knowledge of the Buddhist temple murders but opined 
tha t those beliefs did not "impact on his offenses or the 
proceedings he is presently facing." (Id.) 

Dr. Potts found that Petitioner was "continuing to 
experience paranoid beliefs and delusions secondary to 
his past amphetamine abuse," noting that i t is not 
uncommon for such symptoms to persist "even for 
years after the cessation of amphetamines." (Id.) He 
reiterated that Petitioner's presentation was 
"consistent w i t h delusions secondary to past chronic 
methamphetamine abuse." (Id. at 2.) Dr. Potts 
indicated, based on the information he had, that 
Petitioner  functioned "relatively well" before he 
became an addict. (Id.) He concluded that i t was l ikely 
that Petitioner's methamphetamine use  
contributed to the alleged offenses having occurred." 
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(Id.) 

Dr. Potts again determined  Petitioner fully 
appreciated the rights he  waive by pleading 
guilty  that Petitioner was "capable of weighing 
various  (Id.  3.) He  that one of 
Petitioner's stated reasons for entering a guilty plea 
was to spare the victims' families additional suffering. 

 According to Dr. Potts, a more extensive 
competency   not warranted, because 
Petitioner's delusions were "relatively circumscribed" 

 seemed to have l i t t le   bearing  the 
proceedings. (Id.  2-3.) 

 October 8, 1999, Lorona  the t r i a l court 
that Dr. Potts  again found Petitioner competent 
and did not recommend  further competency 
proceedings. The t r i a l court denied the defense motion 
for a fu l l competency evaluation. RT 10/8/99  3-4,' 
ROA 196. 

Petitioner's change  plea hearing   
January 10. 2000. The t r i a l court  Petitioner 
to determine whether he  the proceedings. 
RT 1/10/00 at 10-28. The court asked Petitioner about 
his age, education level, whether he  difficulty 
reading or understanding English, and whether he was 
taking any medications. Id.   Petitioner  
the court that he   Klonopin for anxiety and 
Elavi l for back  Id. at 11. He stated that the 
medications helped him to understand the proceedings 
and   understood "everything very clearly." Id . 

The court asked Petitioner i f his attorney  
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discussed the plea agreement w i t h  Petitioner 
stated that he had. Id. at 11-12. The court then 
informed Petitioner of the charges against h im and the 
potential sentence on each charge. Id. at 12-24. 
Petitioner stated that he understood al l of the charges 
and possible sentences. Id. at 13-17. When asked i f 
any promises or guarantees had been made to h im i n 
exchange for his pleas, Petitioner replied, "None at all." 
Id. at 15—16, 25. Petitioner  expressed a desire that the 
court and the State avoid speaking to the media about 
the offenses, but indicated that he had received no 
guarantees from anyone regarding media coverage. Id. 
at 20. 

The court asked Petitioner i f he had signed each of 
the plea agreements because he "understood them and 
agreed w i t h them." Id. at 26. Petitioner responded, 
"Yes, ma'am." Id. When the court asked Petitioner i f 
there was anything i n the agreements that he did not 
understand, Petitioner replied, "No, ma'am." Id . 

The court then informed Petitioner that he had a 
r ight to a separate ju ry t r i a l i n each of his  i n 
which the "obligation would be on the state to prove 
[his] gui l t to a ju ry beyond a reasonable doubt as to 
each count i n each case." Id. at 27. Petitioner stated 
that he understood that r ight . Id. The court told 
Petitioner that i f the case went to t r i a l , the State 
would call witnesses and his attorney could cross-
examine those witnesses and call witnesses on 
Petitioners behalf. Id. at 27. The court informed 
Petitioner that he could choose whether or not to 
testify at t r i a l and i f he chose not to testify the ju ry 
could not use his silence against h im. Id. Petitioner 



 

stated that  understood those rights. Id. 

Petitioner  guilty to kidnapping  first degree 
murder  the Eggert case and aggravated robbery, 
kidnapping,  first degree murder i n the Reynolds 
case. Id.  28-34. As the prosecutor described the 
factual bases of the charges, Petitioner occasionally 

 to correct  he considered to  factual 
errors. Id.  29-34.  the court questioned h im 
regarding the factual bases of the charges, Petitioner 
again answered the questions clearly and offered 
corrections. Id.  34-38. The t r i a l court  that 
Petitioner's guil ty pleas were knowing, intelligent, and 
voluntary. Id. at 42-43. 

  during oral argument before the Arizona 
Supreme Court, Petitioner's appellate counsel asserted 
for the first t ime  Petitioner  been  
to plead guil ty. Murdaugh, 209  at 27, 97  at 
852. Because Petitioner  not raise the claim i n his 
opening brief, the court  the claim only for 
fundamental error,  there  none,  
found the  waived. Id. The court explained: 

 this case, the t r i a l judge found  
Murdaugh was competent to plead guilty and 
that there was a sufficient factual basis to 
support the plea. The judge questioned 
Murdaugh directly about his agreement wi th the 
State,  Murdaugh  that he 
understood both the nature and the consequences 
of his plea. He also told the judge that he was not 
under the influence of alcohol  t he time of the 
plea   the drugs he  taking to control 



 

anxiety and back pain did not impair his abi l i ty 
to understand the plea proceedings. I n addition, 
Murdaugh stated that his attorney had gone over 
a l l the terms of the plea agreement w i t h h i m and 
that he fully understood the implications of the 
plea. 

The t r i a l judge did not inquire further into 
whether Murdaugh was mentally competent to 
enter the plea agreement. A year before the plea 
proceedings, however, Drs.  and Scialli 
had evaluated Murdaugh's competency to stand 
t r i a l . Relying on the reports prepared by these 
doctors, the court had found Murdaugh 
competent to stand t r i a l . Dr. Potts re-evaluated 
Murdaugh approximately four months before he 
entered into his plea agreements. Murdaugh's 
counsel informed the court that Dr. Potts did not 
recommend any further competency evaluation. 
From this we can infer that Dr. Potts found 
Murdaugh competent to understand the 
proceedings and assist i n his defense. Finally, 
neither Murdaugh nor his t r i a l counsel raised 
any claim, either dur ing the change of plea or 
during the  hearing, that Murdaugh 
may have been incompetent to plead guil ty. 

Viewing this evidence i n the l ight most 
favorable to sustaining the t r i a l court's  
reasonable evidence supports the t r i a l court's 
finding that Murdaugh was competent to enter a 
plea of guil ty and that he entered the plea 
knowingly, intelligently, and voluntari ly. 
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Id. 

(1) Claim 8 

Petitioner alleges  t r i a l counsel performed 
ineffectively by failing to ensure  his guilty pleas 
were knowing, intelligent,  voluntary and by 
inducing h im to plead guilty by making promises based 

 his delusions. (Doc.   168.) Respondents concede 
this claim is exhausted. 

Clearly established  law 

Claims  ineffective assistance  counsel are 
governed by the principles set forth i n Strickland  
Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To prevail under 

 a petitioner must show that counsel's 
representation fell below  objective standard of 
reasonableness and  the deficiency  the 
defense. Id . at 687-88. 

The inquiry under Strickland is highly deferential 
and  effort [must] be made to eliminate the 
distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the 
circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to 
evaluate the  from counsel's perspective  the 

 Id.  689; see Wong v.  130  
383, 384 (2009) (per curiam); Bobby v. Van Hook, 130 
S.Ct. 13, 16 (2009) (per curiam). Thus, to satisfy 
Strickland's f irst prong, a defendant must overcome 
"the presumption that, under the circumstances, the 
challenged action might be considered sound t r i a l 
strategy." Id. "The test has nothing to do w i t h what the 
best lawyers would have  Nor is the test  
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what most good lawyers would have done. We ask only 
whether some reasonable lawyer at the t r i a l could 
have acted, i n the circumstances, as defense counsel 
acted at t r i a l . " Id. at 687-88. 

W i t h respect to Strickland's second prong, a 
petitioner must affirmatively prove prejudice by 
"show[ing] that there is a reasonable probabili ty that, 
but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the 
proceeding would have been different. A reasonable 
probabili ty is a probability sufficient to undermine 
confidence i n the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 
694. 

Because an ineffective assistance of counsel claim 
must satisfy both prongs of Strickland, the reviewing 
court "need not determine whether counsel's 
performance was deficient before examining the 
prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the 
alleged deficiencies." Id. at 697. Therefore, " i f i t is 
easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the 
ground   of sufficient prejudice ... that course 
should be followed." Id. 

Under the AEDPA, this Court's review of the state 
court's rulings on Petitioner's ineffective assistance 
claims is subject to another level of deference. Bell v. 
Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 698-99 (2002); see Knowles v. 
Mirzayance, 129 S.Ct. 1411, 1420 (2009)  that a 
"doubly deferential" standard applies to Strickland 
claims under the AEDPA). Therefore, to prevail on this 
claim, Petitioner must make the additional showing 
that the  court, i n ru l ing that t r i a l counsel was not 
ineffective, applied Strickland i n an objectively 
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unreasonable manner. 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1). 

Analysis 

Petitioner sets forth a number of specific challenges 
to Lorona's performance. He alleges that counsel spent 
insufficient time working on the case, did not visit h im 
regularly i n ja i l ,   not consult w i t h him. (Doc.  

  175-76.) He contends that his "paranoid 
 disturbed" behavior should have  Lorona to 

"possible mental health and competency issues." (Id. at 
70.) He   Lorona failed to provide defense 
experts w i t h information regarding his interactions 
w i t h Petitioner.     claims  Lorona did 
not personally  the  agreement w i t h h im. 
(Id.  181.) Finally,  asserts that Lorona induced 
h i m to plead guilty by promising that  would receive 
a head x-ray. (Id.  181.) 

The PCR court rejected these allegations of 
ineffective assistance, finding that Petitioner's guilty 
plea was knowing  voluntary  noting  
Petitioner appeared coherent  rational i n his 
interactions w i t h the t r i a l court and assured the court 

 he "understood the proceedings as well as the 
consequences."   Ex. 93  17.) This ru l ing was 
neither contrary to nor an unreasonable application of 
Strickland, nor was i t based on  unreasonable 
determination  the facts. Petitioner's allegations, 

  which are contrary to the record, are 
insufficient to establish that Lorona performed at a 
constitutionally ineffective level w i t h respect to 
Petitioner's guil ty pleas. 
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First, far  ignoring signs that Petitioner  
mental health issues, Lorona secured examinations 
from three experts, al l of whom found Petitioner 
competent to plead guilty. The court rejects Petitioner's 
assertion that Lorona performed ineffectively by fail ing 
to argue that Petitioner was incompetent to enter a 
plea. Drs. Potts, Scialli, and Sindelar examined 
Petitioner and "provided detailed, reasoned reports 
which contained their individual opinions that [he] was 
competent."  v. Godinez, 57 F.3d 690, 699-700 
(9th Cir. 1994). Because Lorona was "entitled to rely on 
these reports," i t was unnecessary for h i m to 
investigate the issue further. Id. at 700. 

I n Taylor v. Horn, 504 F.3d 416, 438-39 (3d Cir. 
2007), the Th i rd Circuit held that the petitioner could 
show neither deficient performance nor prejudice based 
on counsel's failure to request a competency 
examination. Prior to his guilty plea, the petitioner 
had been found competent by two experts. Id. at 421. 
The court determined that "counsel's interactions w i t h 

 w i t h both the ... reports concluding that 
Taylor was  sufficient for counsel to 
reasonably forego a competency hearing." Id. at 438. I n 
addition, because there was no reasonable probabili ty 
that the petitioner was incompetent, counsel's failure 
to request a competency hearing was not prejudicial. 
Id. at 439. Similarly, i n Petitioner's case,  were 
"sufficient indicia of competence," id. at 438, such that 
Lorona's failure to pursue an argument that Petitioner 
was incompetent to plead guil ty did not constitute 
deficient performance and did not result i n prejudice. 

Also unavail ing is Petitioner's assertion that 
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 failed to provide the Rule 11 experts w i t h 
records necessary for their evaluations. Although Dr. 
Potts   his pre-screening competency report 
that he  not  any information from the 
defense, investigator  Bachtle recalled delivering 
documents about Petitioner's background to Dr. Potts. 
RT 4/29/08 at 42-43.  the evidentiary hearing before 
the    Petitioner's claims  ineffective 
assistance of counsel, Dr. Potts testified that he spoke 
w i t h  concerning the pre-screening evaluation 
but    i f they had further contact, nor 
could he recall i f Bachtle had provided him w i t h 
additional records. RT 5/14/08 at 37-41. Dr. Scialli 
testified that while he received no materials from 
defense counsel, he had enough information before him 
to make  determination. RT 4/28/08 at 30-31. Neither 
Dr. Potts nor Dr. Scialli suggested that  
evaluations were compromised due to a  of 
documentary evidence. 

 Petitioner fails to show that  
performed ineffectively w i t h respect to Petitioner's 
desire for a head x-ray. Petitioner himself indicated to 
Drs. Potts  Scialli that an x-ray  not a 
necessary condition of his guilty plea. (Doc. 35,  
70.)  addition, prior to pleading guil ty Petitioner 
received an x-ray  the State's  Bee ROA  

 181. Therefore, Lorona's promise of an x-ray did 
not serve  an  for Petitioner's plea. 

Petitioner's complaints about counsel's lack of effort 
and infrequent j a i l visits are not sufficient to establish 
ineffective assistance of counsel. Although Lorona  
visited Petitioner   five or six times over the 
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course of his representation, he spoke to Petitioner on 
the phone two to three times every week and discussed 
the case w i t h Petitioner during court appearances. RT 
4/29/08 at 108-10, 129-30. I n addition, defense 
investigator Bachtle visited Petitioner i n j a i l more 
than 20 times and spoke w i t h h im on the phone several 
times a week. Id. at 43-45. The mit igat ion specialists 
also had contact w i t h Petitioner i n j a i l . Bee RT 4/28/08 
at 39; RT 4/30/08 at 129. 

Even i f Lorona's infrequent j a i l visits constituted 
deficient performance, "the mere fact that counsel 
spent l i t t l e time w i t h [petitioner] is not enough under 
Strickland, wi thout evidence of prejudice or other 
defects." Bowling v. Parker, 344 F.3d 487, 506 (6th 
Cir. 2003). While Petitioner alleges generally that 
Lorona had a duty to  i n more frequent personal 
contact w i t h him, he has provided "no explanation how 
additional meetings w i t h his counsel, or longer 
meetings w i t h his counsel, would have led to new or 
better theories of advocacy or otherwise would have 
created a  probability' of a different 
outcome." Hill v. Mitchell, 400 F.3d 308, 325 (6th Cir. 
2005); see Lenz v. Washington, 444 F.3d 295, 302-03 
(4th  

Petitioner argues that the numerous delays i n the 
proceedings reflect the extent of Lorona's other 
commitments and his lack of focus on Petitioner's case. 
However, the record indicates that Lorona requested 
continuances pr imar i ly to prepare for t r i a l , because 
discovery was not complete, because the parties were 
attempting to settle the case, or because reports from 
the defense experts were not yet available. See RT 
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9/17/97, 4/6/98, 4/1/99, 6/7/99, 8/11/99, 10/24/00. Other 
continuances were requested by the State. Bee RT 
2/19/98,  Moreover, i t was Petitioner's 

 desire that Lorona "stretch out" the case for "as 
  possible." (Doc. 35, Ex. 44; see id., Ex. 6.) 

Likewise, Petitioner's contention that Lorona did 
not discuss the plea agreement w i t h h im are not well-
founded. During the  evidentiary hearing, Bachtle 
testified  Lorona, who  already reviewed the 
plea  w i t h Petitioner, requested that he go to 
the  and again discuss the agreement w i t h 
Petitioner. RT 4/29/08 at 65-66; see Doc. 35, Ex. 76. 
Lorona testified that either he    to 
the  to review the plea agreement w i t h Petitioner. 

  150-51. Lorona also discussed the agreement 
w i t h  while they were together   Id. 
Moreover, after being presented w i t h the plea 
agreement, Petitioner wrote Lorona  letter discussing 
changes he  like made and concluding, "Get these 
matters taken care of  I w i l l then  the plea 
deals to avoid the trauma of tr ials on my own  the 
victim's families."  35, Ex.  Such statements 
are inconsistent w i t h the assert ion that Petitioner was 
unfamiliar w i t h the terms of the plea agreement. 

 is clear  from  early point i n the case 
Petitioner expressed a desire to plead guilty  order to 
spare his  the  families the ordeal of  t r ia l . 
For example, on A p r i l 18, 1996, Bachtle wrote   
to Lorona noting that "Petitioner stated that he does 
NOT  to go to t r i a l regarding his murder charges. 
He does NOT  to br ing the victims family  his 
own family into court to listen to the allegations 



 9 

pertaining to the victim's death." (Id., Ex. 18.) 

The    reiterated that 
"prejudice does not generally exist when a defendant 
chooses to plead guilty." Smith v. Mahoney, 596 F.3d 

  (9th Cir. 2010) (citing Lambert v.  
393 F.3d 943, 980 (9th Cir. 2004); Langford v. Day,  
F.3d  1383-84 (9th Cir. 1996)). Petitioner, like the 
defendants i n Langford and Smith, "strongly and 
repeatedly insisted on pleading guilty and seeking the 
death penalty." Langford, 110 F.3d at 1386. He was 
"determined and unequivocal i n  decision to plead 
guilty," id.  1388, consistently citing as the reason for 
his plea a desire to spare the families the trauma of a 
t r i a l . As the court stated i n  " In such cases, 
where  defendant has his own reasons for pleading 
guilty, ' relief is not warranted." 596 F.3d at 1147 
(quoting McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 767 
(1970)). 

Conclusion 

Petitioner wanted to plead guilty, and the 
uncontradicted opinions of the mental health experts 
indicated that he was competent to do so. Lorona's 
performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial. 
Therefore, the PCR court's rejection of this claim was 
not objectively unreasonable and Petitioner is not 
entit led to relief. Claim 8 is denied. 

(2) Claims 9, 10, and 11 

I n Claim 9, Petitioner alleges that his guil ty pleas 
were not knowing, intelligent, or voluntary because 
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they were the product  his paranoid beliefs, safety 
fears,  promises by counsel. (Doc.  at 184.)  
Claim   alleges that the t r i a l  erred when i t 
failed to conduct  adequate competency 
determination to ensure  he was competent to 
plead guil ty. (Id. at   Claim 11, Petitioner 
asserts that he was  to plead guilty, 
resulting  a waiver of  r ight to t r i a l that was not 
knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. (Id.  198.) 
Petitioner also alleges  appellate counsel was 
ineffective  failing to properly raise the issue  
Petitioner's competency to plead guilty. (Id.) 

 status 

Respondents assert that these claims are 
procedurally barred. W i t h  to  9, 
Respondents contend  Petitioner failed to present 
the federal basis of the claim to the Arizona Supreme 
Court i n his  for review  therefore the claim 

 unexhausted. (Doc. 38  144.) 

Petitioner raised Claim 9  his  petition, 
alleging violations of the Eighth   
Amendments and citing  v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 
238 (1969). (Doc. 31, Ex. 39 at 7, 19.) The PGR court 
rejected the claim: 

Defendant next claims  his plea of guil ty 
and decision to waive mit igat ion was involuntary 
because  was the product of false promises  
threats. 

I  the colloquy for his change of plea, defendant 



 

 the t r i a l court that there were no other 
promises made to h im, and that his decision to 
plead guil ty  not the result of any threat. 
Defendant specifically advised the t r i a l court that 
his decision was voluntar i ly made. 

As stated previously, the t r i a l court carefully 
questioned defendant about his awareness of the 
content of mit igat ion and his r ight to present i t , 
and determined that his decision to waive 
mi t iga t ion was knowingly and voluntar i ly made. 

I T IS ORDERED dismissing defendant's fourth 
claim summarily pursuant to Rule 32.6(c). 

 32, Ex. 98 at 5.) 

I n his petit ion for review, Petitioner argued that his 
"guilty plea was inval id because he was mentally 
incompetent, because the plea was not  
intel l igent and voluntary, because there was an 
inadequate determination of his competence to waive 
fundamental constitutional rights (see supra, Claim 2), 
and because improper promises were made to 
Murdaugh by Lorona i n order to induce h im to plead 
guilty." PR at 28. Petitioner argues that his reference 
to Claim 2, which challenged his competence to waive 
mi t iga t ion and cited the federal constitution and case 
law, was sufficient to present the federal basis of this 
claim. (Doc. 41 at 68.) The court agrees that Petitioner 
fair ly presented the federal basis of the claim to the 
state court, and w i l l consider Claim 9 on its merits. 

Respondents also contend that Claim 10 is 
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precluded  procedurally barred. (Doc.  at 148.) 
The court again disagrees. 

 his  petition, Petitioner for the first time 
raised the  that the t r i a l court erroneously failed 
to conduct a competency determination.  31, Ex. 
39 at 2-4, 15-16.) The PGR court found the claim 
precluded under Rule 32.2(a)(1), (2),  (3) because  
"was raised,  could have been raised on appeal." (Doc. 
32, Ex. 98 at 4.) The court alternatively  

[T]here was no need for further competence 
determination. The record is devoid of any 
evidence suggesting defendant's decision to 
plead guil ty was based  anything other  
his expressed desire to spare the victim's family 

 his family from a t r i a l . Dr. Scialli and Dr. 
Sindelar specifically stated i n their reports that 
defendant was able to assist counsel i n 
preparation of a defense. 

 is clear from the colloquy  the change-of-
 hearing,   the  health 

evaluations, that defendant understood the 
nature of the proceedings against him, that he 
was able to assist counsel, and that he 
understood the constitutional rights he would be 
giving up by pleading guilty. This claim, thus, 
fails to state  colorable claim for relief,  is 
summarily dismissed  to Rule 32.6(c). 

(Id.) 

The PGR court's procedural ruling, that the claim 
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was raised or could have been raised, is ambiguous. I t 
fails to distinguish a claim previously raised, which is 
exhausted, from a claim waived because i t was not 
raised previously. The rul ing, therefore, does not 
function  an adequate bar to federal review. Bee 
Valerio v. Crawford, 306 F.3d 742, 774-75 (9th Cir. 
2002) (en banc); Koerner v. Grigas, 328 F.3d 1039, 
1049-50 (9th Cir.2003); Ceja v. Stewart, 97 F.3d 1246, 
1253 (9th Cir. 1996). The court w i l l consider Claim 10 
on i ts merits. 

Finally, Respondents contend that Claim 11, 
challenging Petitioner's competence to plead guilty, is 
procedurally barred. (Doc. 38 at 154-55.) Here, the 
court agrees. 

Petitioner raised this claim during oral argument 
before the Arizona Supreme Court. The court, f inding 
no fundamental error, deemed the claim waived. 
Murdaugh, 209  at 26, 97 P.3d at 851. Petitioner 
raised the claim again i n his PCR petit ion. (Doc. 31, 
Ex. 39 at 6-7.) The PCR court found i t precluded under 
Rule 32.2(a)(1) and (3) because i t could have been 
raised on direct appeal.7 (Doc. 32, Ex. 98 at 4-5.) 

 The court alternatively denied the claim as not colorable for the 
reasons set forth in Claim 10 above. (Doc. 32, Ex . 98 at 5.) The fact 
that the P C R court alternatively discussed the merits of the claim 
does not affect the application of Rule 32.2(a)(3) because the court 
"explicitly invoke[d] a state procedural bar as a separate basis for 
decision." Harris, 489 U.S. at 264 n. 10. 
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This preclusion rul ing rests on an  and 
adequate state procedural bar. Bee Smith, 536 U.S. at 
860; Ortiz, 149  at 931-32. Therefore, Claim 11  
procedurally barred, absent a showing of cause  
prejudice or a fundamental miscarriage of justice. 

  ineffective assistance of appellate 
counsel as cause for his defa  of the claim. (Doc.  at 

 While properly exhausted i n state court, the 
allegation that appellate counsel was ineffective  
itself meritless because, for the reasons set forth below, 
Petitioner cannot show that he was prejudiced by 
appellate counsel's handling of the competence issue. 
Therefore, Petitioner's default of this claim is not 
excused by appellate counsel's performance. Carrier, 
477 U.S. at 492 ("Attorney error short of ineffective 
assistance of counsel   constitute cause for a 
procedural default"). Nor has Petitioner established 
that a fundamental miscarriage of justice   
from the court's failure to consider Claim 11  the 
merits. See Schlup, 513 U.S. at 327. 

Clearly established federal law 

 process requires  a  be  
to plead guilty. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 384-
85. The standard for competence to plead guilty is  
same as the standard for competence to stand t r i a l . 
Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 396, 399-401 (1993). 
The  must have  present abil i ty to 
consult w i t h his lawyer w i t h  reasonable degree of 
rat ional understanding," together w i t h "a rational  
wel l as factual understanding  the proceedings 
against him." Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 
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(1960) (per curiam); see Boag v. Raines, 769 F.2d  
,1343 (9th Cir. 1985). 

Due process also requires a court to conduct a 
competency hearing on its own motion when "a 
reasonable judge would be expected to have a bona fide 
doubt as to the defendant's competence." Moran, 57 
F.3d at 695; see  v. Stewart, 121 F.3d 486, 
489 (9th Cir. 1997).  bona fide doubt exists i f there is 
"substantial evidence of incompetence." Id. "Although 
no particular facts signal incompetence, suggestive 
evidence includes a defendant's demeanor before the 
t r i a l court, previous i r ra t ional behavior, and available 
medical evaluations." Id. A state court's competency 
determination is entit led to a presumption of 
correctness on federal habeas review and may be 
overturned only i f i t is  "fairly supported by the 
record."8 Demosthenes v. Baal, 495 U.S. 731, 735 
(1990) (per curiam); see Franklin v. Luebbers, 494 F.3d 
744, 750 (8th Cir. 2007); Dennis  Butko v. Budge, 
378 F.3d 880, 891-92 (9th Cir. 2004). I n reviewing 
whether a state t r i a l judge was required to conduct a 
competency hearing, a habeas court may consider only 
the evidence that was before the judge. See McMurtrey 
v. Ryan, 539  1112, 1118 (9th Cir. 2008) (citing 
Williams v. Woodford, 384 F.3d 567, 604 (9th Cir. 
2004)). 

For a guil ty plea to be valid, the defendant must not 

 As Respondents note, there is no support for Petitioner's 
argument that this court must make an "independent decision on 
the question of competence" (Doc. 35 at 204). 
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only be   the plea must  "knowing and 
voluntary." Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. at 400; see 
Brady v. United States, 397 U.S.  748 (1970). The 
plea   ] a voluntary and intelligent 
choice among the alternative courses of action open to 
the defendant," Hill  Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985) 
(quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31 
(1970)). A plea is voluntary when  defendant is 

  and waives his privilege against self-
incrimination, his r ight to t r i a l by jury, and his right to 
confront witnesses. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 243. A plea is 
coerced and void  i t was "induced by promises  
threats which deprive  of the character of a voluntary 
act." Machibroda  United States, 368 U.S. 487, 493 
(1962); see Doe  Woodford, 508 F.3d 563, 570 (9th 

 2007). 

A habeas petitioner bears the burden  
establishing  his guilty plea was not voluntary and 
knowing.  Parke v.  506 U.S. 20, 31-34 
(1992); Little v. Crawford, 449 F.3d 1075, 1080 (9th 
Cir.2006); Miles v. Dorsey, 61 F.3d 1459, 1472 (10th 
Cir. 1995). Findings by the  accepting the plea 
"constitute a formidable barrier  any subsequent 
collateral proceedings. Solemn declarations  open 

 carry a strong presumption of verity." Blackledge 
v. Alison, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977); see Doe v. Woodford, 
508 F.3d at 571-72. 

Analysis 

1. Competence 

Petitioner argues  he was not competent to 
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plead guilty and that appellate counsel performed 
ineffectively by fai l ing to properly raise the issue 
(Claim 11), and that the t r i a l court failed to make an 
adequate competency determination (Claim 10). The 
record does not support these claims. 

The N i n t h Circuit has noted that "[ i ]n cases finding 
sufficient evidence of  the petitioners 
have been able to show either extremely erratic or 
i r ra t ional behavior during the course of t r i a l ... or 
lengthy histories of acute psychosis and psychiatric 
treatment." Boag, 769 F.2d at 1344; see Drope v. 
Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 180 (1975). Petitioner has 
made neither showing. 

I n Boag, evidence of the petitioner's mental 
condition included five suicide attempts, repeated  
injuries, bizarre behavior, alcoholism, the report of a 
prison psychiatrist made four months before t r i a l that 
the petitioner had sociopathic personality disturbance 
and antisocial reaction,  a state judge's comment 
made six months before t r i a l that the petitioner needed 
intensive psychiatric treatment. 769 F.2cl at 1343. The 
N i n t h Circuit found that "these facts, taken as a whole, 
do not raise a substantial doubt as to Boag's 
competency" such that the t r i a l court was required to 
order a competency hearing. Id. 

I n Amaya-Ruiz, the N i n t h Circuit rejected the 
 claim that the t r i a l court erroneously failed 

to determine  he was incompetent, 121 F.3d 486. 
Amaya-Ruiz had been evaluated by two mental health 
professionals and found competent to stand t r ia l . Id. at 
489. Subsequently, he appeared to  a lack of 
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understanding of the legal proceedings  engaged  
i r ra t ional behavior, including speaking i n a loud voice 
at inappropriate times during the proceedings and 
acting  a disruptive   sentencing. Id. at 
4 8 9 - 9 0 . He also had attempted suicide, and records 

 that he   to deep depression"  
was taking medication. Id. at  The t r i a l court 

 to order  additional competency 
examination, and sentenced the defendant to death. Id. 
at  

The N i n t h Circuit affirmed, explaining that  
events were  to cause the state t r ia l court to 
have a bona fide doubt as to  
competency." Id. at  The court noted that the "state 
t r i a l court previously had ordered two evaluations  
the doctors opined Amaya-Ruiz was competent to 
stand t r i a l . The evaluations suggested Amaya-Ruiz 
was malingering and had chosen a  of 
noncooperation.... Further, while his  may not 
have been rat ional  times, his behavior was not so 
extreme  to require an additional evaluation." Id. 
The Nin th Circuit also rejected the  that a 
competency evaluation was required when the t r i a l 

  that the petitioner   taking 
psychiatric  Id. at 493. The court noted that 
the t r i a l   making his  that 
another evaluation was unnecessary, "had observed 
Amaya-Ruiz throughout the  and t r i a l 
proceedings"  "also had the benefit of two 
evaluations  indicated Amaya-Ruiz was a 
competent malingerer." Id. 

By contrast, i n McMurtrey the N i n t h Circuit held 
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that the petitioner's due process rights were violated 
by the t r i a l court's failure to hold a hearing because 
there was sufficient evidence to raise a bona fide doubt 
concerning his competence to stand t r i a l . 539 F.3d at 
1127. Defense experts noted that the McMurtrey had a 
history of head injuries and psychological problems, 
had a "spotty memory" which could impede his abi l i ty 
to assist counsel, and was subject to seizures and 
hallucinations. Id. at 1119. Prior to t r i a l McMurt rey 
was moved to a psychiatric hospital due to suicidal 
ideation and a psychotic breakdown; a defense 
psychiatrist opined that he was incompetent to stand 
t r i a l due to anxiety and memory problems. Id. at  
However, the state's  expert concluded 
that McMurt rey was competent to stand t r i a l , basing 
his opinion on an hour-long interview. Id. at 1121—22. 
While incarcerated McMurt rey received high doses of  
variety of antipsychotic and anti-anxiety medications; 
as a result he repeatedly became physically i l l dur ing 
the t r i a l . Id. at 1122-23. The record also showed that 
he exhibited erratic and volatile behavior i n ja i l , and at 
sentencing he responded i r ra t ional ly to the judge's 
questions. Id. at 1124-45. 

Similarly, i n Maxwell v. Roe, 606 F.3d 561, 568-69 
(9th Cir. 2010), the petitioner was unable to control his 
behavior i n j a i l or i n court. He was involuntar i ly 
committed several times before and during t r i a l . Id. at 
569—74. His treating doctors described h im as "actively 
psychotic" and "unable to function." Id. at 573. The 
t r i a l judge was aware that Maxwel l had a history of 
mental illness and was being treated w i t h a "panoply" 
of antipsychotic drugs at the t ime of t r i a l , which took 
place largely i n his absence. Id. at 570-71. Finally, 
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there was "substantial evidence that Maxwell's mental 
condition  significantly deteriorated since the 
i n i t i a l pretr ial competency examination." Id. at  
The N i n t h Circuit held that the failure to order a 
competency  violated due process,  the state 
appellate court made  unreasonable factual 
determination i n finding  the petitioner was not 
entit led to such a hearing. Id. at 576. See also Torres v. 
Prunty, 223 F.3d 1103, 1109-10 (9th  2000) 
(holding that  competency hearing  required 
where  believed his attorney was part of a 
conspiracy against h im, threatened to assault his 
attorney, insisted  being handcuffed, and continually 
disrupted the t r i a l u n t i l he was removed  the 
courtroom). 

 Petitioner's case, the t r i a l court  not have 
been expected to have a  fide doubt about his 
competence to plead guilty. First, as recounted above, 
three court-appointed experts evaluated Petitioner  
concluded  he was competent to stand t r i a l  
plead  While noting Petitioner's fringe beliefs, 
they each found that he was  otherwise delusional, 
was able to th ink rationally,  comprehended his 
legal sit uation and options. There was no evidence  
Petitioner's condition  deteriorated by the time  
his guil ty pleas. Furthermore, unlike the petitioners i n 
Amaya-Ruiz and McMurtrey, Petitioner's conduct 
before the   never i rrat ional or inappropriate. 
Judge  observed Petitioner's courtroom demeanor 

 a number of occasions and heard his cogent answers 
during the plea colloquy. 

Finally, the record revealed only one previous 



 

hospitalization for Petitioner. This occurred i n 1978 
when Petitioner was temporarily deemed incompetent 
after "a transitory  episode influenced by drug 
ingestion, most l ikely amphetamines." (Doc. 35, Ex. 
83.) He was subsequently found competent, w i t h "no 
serious emotional distress," "unimpaired" reality 
testing, logic, and memory, "no indications of 
systematic delusions" or "hallucinatory experiences," 
and "no evidence of an active psychosis." (Id.) 

Under these circumstances, the t r i a l court was not 
required to conduct a more thorough competency 
determination before accepting Petitioner's guilty 
pleas. Therefore, Claim 10 is without merit. 

Petitioner likewise fails to meet his burden w i t h 
respect to his claim that he was incompetent when he 
entered his plea. The record reflects that the state 
court's competency determination was reasonable and 
fairly supported by the record, including the Rule 11 
reports and the t r i a l judge's personal observations of 
Petitioner. Petitioner has failed to rebut that 
determination by clear and convincing evidence. 
Therefore, his claim that he was not competent to 
plead gui l ty must fai l . Bee Demosthenes v. Baal, 495 
U.S. at 735; Dennis  Butko v. Budge, 378 F.3d at 
891-92;  v. Bowersox, 172 F.3d 1016, 1021 (8th 
Cir. 1999). 

Because the claim that Petitioner was not 
competent lacks merit , appellate counsel's failure to 
raise the issue i n his opening brief did not prejudice 
Petitioner and cannot constitute ineffective assistance. 
This conclusion is also supported by the Arizona 
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Supreme Court's discussion of Petitioner's competence 
and the t r i a l court's handling of the issue. Murdaugh, 
209  at 27, 97  at 852. Claim 11 is  
merit. 

2. Knowing, intelligent, and voluntary 

Petitioner argues that his mental problems  
promises made by   his guilty pleas 
involuntary (Claim 9). Again, the record does  

 this claim. 

There has never  any evidence   
lacked the requisite rational  factual 
understanding  the proceedings.9 Three experts 
opined that Petitioner, notwithstanding his fringe 
beliefs, was competent to plead guilty. Petitioner's plea 
colloquy, described above,  supports the 
conclusion that his plea  knowing and voluntary. 
Petitioner  the t r i a l court  he  
the  agreements  was aware  the rights he 

 Petitioner attached to his motion for evidentiary development a 
"psychological summary" prepared in 2009 by Dr. Robert Smith. 
(Doc. 51, Ex . 2.) Dr. Smith concluded that Petitioner "is of at least 
average intelligence and has a full comprehension of the legal 
process."  at 2.) While stating that additional time was 
required to complete a "psychosocial history, diagnostic workup 
and full mental health examination," Dr. Smith's "diagnostic 
impressions" of Petitioner included delusional disorder, substance 
dependence, and narcissistic traits.  at 10—11.) He also opined 
that trial counsel should have obtained an additional mental 
health evaluation upon Petitioner's decision to waive mitigation. 
(Id. at 10.) 
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was waiving, that no promises or threats had been 
made, and that there was a factual basis for his guilty-
pleas. RT 1/10/00 at 11-27. Petitioner's declaration 
that his plea was knowing and voluntary carries "a 
strong presumption of verity." Blackledge v. Allison, 
431 U.S. at 74. I n addition, as recounted above, there 
were no false promises regarding a head x-ray, and he 
did not insist on an x-ray as a condition of his pleas. 
Instead, the record shows that Petitioner was 
motivated to plead guil ty by his desire to avoid a t r i a l 
that would traumatize his and the victims' families. 

Petitioner's case parallels the issues addressed i n 
Hunter v. Bowersox, 172 F.3d 1016 (8th Cir. 1999). 
There, the petitioner pled guilty to two counts of first 
degree murder. The t r i a l court found that the plea was 
knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Id. at 1018. Court-
ordered mental health evaluations, performed both 
before and after the plea hearing, found the petitioner 
competent, concluding that he "functioned at bright-
average intelligence, understood the charges against 
h im and the options available to h im, was  of 
entering a voluntary and intelligent plea, and had 
chosen  plead guilty because he wished to take 
responsibility for his participation i n the crime and did 
not want to spend the rest of his life i n prison." Id. at 
1021. The petitioner subsequently moved to wi thdraw 
his plea, arguing that the effects of cocaine withdrawal 
and the conditions under which he was held i n 
administrative segregation rendered h i m incapable of 
entering a knowing and voluntary plea. Id. at 1022. 
The t r i a l court denied relief, as did the post-conviction 
court, the state supreme court, and the federal district 
court on habeas review. Id. at 1018—22. The Eighth 
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  explaining that "the state courts' 
findings are  to the presumption of correctness, 
and  these findings fully support the determination 
that Hunter's   guilty  voluntary, knowing, 
and intell igent ." Id. at 1022.  particular, the court 
noted  the petitioner's plea colloquy belied any 
claim that his cocaine addiction  the conditions of his 
confinement caused  to plead guilty. Id. at  
23. 

Similarly,  Petitioner's case, the record fully 
supports the state courts' determination that 
Petitioner's guil ty pleas were knowing and voluntary. 
Petitioner is unable to rebut the presumption that the 
this determination was  

Conclusion 

Petitioner was competent to plead guilty. His pleas 
were knowing and voluntary. The decisions of the state 
court rejecting these claims were based on reasonable 

 determinations and the reasonable application 
of federal law. Claims 9, 10, and 11 are therefore 
denied. 

B . Mitigation Waiver: Claims 4 - 7 

Petitioner  that his mental health issues 
rendered h i m incompetent to waive the presentation of 
mit igat ion evidence, that  counsel performed 
ineffectively i n handling the issue of Petitioner's 
competence  by fail ing to present mit igat ing 
evidence  sentencing, and  the t r i a l court  
to make an adequate competency   
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accepting the waiver. 

 Sentencing proceedings 

I n preparation for sentencing, Lorona retained an 
addictionologist, Dr. Charles Shaw, and a psychiatrist, 
Dr. James  to examine Petitioner for 
mit igat ion purposes. Dr. Shaw met w i t h Petitioner for 
four and a half hours on December 12, 2000, discussing 
Petitioner's history of substance abuse as wel l as his 
family background and the details of the murders. 

 35, Ex. 73 at 1.) Dr. Shaw opined that "Petitioner 
had the signs and symptoms of paranoid schizophrenia 
along w i t h a substance induced mood disorder." (Id.) 
He concluded: " I strongly recommend that [Petitioner] 
have a psychiatric evaluation. I believe he w i l l be 
found schizophrenic and needs appropriate treatment." 
(Id. at 2.) 

Dr. Deming conducted a 12-hour personal 
interview of Petitioner, reviewed numerous documents, 
including Petitioner's medical records, and prepared a 
lengthy report dated August 27, 2001.  35, Ex. 
74.) Dr. Deming diagnosed Petitioner w i t h delusional 
disorder of a mixed type w i t h grandiose, jealous, and 
persecutory features; a history of polysubstance abuse 
and dependence which may have created a permanent 
organic brain  and post-concussion syndrome 
resulting from numerous severe head injuries 
beginning at age 17.  at 9.) Dr. Deming's report 
included detailed discussions of Petitioner's family 
background, drug use, and medical history, and 
emphasized the role Petitioner's paranoia and 

 played in the murders. (Id. at 12—14.) 
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Petitioner in i t i a l ly  that  d id not wish to 
present mit igat ing evidence. He  his mind 
briefly before finally deciding that he  waive 
mitigation. Before his final decision, Petitioner told 
defense investigator Bachtle that he believed Dr. Potts 
would testify  his behalf for mi t igat ion purposes, to 
the effect that  the time  the murders Petitioner 
could  control his actions because of his addiction to 

 (Doc.  Ex. 42.)  November 22, 
2000, Petitioner wrote to Lorona requesting  he 
"[g]et my Rolodex from property siezed [sic] by deputies 
from my house.  to have  to give Lisa 

 the mitigation specialist] a more 
complete and accurate  of people to contact  my 

 Has names and phone numbers of people I 
know are not listed  any directories." (Doc. 35, Ex. 
44.) Petitioner also asked Lorona to  into h i r ing  
neuropsychologist, because another death row inmate 
had undergone neuropsychological testing to explain 
his outbursts of "sudden violence." (Id.) 

I n addition, Petitioner requested that  obtain 
a "complete  of  states that have  int erstate 
compact  Arizona."  Petitioner reasoned: 

I f we  this   I do  natural life, then I 
 you to request   order for  D.O.C. 

transfer  of Arizona. I do not want to spend 5 
to 7 years   1 or 2,  this is where  w i l l  
sent upon transfer from here to  Because 
my crimes w i l l give  a 5-5 score  in . Being 
out  State w i l l also allow my sons to get on w i t h 

 lives much easier. 
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(Id.) 

Petitioner also discussed the fact that Lorona rarely 
visited h im i n j a i l , adding: 

Anyway, what  getting at here is this:  

both knew going i n that this was a loser because 
of witnesses, and I know you have done as I've 
asked i n t ry ing to stretch i t out as long as 
possible. I don't want to do anything to tarnish 
your name or abilities i n any way. But i f I t e l l 
the Judge of the sparse visits would somehow 
help my mit igat ion [sic], I t h ink we should 
discuss this face to face. It 's wel l known around 
the courthouse that you don't visi t clients i n this 
j a i l very often. This was told to me by a deputy 
that's been there for 35 years, I 'm sure you  
"Cookie," Roy Cook, he's the one who said you're 
a good attorney, "but have a bad rap when i t 
comes to visits." I s t i l l want you to keep put t ing 
off the sentencing date as long as is possible. 

What ya need to do is set aside some time to 
come down here and ta lk to me. Things have 
changed i n my life and we need to kick Mary 
Barry's ass on mitigation. I 'm going to have Lisa 
t r y to get people to write letters on my behalf to 
present to the Judge as to my character before 
Becky and  took over my life. So please come 
down here. Maybe we can p u l l i t off. 

(Id.) 
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I n a another letter, Petitioner further detailed his 
desire to serve a  life sentence out of state: 

I need info on interstate compacts so i f by some 
miracle Lisa  get me life I don't  to do  
here. I've   years of this heat and that's 
enough for me. I  to go North, Idaho, 
Wyoming, Montana, Colorado, Nevada. Not  
or  they're as  as here from  I've 
learned. Anyway get back to me. I th ink about you 
every time I  one  these Snoopy the Lawyer 
toons. 

(Doc. 35, Ex. 46.) 

I n late August and early September 2001, 
Petitioner decided that he did not want to present 
mit igat ing evidence, and directed Lorona  to provide 
copies of Lisa Christianson's mit igat ion report or Dr. 
Deming's evaluation to the prosecution. ROA 235, Ex. 
1. 

A t a status conference on September 7, 2001, 
Lorona informed the court that Petitioner believed his 
life    i n j a i l and feared that a life sentence 
would  the equivalent of the death  for h im 
because of the difficulties he  w i t h other inmates. 
RT  at 4 . Petitioner had urged Lorona to ask the 
prosecution to allow him to serve his time out of state. 
Id. at 4-5.  had discussed this  the 
prosecutor, who  the request. Id. The court 
subsequently confirmed that i t did  have the  
to order the Department  Corrections to place 
Petitioner  of state. Id.  5-6. 
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Lorona told the court that, given these 
circumstances, Petitioner did not want the defense 
team to "put on any mit igat ion at al l ." Id. at 6. Lorona 
noted tha t he had obtained complete reports from Drs. 
Deming and Shaw and a report from his mit igat ion 
specialist, but Petitioner did not want these offered as 
evidence or filed i n the record. Id.; see Doc. 35, Ex.  
see also ROA 235, Ex.  ROA 239. Lorona explained 
that i f the court could not guarantee Petitioner an out-
of-state sentence, he wanted the death penalty so that 
he could be placed on death row. Id. at 6—7. 

The t r i a l court informed Petitioner that i f he did not 
present mit igat ion evidence, the court would "order the 
State to give me what they have," and would "seek i t 
from any source that is legitimately available to the 
Court and require the State to provide i t . " Id. at 8. The 
prosecutor stated that he would "willingly, whether the 
court orders me or not, t u r n over a l l information that I 
have that appears to me to he mit igat ing on the part of 
M r . Murdaugh because I believe I have a duty to do so 
and I 'd be happy to do that i n this situation." Id. at 10-
11. However, the prosecutor reminded the court that 
he was actively seeking the death penalty i n spite of 
any mit igat ing evidence. Id . at 11. 

Petitioner then addressed the court and explained 
his understanding of the proceedings: 

I n my six years w i t h being i n Madison Street 
Ja i l I know how everything works. I know the 
steps that are followed. I have had several friends 
that have gone through death penalty cases and 
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gotten the death penalty, and several who have 
gone through death penalty cases and got natural 
 

I have also known sortie who have been sent out 
of state  interstate compact w i t h  request 
coming from the Department of Corrections. And I 
recently learned that you do not. have the power to 
send me  of state  the approval of the 
Department of  

Id. at 11-12. 

I n a motion   before the  
hearing, Lorona objected to the presentation  any 
mit igat ing evidence  Petitioner's behalf, explaining 
that Petitioner was fully aware of the  
evidence that the defense team had collected. ROA  
at 2,  also requested that the court determine 
whether Petitioner was competent to waive mitigation. 
Id. at 3. Lorona noted that he faced  ethical dilemma 
because Petitioner  not   to present  
mitigation,  he believed he had  obligation to 
argue against a death sentence. Id.  4. 

A t the outset of the mit igat ion hearing  
September 28,  Lorona again asked the court to 
determine whether Petitioner  competent to waive 
his right to present mit igat ing evidence. RT 9/28/01  
2. Lorona noted that "some   passed since 
Petitioner's Rule  evaluations, when the court 
determined that he was competent to plead guilty and 
assist counsel; since that time Petitioner   

 by defense experts    expert for the 



 

State, Dr.  Lang. Id. at 3. Lorona also informed 
the court that based on his contact and discussions 
w i t h Petitioner, and Lisa Christianson's interactions 
w i t h Petitioner, he believed that Petitioner was 
competent to make a decision about the presentation of 
mi t iga t ing evidence. Id. at 3-4. 

The court stated that i t would first make a 
determination as to Petitioner's competence to waive 
mit igat ion; i t would then determine whether to accept 
the waiver. Id. at 9. The State called Dr. Lang to 
testify regarding Petitioner's competence. Id. at 12—13. 
Her testimony also addressed potential mi t iga t ing 
circumstances. Id. at 41—55. 

Dr. Lang, a forensic psychologist who regularly 
performed Rule 11 competency evaluations, testified 
tha t she met w i t h Petitioner for approximately 11 or 
12 hours on three separate days during the week 
before the hearing. RT 9/28/01 at 13-15. She also 
reviewed the reports of Drs. Potts, Sindelar, Scialli, 
and Deming; information from Correctional Heal th 
Services regarding Petitioner's medical history; his 
wr i t t en communications w i t h j a i l personnel and his 
disciplinary  and police reports from the crimes. 
Id. at 43-44. Dr. Lang was aware that Drs. Scialli, 
Sindelar, and Potts had found Petitioner competent. 
Based on her recent contact w i t h Petitioner, she did 
not disagree w i t h their assessments and believed that 
Petitioner's condition had not changed since their 
evaluations. Id. at 18-19. 

Dr. Lang conducted a general psychological 
evaluation of Petitioner "to determine his psychological 
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and intellectual functioning." Id. at 41-42. Although 
the examination  not specifically a competency 
evaluation, Dr. Lang observed nothing to indicate that 
Petitioner was  Id.  14-16. Petitioner 

 no difficulty performing the psychological tests 
that she asked  to complete. Id. at 16. He appeared 
to understand the   the proceedings and the 
roles of the various parties involved, and there was  
indication that he  mentally unable to   
decision concerning the charges against him. Id.  15— 
17. 

Dr. Lang administered   test and the 
Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory 

 Id. at 44-45. Petitioner scored a 106 on the 
 test, placing h im  i n the  range. Id. at 

46. Dr. Lang diagnosed Petitioner w i t h antisocial 
personality disorder, based on his M M P I results and 
his history of violent, aggressive, and illegal activities, 

 w i t h polysubstance abuse. Id. at 44-46. 

Dr. Lang noted no impairments i n Petitioner's 
cognitive functioning. Id. at 46-47. She found no 
evidence that he was suffering from delusions when 
she interviewed h im or at the time of the crime. Id  
47. Although Petitioner mentioned his belief  the 
CIA was tracking him, Dr. Lang concluded that his 
behavior during the offense, including lur ing the victim 
to Petitioner's residence, was inconsistent w i th having 
paranoid delusional disorder. Id. at 47-48. Instead, 
Petitioner offered Dr.  a different explanation for 
leading Reynolds to his  Reynolds needed to 
be taught a lesson for propositioning Petitioner's 

 Id.  49-50. Dr. Lang noted that  
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explanation "is not consistent w i t h delusional process." 
Id. at 49. Petitioner also told Dr. Lang that he in i t i a l ly 
considered beating Reynolds and then releasing h im 
but got carried away. Id . at 53. 

Petitioner was able to recall the crime i n detail, and 
during the offenses he displayed logic, decision­
making, and planning skills. Id. at 49-50.  to 
Dr. Lang, this was consistent w i t h Petitioner having 
"perfectly fine" cognitive functioning during the 
offense. Id. at 49. Moreover, Dr. Lang concluded that 
Petitioner's  to appreciate the  of 
his conduct or conform his conduct w i t h the 
requirements of the law was not impaired, because he 
engaged i n behaviors during the  that 
demonstrated his understanding of the law. Id. at 54-

 For example, he attempted to evade capture by 
disposing of Reynolds' vehicle and by mut i la t ing 
Reynolds' body to hide its identity. Id . 

Dr. Lang noted that Petitioner used 
methamphetamine on the day of the Reynolds murder, 
which would l ikely have caused feelings of euphoria, 
power, and energy,' i t also could have led h i m to 
become aggressive and paranoid. Id. at 52—53. 
Petitioner told Dr. Lang that he believed the 
methamphetamine may have contributed to his getting 
carried away while beating Reynolds. Id. at 53. 

Based on Dr. Lang's testimony and the reports the 
t r i a l court had previously reviewed, the court found 
that Petitioner was "competent to assist counsel, to 
understand the nature of these proceedings," and to 
"waive the r ight to mitigation" and "the r igh t to 
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present evidence." Id. at 20;  240. 

A t  point, the  took a break to review the 
caselaw  decide whether i t could compel the defense 
to present mit igat ing evidence. Id.   After the 

 the court ruled that, because  had 
conducted a mitigation investigation  shared the 
resulting information w i t h Petitioner, Petitioner had 
made  knowing  intelligent waiver  the 
presentation  mit igat ing evidence. Id. at 24. The 
court then addressed Petitioner directly to determine 
whether he wished to waive mitigation: 

COURT:  you discuss the matters w i t h your 
counsel, the information   produced as a 

 of the mit igat ion search? 

DEFENDANT: I have copies of everything. And I 
have  everything. 

  knowing what  information is do 
 desire not to present  evidence  your 

own behalf? 

DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am. That  my  

 You understand this is a capital case? 

DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am. 

COURT:  that u n t i l I have al l of the pieces, I 
don't know  I have. And  any evidence 

  considered. And  evidence  be 
considered by this Court, There  no evidentiary 



C-65 

 for mitigation evidence. By that I mean 
the Rules of Evidence are relaxed. And i t is not as 
though I would not consider certain matters. I 
would consider everything. Do you understand 
that? 

D E F E N D A N T : Yes, ma'am. 

COURT: To your  was this investigation 
as complete as i t could reasonably be? 

D E F E N D A N T : Yes, I believe so. 

COURT: And is i t your desire that counsel not 
present this evidence i n this hearing? 

D E F E N D A N T : That is true. 

Id. at  

Lorona then informed the court that Petitioner did 
not even want h im to submit the doctors' reports and 
other mi t iga t ing evidence to the  as an offer of 
proof to  sealed for future use. Id. at 26-27. The 
court continued: 

[T]his Court further finds that there is no failure 
of counsel to uphold  duty to the defendant. 
The Court finds that there has been no ineffective 
assistance of counsel i n preparing for sentencing; 
that the preparation of counsel has allowed the 
client to make a knowing and intell igent waiver 
and not simply a tactical waiver. 
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And  where the waiver is k n o w i n g  
intelligent the Court w i l l not compel the 
defendant to testify. He has a Fifth  
r ight not to testify.  has that right n o t to testify 
directly  indirectly through other  
Therefore, the Court w i l l not require counsel to 
seal, as i n the manner of  offer  proof,  
that evidence  have been. 

This  w i l l not guess what the weight  
that evidence might have been  the decision 
that this Court w i l l make. Rather i t is the 
obligation of the Court to determine that the 
waiver was knowing and intelligent a n d that the 
assistance of counsel has   an appropriate 
level. 

And having made those determinations  the 
affirmative, there is  further basis to seal those 
items. 

Id. at 27-28. 

The  confirmed w i t h Petitioner that by not 
sealing the items,  would be omit ted from the 
record. Petitioner stated  he understood. Id.  29-
30. 

The court then asked the State to present 
mit igat ing evidence on Petitioner's behalf. Id.  31. 
The prosecutor reminded the t r ia l court  Petitioner 
and his co-defendants were using methamphetamine at 
the  of the Reynolds murder. Id. at 32. The 
prosecutor offered materials from Petitioner's previous 
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Rule 11 evaluations. Id. at 32-33. Lorona  not object 
because the Rule 11 reports had already been 
admitted. Id. at 34-38. The prosecutor also sought to 
introduce biographical information about Petitioner 
gathered by the mitigation specialist, hospital records 
from Indiana and Arkansas, and Dr. Deming's report. 
Id. at 33. Lorona advised the court that Petitioner 
wanted h i m to object to the admission of that evidence. 
Id. at 34-38. 

The court  that Petitioner's "meaningful 
waiver and assertion of privacy" would be violated i f i t 
were to admit and consider evidence that the 
prosecutor had obtained from the defense through 
discovery. Id. at 40-41. The court concluded that i t 
would consider the Rule  evaluations  not the 
items prepared by defense experts and the mit igat ion 
specialist. Id. at 37-41. The State then presented 
testimony from Dr. Lang i n support of possible 
mi t iga t ing circumstances. 

On October 24, 2001, Lorona filed a sentencing 
memorandum challenging the aggravating factors 

 by the state and arguing i n support of the 
 mi t iga t ing factor. ROA 244. Lorona contended 

that Petitioner's capacity to appreciate the 
wrongfulness of his conduct or to conform his conduct 
to the requirements of the law was significantly 
impaired because at the t ime of the crime he had been 
using methamphetamine continuously and had been 
"up for several days." Id. at 5. I n accordance w i t h 
Petitioner's wishes, however, Lorona restricted his 
sentencing memorandum to information that was 
already part of the record. Id . 
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 October 30, the parties again appeared in court. 
Lorona informed the  that he  "done some 
more research  [his] duties  obligations"  
had decided that   his "duty, obligation as a 
lawyer, to argue for  RT 10/30/01 at 3. He  
that he  not "advocate the death penalty  
[Petitioner's] behalf, no matter what." Id. 

A t the conclusion of the hearing, the judge allowed. 
Petitioner to address the court, Petitioner made the 
following statement regarding his waiver of mitigation 
and  desire for the death  

I wanted the Court to know that I have  a 
supporter of the death penalty al l of my life, and 
raised my sons w i t h that knowledge, as well .  
fact,  w ish the death  were expanded to 
cover  i t use [sic] to i n the form  rapists  
child molesters. That   belief. 

And I don't th ink that    this situation 
would change that belief. A n d i t hasn't. 

And I  asking the  to go ahead  
proceed, and give me the death  because I 
do not desire life  prison. 

M y children, my two sons, have grieved  six 
years already w i t h me being i n here.  my 
circumstances where I have been  solitary 
lockdown for six years w i t h very l i t t le contact. 

And I  the grieving to  for my  
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family. 

RT 10/30/01 at 10-11. 

Petitioner then  the circumstances of the 
murders. He informed the court that i n the in ter im 
between the Eggert and Reynolds murders, he and 
Becky Rohrs had broken up and she had stayed w i t h 
Betty Gross. Id. at 12-13. According to Petitioner, 
during that time Rohrs was free to contact the police 
about the Eggert murder. Id. Petitioner also explained 
that he had ki l led Eggert because Eggert had 
threatened his stepdaughter and a woman he was 
dating, and that Rohrs had agreed w i t h his plan to k i l l 
Eggert. Id. Petitioner further noted that during the 
Reynolds kidnapping and murder, a l l of his co-
defendants had the opportunity to release Reynolds 
when Petitioner was not present. Id. at 15. He also 
contended that his co-defendants had lied about details 
of the Reynolds murder during their testimony. Id. at 
17-18. 

(2) Postconviction proceedings 

I n his PCR petition, Petitioner raised a claim of 
ineffective assistance of counsel consisting of numerous 
specific allegations. (Doc. 31, Ex. 39 at 7-9, 19-21.) 
The PCR court held a lengthy evidentiary hearing, 
focusing on Petitioner's allegation that counsel 
performed ineffectively w i t h respect to Petitioner's 
competence to waive mit igat ion. 

Drs. Scialli and Potts testified about their 
competency evaluations of Petitioner. Both stated that 
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a person's competence  change over  RT 
4/28/08  25; RT 5/14/08 at 12, Dr. Scialli testified 
that a different assessment would be required to 
measure competency to waive mit igat ion  opposed to 
competency to stand t r ia l . RT 4/28/08 at 26. He would 
have recommended that Petitioner undergo a  
evaluation prior to his waiver  mitigation. Id.  29. 
Neither Dr. Scialli nor Dr. Potts  contact  
Petitioner after December 1999. 

Dr. Potts noted i n his December  competency 
evaluation that Petitioner's delusional beliefs had not 
changed from the time  his first competency 
screening. RT 5/14/08 at 49. When questioned about 
Petitioner's "attempted suicide," which occurred prior 
to the December  evaluation, Dr. Potts testified 
that information regarding the   have 
been "helpful to know"  making a determination  to 
Petitioner's competence to waive mitigation. Id. at 21. 
Dr. Potts stated that he had no "independent 
recollection" of  collateral information  received 
from Lorona,   that  was no evidence  
his file  that he been informed about 
Petitioner's suicide  prior to the second 
evaluation. Id. at  

Dr. Lang also  She stated that she was not 
specifically asked to evaluate Petitioner's competence 
to waive mit igat ion. RT 5/1/08 at 19. She testified, 
however, that according to her evaluation Petitioner's 
mental condition did   his decision-making 
processes. Id.  44. Dr. Lang indicated that  
evaluating Petitioner prior to sentencing she had 
reviewed collateral material including his  



 

disciplinary and medical records. Id. at 25, 56. She 
could not recall whether that material included reports 
about Petitioner's suicide attempt. Id. at 68. 

Holly Wake, who preceded Linda Christianson as 
Petitioner's mit igat ion specialist, testified about her 
relationship w i t h Lorona and Petitioner. RT 4/30/08 at 
117—18. She  stated that Lorona was "nonaccessible" 
and that she resigned from the defense team out of 
frustration w i t h Lorona's lack of involvement i n the 
case. Id. at 132-38. She acknowledged, however, that 
her resignation letter referred only to Petitioner's 
refusal to cooperate w i t h her investigation. Id. at 156. 
Wake also testified that Petitioner expressed paranoid 
thoughts about government agents monitoring his 
activities. Id. at 130-32. Petitioner's ex-wife told Wake 
that after his father's death Petitioner's mental 
condition had deteriorated greatly due to his 
methamphetamine addiction. Id. at 155-56. 

Lisa Christianson likewise testified about her work 
w i t h Lorona and her relationship w i t h Petitioner. RT 
4/28/08 at 36-38. Christianson stated that she took 
over Petitioner's case from Wake, who had quit because 
she found Petitioner "extremely difficult to work with ." 
Id. at 64. Dur ing her involvement i n the case, 
Christianson received correspondence from Lorona 
directing her to investigate Petitioner's chronic 
methamphetamine use. Id. at 66. She also received 
numerous letters from Lorona asking her to contact 
h i m and requesting that she investigate various 
aspects of Petitioner's case. Id. at 65—80. 

Christianson  that   Petitioner 
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about t he meaning of mit i gat  and explained how the 
presentation of mit igat ing evidence could help him. Id. 

 46. Petitioner, however, was reluctant to provide her 
w i t h information about his family, making  difficult 
for her to contact family members. Id . at 39-40, 4 9 . 
Dur ing their conversations, Christianson "was 
constantly t ry ing to encourage [Petitioner]," explaining 
"the importance of presenting" evidence about his 
paranoid mental state  its effect  his conduct and 
"how that  relevant and how the judge needed to 
know that." Id. at 46. Nonetheless, Petitioner remained 

 about the   this  couldn't 
get out, because not only would he   risk, but. he 
would be r isking his family." Id. I n addition to concern 
for his family's safety, Petitioner also indicated to 

 that he had  difficulties w i t h 
 staff and other inmates and "thought his life was i n 

 i f he   to serve  the general 
population  the Arizona Department of Corrections"; 
therefore "he would rather  sentenced to death and 
he would not allow mitigation to be presented   
could   guaranteed an out-of-state transfer." Id. 
at 84. 

Despite Petitioner's reluctance,  
conducted a mit igat ion investigation, during which she 
obtained Petitioner's medical records   
Drs.   Deming to evaluate Petitioner. Id.  
48—49, 51—52. Christianson then wrote a  mitigation 
report, the contents of which she discussed w i t h 
Petitioner. Id. at 52, 57. 

Christianson also   she was concerned 
 Peti tioner's lack of access to defense counsel  
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her own difficulty i n contacting Lorona. Id. at 44—45. 
However, she did inform Lorona that there was strong 
mit igat ion evidence. Id. at 56. 

Jeff Bachtle, the defense investigator, also 
described his work w i t h Lorona and  RT 
4/29/08 at 10-12. Bachtle testified that the defense 
operated as a team, and that he was the person who 
received discovery and reviewed issues w i t h Petitioner 
at the j a i l . Id. at 14. Bachtle, Lorona, co-counsel Gitre, 
and sometimes the mit igat ion specialist met regularly 
to discuss Petitioner's defense and to ensure that  
expert witnesses received the documents they needed 
to evaluate Petitioner. Id. at 42. Bachtle visited 
Petitioner i n the j a i l more than 20 times. Id. at 17—21. 

Bachtle explained that Petitioner had numerous 
problems w i t h other inmates and had been labeled a 
"snitch" by co-defendant Dezarn. Id. at 21—34. 
Petitioner told Bachtle that his cellmate once tr ied to 
shank h im. Id. at 24-25. Given the troubles he was 
experiencing i n  Petitioner wanted to plead guilty 
and get the death penalty because he would have a 
longer life on death row. Id. at 33—36. Petitioner also 
indicated that he "didn't want his family's name to be 
drug through the mud. Didn't want the victim's family 
to be drug through the mud or relive the death of a 
family member." Id. at 28-29; see id. at 38. I n addition, 
Petitioner did not want mit igat ion specialist Wake 
"talking to his family and digging into his past" and 
was "very adamant" that no one t a lk to his mother. Id. 
at 41 .  Petitioner wanted the death penalty so 
that his family could move on w i t h their lives. Id. at 
41-42. 
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Bachtle described Petitioner as "very demanding" 
and heavily involved i n the proceedings, providing 
details of the case  asking to review evidence. Id. at 
44-45. Petitioner called Bachtle three to four times 
each week  sometimes several times a day. Id. at 
44. According to Bachtle, Petitioner was able to 
"understand and comprehend" their conversations. Id. 

Bachtle testified that  always addressed  
concerns and suggestions quickly. Id. at 49. Bachtle did 
not perceive any "breakdown  duties" on the defense 
team; rather,  had  job to do, and to the 
best of my knowledge, they  did their job." Id.  50. 
Bachtle stated that Lorona never  h i m not do to do 
something  Petitioner's case because i t would  too 
expensive or time-consuming. Id. at 51 . 

Lorona  at the evidentiary hearing. He 
believed that Petitioner's decision to waive mitigation 
was knowing  voluntary "based  what he told 
me and the rationale he gave me." Id.  83. He also 
felt that Petitioner's "justification was reasonable." Id. 

 84. Petitioner's "vehement" desire not to present 
mit igat ion caused  "ethical dilemma" for Lorona, 
who felt he had a "duty to put  mitigation." Id. Thus, 
although he  w i t h Petitioner's instructions not 
to present the reports  Shaw, Deming,  
Christianson, Lorona  a sentencing 
memorandum on Petitioner's  Id. at 84—85. 

Lorona testified that,  on the findings of Drs. 
Potts, Scialli, and Sindelar,  had no reason to believe 
that Petitioner was  Id.  82-84. He also 
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 not believe, based on those reports, Dr. Lang's 
evaluation, and his personal contact w i t h Petitioner, 
that Petitioner's competence had diminished  the 
t ime of the Rule  examinations. Id. at 86-87, 108-10, 
140-43. Al though Lorona only visited Petitioner i n j a i l 
five or six times, he  to Petitioner on the phone 
approximately two to three times each week, 
communicated by mail , and had contact w i t h 
Petitioner during court appearances. Id. at 110, 129-
30. Lorona further testified that he, along w i t h Wake 
and Christianson, explained the concept of mit igat ion 
to Petitioner, who appeared to understand. Id. at 86. 
He also stated that he provided the Rule  examiners 
w i t h whatever information they requested. Id. 

Lorona reiterated that when Petitioner decided to 
plead guilty, he also wanted to receive the death 
penalty. Id. at 127—28.  Given Petitioner's desire to 
plead guilty, Lorona recognized that sentencing would 
be the central issue i n the case and to that end he 
retained a mit igat ion specialist at an earlier point than 
was typical i n capital cases. Id. at 126—27. Lorona 
testified that he was "always focused on mitigation." 
Id. at 127. 

I t was Petitioner's desire for the death penalty that 
prompted Lorona to move for  Rule 11 
examinations. Id. at 103, 128, 139. Petitioner 
explained to Lorona that he wanted to spare his family 
and the victims' families the pain of a t r i a l and was 
t i red of having problems w i t h inmates i n the j a i l . Id. 
According to Lorona, Petitioner was aware that the 
t r i a l judge had never sentenced a defendant to death; 
thus, because Petitioner wanted "to ensure that he 
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would receive the death penalty," he "compelled 
[Lorona] to voir dire Judge  to ensure  she 
would give h im the death penalty." Id.  131. 

Lorona acknowledged that throughout the case 
Petitioner expressed fringe beliefs about the  and 
the Buddhist temple murders. Id.   However, 
these beliefs were circumscribed  had  altered or 
expanded since the time of the Rule  examinations. 
Id.  141-42. Petitioner  not appear to have 
acquired any delusions beyond those he   the 
t ime he was found competent i n 1999. Id. at 149. 

Lorona also  that there was a period when 
Petitioner expressed a desire to investigate and 
present mit igat ing evidence. Id. at 121-22, 155-56. 
Subsequently, however, Petitioner changed  mind 
and again decided to  mitigation. Id. at  

Following the evidentiary hearing, the   
denied Petitioner's ineffective assistance  counsel 
claim. (Doc. 32, Ex. 93.) The court concluded that 
Petitioner  not proved    prejudiced by 
counsel's performance: 

The procedure that  H u t t used to 
determine  defendant's  to waive 
mit igat ion was knowing, intelligent,  
voluntary  recently upheld by the United 
States Supreme Court  Schriro v. Landrigan, 
127 S. Ct. 1933 (2007). Moreover, defendant's 
understanding of the significance of mitigation 
and certainty  not presenting any was  
less clear or unequivocal than was upheld i n 
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Schriro. Id. at 1942. Because defendant offered no 
testimony at the Rule 32.8 hearing, no evidence 
was proffered, presented, or [sic] to show that 
defendant was precluded, deluded, truncated, 
tricked, cajoled, or threatened into waiving 
mit igat ion. 

Interspersed throughout defense counsel's Rule 
32 pleadings and Rule 32.8 presentation is the 
stated and implied argument that the strongest 
proof of defendant's incompetence is that he 
waived mit igat ion. The fallacy of this argument is 
the case law that recognizes that a defendant who 
decides to waive mit igat ion can s t i l l be competent 
and, i n fact, has the r ight to waive mit igat ion 
even over his counsel's better judgment. As stated 
by the United States Supreme Court, neither 
Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510  nor 
Strickland addresses the situation i n which a 
client interferes w i t h counsel's effort to present 
mi t iga t ing evidence to a sentencing court. Schriro, 
at 1942. More significantly, the Supreme Court 
held "that a defendant who refused to allow the 
presentation of any mit iga t ing evidence could not 
establish Strickland prejudice based on his 
counsel's failure to investigate further mi t iga t ing 
evidence." Schriro, at 1942. 

While defendant's Rule 32 counsel have attacked 
Mr . Lorona's performance as deficient, they have 
provided no new evidence that would have caused 
Judge Hu t t to re-consider her weighing of 
aggravating factors and mit igat ing circumstances, 
and finding that death was the appropriate 



 8 

sentence. Similarly, they have provided no new 
 that would have caused the Supreme 

Court to re-consider their de novo weighing of 
aggravating factors and mitigating circumstances, 
and finding  death was the appropriate 
sentence. 

 the present case, no new mitigat ing evidence 
was proven or proffered. No evidence, no affidavit, 
no testimony was proffered  the Rule 32.8 
hearing by defendant that he  duped, tricked, 
misinformed, misled, deluded, or coerced by Mr . 
Lorona  by his mental condition  any time 
before sentencing into waiving mit igat ion or 

 Mr.  from presenting mitigation. 

 t heir Closing Brief, defense counsel state, " In 
light of the mitigation evidence that could have 

 presented  was not, there is a reasonable 
probability  [defendant]  not have been 
sentenced to death." To the extent that 
defendant's Rule  claim is that t r i a l counsel 
failed to more effectively present  at the 
time of the 1995 murders, the claim is 
insufficient.  Judge Hut t and the Supreme 
Court considered the mental health  
reports touching on defendant's 1995 state  

 despite defendant's objection to do so. 

There was  evidence presented or proffered  
the Rule  hearing  defendant's  
mental condition deprived  of the abil i ty to 
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differentiate r ight from wrong. As stated recently 
in State v. Boggs, 218 Ariz . 325 (2008), without a 
causal l i nk between the murders and a 
defendant's mental health issues, these 
mit iga t ing circumstances are entit led to less 
weight. Boggs,  96; Bee also, Belmontes v. Ayers, 
529 F.3d 834, 861-64 (9th Cir. 2008) (inadequacy 
of habeas counsel's mi t igat ing circumstances 
evidence) 

CONCLUSION 

Defendant has failed to produce evidence that 
his competence at the time of waiving mit igat ion 
had deteriorated from the time when Doctors 
Sindelar, Scialli, and Potts deemed h im 
competent at the t ime of his change of plea. 
Nothing i n the record, or evidence presented 
during the evidentiary hearing shows that 
defendant's delusions or belief system changed 
from the time of his competency evaluations to the 
time of sentencing. 

On  occasion that defendant and Judge Hu t t 
interacted directly, defendant was responsive and 
appropriate. Defendant repeatedly assured the 
t r i a l court at both the plea and sentencing that he 
understood the proceedings as wel l as the 
consequences. 

The t r i a l court found that defendant was 
competent at the t ime he decided to waive 
mitigation. The t r i a l court found that defendant's 
decision to waive mit igat ion was knowingly and 
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voluntari ly  No evidence has been  
to undermine the t r i a l court's findings.  

 defendant has the right to ignore the 
intelligent advice  his counsel. 

Because defendant has failed to meet the 
prejudice prong  Strickland, any  by 
this Court regarding  counsel's performance 
would  dicta. 

(Id. at 16-17.) 

(3) Claim 4 

Petitioner alleges that t r i a l counsel performed  a 
constitutionally ineffective level w i t h  to 
Petitioner's competency to waive   the 
investigation and presentation of mit igat ing evidence. 
(Doc. 35 at 137.) Respondents concede that this claim 
is exhausted. 

Clearly established  law 

The r ight to effective assistance  counsel applies 
not just to the guilt phase but "with equal force at  
penalty  of a bifurcated  t r ia l ."  v. 
Woodford, 279   836 (9th Cir. 2002) (quoting 

 v. Lewis, 64 F.3d, 1373. 1378 (9th Cir. 
1995)).  assessing whether counsel's performance 
was deficient under Strickland, the test is whether 
counsel's actions were objectively reasonable at the 

 of the decision. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689-90. 
The question is "not whether another lawyer, w i t h the 
benefit of hindsight, would have acted differently, but 



 

 counsel made errors so serious that counsel 
was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed the 
defendant by the Sixth  Babbitt v. 
Calderon, 151 F.3d 1170, 1173 (9th Cir. 1998) (quoting 
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687). 

W i t h respect to prejudice at sentencing, the 
Strickland Court explained that "[w]hen a defendant 
challenges a death sentence . ,  the question  
whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent 
the errors, the sentencer ... would have concluded that 
the  of aggravating and mit igat ing 
circumstances did not warrant death." 466 U.S. at 695. 
I n Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 534 (2003),' the 
Court noted that " [ i ]n assessing prejudice, we reweigh 
the evidence i n aggravation against the tota l i ty of 
available mi t iga t ing evidence." The total i ty of the 
available evidence includes "both that adduced at t r ia l , 
and the evidence adduced i n the  proceeding." 
Id. at 536 (quoting Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. at 
397-98). Recently, the Court reiterated that 
"Strickland places the burden on the defendant, not the 
State, to show a 'reasonable probability' that the result 
would have been different." Belmontes, 130 S.Ct. at 
390-91. 

Analysis 

Petitioner raises numerous  allegations i n 
support of Claim 4. He contends that Lorona "should 
have been aware of facts" that would, have raised a 
reasonable doubt about Petitioner's competency to 
waive  misled the court by representing that 
he "had enough interactions w i t h [Petitioner] and 
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knowledge of his delusional disorder to opine  his 
  not "explain the concept of mitigating 

evidence to Petitioner or attempt to dissuade h i m from 
waiving mitigation evidence";  to secure  
independent competency evaluation; failed to provide 
the court-appointed mental health experts wi th 
"relevant documents   regarding his 
relationship w i t h his client and his client's  
failed to secure a "complete social history  
Petitioner"; presented mit igat ion in a "half-hearted 
manner"; and "successfully  substantial 
evidence regarding competency  mitigation." (Doc. 

 at 137-38.) Petitioner asserts  he was 
prejudiced because, i f    more 
evidence regarding Petitioner's mental  he 
l ikely would have  found incompetent and received 
a life sentence. (Id. at 138.) 

None of these allegations entitle Petitioner to relief. 
The record does not support   that Lorona 
was unaware of or misrepresented Petitioner's mental 
condition,  Petitioner was not competent to waive 
mit igat ion, that his waiver was not knowing and 
voluntary, or  the defense team  not investigate 

 prepare a case  mitigation. 

As an in i t i a l matter, there is no dispute that a 
defendant may waive the presentation of mit igat ing 
evidence.   v.  the United 
States Supreme  held  no constitutional 
violat ion  when a  was allowed to 
waive a l l  evidence after repeated warnings 
from the judge   from counsel. 494 U.S. 299, 
306 & n. 4 (1990). 
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Petitioner's pr imary contention is that t r i a l counsel 
performed ineffectively by fai l ing to argue that 
Petitioner was not competent to waive mit igat ion. He 
asserts tha t as a result of this failure, his waiver was 
not knowing and intelligent. These arguments are 
 

As previously noted, the standard for competence to 
stand t r i a l , plead guil ty, or waive the r igh t to counsel 
is whether the defendant has "sufficient present ability 
to consult w i t h his lawyer w i t h a reasonable degree of 
rat ional understanding" along w i t h "a ra t ional as well 
as factual understanding of the proceedings  
h im." Dusky, 362 U.S. at 402; see Godinez v.  
509 U.S. at 396, 399-401. While some courts have used 
this standard to determine competency to waive 
mit igat ion, see Wood v. Quarterman,  F.3d 196, 204 
(5th Cir. 2007); Coleman v. Mitchell, 244 F.3d 533, 545 
(6th Cir. 2001), the Supreme Court i n Landrigan 
explained that i t  "never imposed an 'informed and 
knowing' requirement upon a defendant's decision not 
to introduce evidence" and has "never required a 
specific colloquy to ensure that a defendant knowingly 
and intel l igently refused to present mit igat ing 
evidence." Landrigan, 550 U.S. at 479. 

As previously recounted, when Petitioner decided to 
plead guil ty, Lorona moved for an evaluation of his 
competency. Following Dr. Potts' pre-screening 
competency evaluation, two court appointed experts 
evaluated Petitioner. Drs. Scialli and Sindelar 

 that Petitioner was competent while noting 
his fringe beliefs and his chronic methamphetamine 
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addiction. Immediately before Petitioner pled guilty, 
Lorona moved for  t h i rd competency evaluation. Dr. 
Potts found that there had  no changes since his 
last evaluation and concluded that Petitioner was 
competent to weigh his options  assist his attorney. 
Dr. Potts further opined that Petitioner's delusions and 
paranoia were circumscribed and had minimal bearing 
on the proceedings. 

 Petitioner decided to waive mitigation, 
Lorona requested  the court make a determination 

 his competence even though  believed  
Petitioner was   making this request 
Lorona noted that Petitioner had already   
competent  three court-appointed experts and by Dr. 
Lang and that, based  his  the defense team's 
contact w i t h Petitioner, there was no  to question 
his competency. Lorona did not perform ineffectively i n 
making this representation to the court.  was 
entitled to rely  the findings of the experts  
reaching his opinion of Petitioner's competence. See 
Moran v. Godinez, 57  at 699-700 ("Because 
counsel could rely  the psychiatrists' reports  
Moran was competent to stand tr ia l ,  was 
unnecessary for them to investigate his competence to 
plead guilty, waive counsel  forego the presentation 
of mi t igat ing evidence."), superceded on other grounds 
by AEDPA; see also Taylor v. Horn, 504 at 438-39 
(rejecting claim  counsel performed ineffectively i n 
not seeking competency evaluation where counsel 
reasonably relied on two expert evaluations reports 
finding defendant competent);    ski v. Berge. 78 
F.3d 1176, 1182 (7th Cir. 1996) (counsel not ineffective 

 fail ing to seek  competency hearing when defense 
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expert determined defendant was competent). Lorona 
also had a duty of candor to the court and recognized 
tha t the competency issue had to be addressed in l ight 
of Petitioner's insistence  waiving mitigation. 
Counsel's actions i n this regard were not unreasonable. 

Moreover, the record does not support Petitioner's 
assertion that he was i n fact incompetent to waive 
mit igat ion. Dr. Shaw's report did not address the 
competence issue at al l . (Bee id., Ex. 73.) Dr. Deming, 
on whose findings Petitioner p r imar i ly relies for his 
claim that he was incapable of knowingly and 
voluntar i ly waiving mitigation, did not evaluate 
Petitioner's competence but prepared his report for 
mit igat ion purposes, w i t h a focus on Petitioner's 
compromised mental functioning at the time of the 
murders. (Bee Doc. 35, Ex. 87 at 16-20.) By contrast, 
Drs. Potts, Scialli, and Sindelar had evaluated 
Petitioner concerning his competence to waive his 
rights and assist his attorney. I n addition, Dr. Lang, 
who examined Petitioner  before his 
waiver and who was familiar w i t h legal competency 
standards, opined that Petitioner was competent, as 
she had detected no changes i n his mental status since 
the prior evaluations. Dr. Lang found no evidence that 
Petitioner was incompetent or that his cognitive 
functioning was impaired. 

The contents of Dr. Deming's mit igat ion report do 
not alter this court's conclusion that Petitioner was 
competent to waive mitigation. Dr. Deming diagnosed 
Petitioner w i t h delusional disorder, substance abuse 
and dependence, and post-concussion disorder. (Doc. 
35, Ex. 87 at 1, 9.) However, these findings are 
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consistent w i t h those of the Rule 11 experts concerning 
the scope and nature of Petitioner's delusions, (id. at 

   to suggest that Petitioner did not have 
a "a rat ional    factual understanding  the 
proceedings  him." Dusky. 362 U.S. at 402. 

Dr. Deming found that Petitioner's "cognitive 
functioning"  "intact revealing above-average  
by estimate, w i t h a quick flow of thoughts, and no 
hesitation i n answering questions." (Doc. 35, Ex.   
3. ) He noted that Petitioner's memory was  for 
immediate, recent,  remote events, even w i t h 
incredible detail and sophistication of memory." (Id. at 
4. ) Petitioner was able to interpret proverbs "with 
abstraction  the capability  objectivity," and  
"oriented to person, place,  situation." (Id.) There 
was "no evidence of any suicidal ideation"  "no 
acute auditory or visual hallucinations."  Dr. 
Deming noted Petitioner's "tremendous social skills," 
stating that he was  "natural leader,  good 
confidence i n his ability to ta lk  direct other 
people's behavior." (Id.) He found  Petitioner was 
"acutely interested i n making sure he understands 
where people are, where they are going,  how they 
relate to h im at a l l times." (Id.) i n sum, Dr. Deming's 
report is not inconsistent w i t h any  the previous 
evaluations, none  which establish that Petitioner 
lacked the mental capacity to offer a knowing and 
voluntary waiver  the presentation of mit igat ing 
evidence. 

Likewise there is no evidence that Petitioner's 
decision to waive mitigation was uninformed. Prior to 
Petitioner's waiver, members of the defense  
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 w i t h h i m on a regular basis. Lorona spoke to 
Petitioner on the telephone two to three times a week 
and discussed the case w i t h h i m during court 
appearances. Bachtle, the defense investigator, 
routinely visited Petitioner at the  The mit igat ion 
specialists began their investigation i n 1997, met w i t h 
Petitioner regularly, and explained their role i n his 
defense. Bee RT 4/28/08 at 39, 46; Doc. 35, Ex. 85 at 1. 
I n addition, Lorona retained Drs. Shaw and Deming to 
evaluate Petitioner for mit igat ion  they both 
prepared reports discussing Petitioner's background, 
drug problems, and mental state. (Doc. 35, Ex's 73, 74.) 
Linda Christianson also prepared a mit igat ion report. 
(Id., Ex. 14.) 

The record further belies Petitioner's contention 
that as a result of counsel's deficiencies, Petitioner was 
unfamiliar w i t h the concept of  Petitioner's 
letters to Lorona and Bachtle demonstrate that he 
understood the nature and purpose of mit igat ing 
information. He wrote that he believed Lorona's 
infrequent j a i l visits could be used as evidence of 
ineffective assistance and might prove mit igat ing. 
(Doc. 35, Ex. 44.) Dur ing the period before his f inal 
decision to waive mitigation, Petitioner recognized the 
importance of contacting friends and family members 
to speak on his behalf, and i n being evaluated by 
experts to show that he might be prone to "sudden 
violence" or that his methamphetamine addiction 
caused h i m not to understand what he was doing when 
he committed the murders. (Id., Exs. 42, 44.) Bachtle 
wrote a memo to Lorona dated August 30, 1999, i n 
which he noted, "According to Murdaugh, Dr. Potts w i l l 
testify at his mit igat ion hearing that he could NOT 
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control his actions because  the heavy 
methamphetamine addiction." (Id., Ex. 42.) 

I n his colloquy wi th the court, Petitioner stated  
he had received  reviewed  of the mit igat ing 
information, that he believed the information was 
complete, but that he did  want any of i t presented. 
RT 9/28/01 at 25-26. The court found  Petitioner 
knowingly and intelligently waived  right to present 
mi t iga t ing evidence. Id. at 27-28. The court also 
determined  "there is no failure of counsel to 
uphold  duty to the defendant" and "no ineffective 
assistance of counsel i n preparing for sentencing"  
that "the  of counsel has allowed the  
to make  knowing  intelligent waiver and  
simply a tactical waiver." (Id.  27.) 

Moreover, Petitioner  prove  he  
prejudiced by counsel's failure to seek an additional 
mental health examination prior to Petitioner's waiver. 
Petitioner presented  evidence at the PCR 
evidentiary  demonstrating that the t r i a l 
court's findings as to  waiver  mitigation or the 
court's sentencing decision would have  any 
different i f Lorona had sought a new expert evaluation. 
Likewise Petitioner has offered no evidence 
demonstrating that his competence had actually 
deteriorated following the evaluations of Drs. Potts, 
Scialli,  Sindelar. 

Petitioner also contends that counsel failed to 
investigate and prepare a case i n mitigation and that 
this failure prejudiced the defense. Besides being 
rendered moot by Petitioner's decision not to offer 
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mit iga t ing evidence (discussed below), this allegation 
is not supported by the record. Lorona did not fa i l to 
pursue a mit igat ion case or conduct only a truncated 
investigation. Instead, w i t h the aid of a mi t igat ion 
specialist, he undertook a full-scale investigation, 
gathering background information and retaining 
mental health experts. Linda Christianson, i n 
preparing her mitigation report, met w i t h Petitioner 10 
times, reviewed his medical and mi l i t a ry records, 
interviewed his mother, sister, sons, and girlfriend, 
and contacted other family members who refused to be 
interviewed. (Doc. 35, Ex. 85 at 1.) 

Lorona was prepared to present the results of this 
investigation i n the form of Christianson's mit igat ion 
report and the evaluations performed by Drs. Deming 
and Shaw. However, i t was the admission of this 
evidence, along w i t h the supporting j a i l and hospital 
records, to which Petitioner specifically objected. Thus, 
when the prosecutor attempted to offer Dr. Deming's 
report to the court for purposes of mit igation, 
Petitioner directed Lorona to object and to prevent any 
information i n the report from being entered into 
evidence. RT 9/28/01 at 34-38. 

Nevertheless, the t r i a l court at sentencing reviewed 
for mit igat ion purposes the Rule 11 competency 
evaluations, Dr. Lang's testimony, and other evidence 
i n the record. Based on that information, the court 
found that Petitioner's paranoia, mental problems, and 
drug abuse constituted mi t iga t ing circumstances. 
However, balanced against these mi t iga t ing 
circumstances were two weighty aggravating factors. 
Petitioner had been convicted of a separate first degree 
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murder. The k i l l i ng of Reynolds was especially heinous 
or depraved; the crime was senseless, the victim was 
helpless,  Petitioner mutilated the victim's body. 
Bee Van Hook, 130 S. Ct. at 20 (finding defendant 
could not prove prejudice from counsel's failure to 
present more mit igat ing evidence given strong 
aggravating circumstances "[o]n the other side of the 
scales").  the strength of the aggravating factors, 
Petitioner's knowing  voluntary waiver  the 
mit igat ing information uncovered by counsel, and the 
t r i a l court's consideration  the available mitigating 
evidence, Petitioner  show that he was 

 by Lorona's performance at sentencing. 

Furthermore, as the  court noted, relief  
Claim 4 is  by the holding i n Landrigan, 550 
U.S. 465. Petitioner  establish prejudice  
counsel's performance at sentencing because he waived 
the presentation of mit igat ing evidence and thereby 
prevented the t r i a l court from hearing the mitigating 
information procured by Lorona  the defense  

 Landrigan, the petitioner refused to allow 
defense counsel to present the testimony of his  
and b i r th mother  mit igat ing evidence. He also 
interrupted as counsel tried to proffer other evidence 
and told the Arizona t r i a l  that he did not  to 
present any mit igat ing  and to "bring on" the 
death penalty. The  sentenced h i m to death and 
the sentence was    appeal. State v. 
Landrigan, 176 Ariz. 1 (1993). The PCR court rejected 
Landrigan's request for a hearing   his claim 

  was ineffective for fai l ing to conduct 
further investigation into mit igat ing circumstances, 



 

finding that he had instructed counsel at sentencing 
not to present any mit iga t ing evidence at al l . 
Landrigan then filed a federal habeas petit ion. The 
district court denied the peti t ion and refused to grant 
an evidentiary hearing because Landrigan could not 
make out a colorable claim of ineffective assistance of 
counsel. A panel of the N i n t h Circuit  
Landrigan v. Stewart, 272 F.3d  (9th Cir. 2001). 
The en banc N i n t h Circuit  holding  
counsel's performance at sentencing  ineffective. 
441 F.3d 638 (9th Cir. 2006). According to  court, 
Landrigan's "last-minute decision could not excuse 
counsel's failure to conduct an adequate investigation 
prior to sentencing." Id. at 647. The court then 
reiterated its view "that a lawyer's duty to investigate 
[mit igat ing circumstances] is v i r tua l ly absolute, 
regardless of a client's expressed wishes." Id. 

The Supreme Court reversed. Schriro v. Landrigan, 
550 U.S. 465. The Court held that the district court did 
not abuse its discretion i n fai l ing to  an 
evidentiary hearing on Landrigan's claim of 
sentencing-stage ineffectiveness and that the court was 
w i t h i n its discretion i n denying the claim based on 
Landrigan's unwillingness to present mit igat ion 
evidence. Id. at  

Landrigan establishes the standard for evaluating a 
sentencing-stage ineffective  brought 
by a petitioner who directed counsel not to offer a case 
i n mit igat ion.  [the petitioner] issued such an 
instruction, counsel's failure to investigate further 
could not have been prejudicial under  
at  see Owen v. Guida, 549 F.3d 399, 406 (6th Cir. 
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2008) ("a  who interferes wi th her attorney's 
attempts to present mit igat ing evidence cannot  
claim prejudice   the attorney's failure to 

  evidence"); see also Taylor v. Horn, 504 
 at 455 (no Strickland prejudice  petitioner 

refused to allow presentation of mit igat ing evidence); 
Wood  Quarterman, 491 F.3d at 203 ("Neither the 
Supreme  nor this court has ever held   
lawyer provides ineffective assistance by complying 
w i t h the client's  and unambiguous instructions to 
not present evidence."); Lovitt  True,   171, 
179  Cir. 2005) (  is correct to insist tha t a 
client's decision i n this regard should be an informed 
one.   same time,  lawyers were hardly 
ineffective for incorporating their client's wishes into 
their professional  Rutherford  Crosby. 
385 F.3d 1300, 1313-14   2004)  
Strickland the duty is to investigate to a reasonable 

   duty does not include a requirement 
to disregard a mentally competent  sincere  
specific instructions about an area of defense  to 
obtain a court order  defiance of his wishes."); Jeffries 
v. Blodgett, 5 F.3d     1993) 

  Jeffries    to  
evidence  mit igat ion and  discussed  Jeffries 
the ramifications  failing to present the evidence. 
Accordingly, counsel did not deprive Jeffries  effective 
assistance  acquiescing  the la tier's considered 
decision."). Because Petitioner unambiguously 
instructed Lorona not to present a  i n mitigation, 
he was not  by Lorona's  to disobey his 
instructions. 

Conclusion 
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Petitioner has not  that t r i a l counsel 
performed at a constitutionally ineffective level i n his 
handling of the issue of Petitioner's competence to 
waive mit igat ion or i n the investigation and 
presentation of mit igat ing evidence. The record does 
not support the allegation that Lorona failed to take 
Petitioner's mental state into account or that he 
neglected his duties i n preparing for sentencing. 
Further, no prejudice existed because Petitioner chose 
not to present mit igat ing evidence. 

"A defendant cannot be permitted to manufacture a 
winning [ineffective assistance of counsel] claim by 
sabotaging her own defense, or else every defendant 
clever enough to thwar t her own attorneys would be 
able to overturn her sentence on appeal." Owens, 549 
F.3d at 412 (citing Landrigan, 550 U.S. at 475-76). 
This principle applies to Petitioner's case. 

 PCR court's rejection of this claim did not 
represent an unreasonable application of clearly 
established federal law as set forth i n Strickland and 
Landrigan. Therefore, Claim 4 is denied. 

(4) Claims 5, 6, and 7 

I n Claim 5, Petitioner alleges that the t r i a l court 
failed to make an adequate determination of his 
competence to waive mitigation. (Doc. 35 at 156.) I n 
Claim 6, he alleges that he was incompetent when he 
waived mit igat ion and therefore the waiver was not 
knowing and voluntary. (Id.) Respondents contend that 
these claims are procedurally defaulted and barred. 
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(Doc. 38  129.) I n  7, Petitioner alleges  
ineffective assistance of appellate counsel excuses any 
default  Claim 5 or 6. (Doc.   157.) Respondents 
concede that Claim 7  exhausted. (Doc.  at 124.) 

Petitioner raised these claims  his  petition. 
(Doc. 31, Ex. 39 at 16-19, 31-33.) The PCR court  
Claims 5 and 6 precluded under Ariz . R, Crim. P. 
32.2(a)(1) and (3) because they could have been raised 

 direct appeal. (Id., Ex. 98  4-5.) The court 
alternatively held: 

[T]he record demonstrates  defendant  
aware  the mitigation evidence  could be 
presented through Dr. Deming and Dr. Shaw, and 
the mit igat ion specialist,   he decided not 
to present i t after reviewing i t , The t r i a l court 
found that defendant's decision to waive the 
presentation of mit igat ing evidence was 
voluntary, knowing, and intelligent,  that be 
was competent to make that decision  the  

Moreover, even i n the absence  defendant's 
presentation, the t r i a l court, as  was obliged to 
do, considered and  mitigation nonetheless. 
Defendant's claim, therefore, is not   
is summarily   to Rule 32.6(c). 

(Id.) The  court's determination  the claims 
had  waived constitutes  adequate state 
procedural bar.  Smith, 536 U.S. at 860; Ortiz, 149 
F.3d at 931-32; see also Harris. 489 U.S. at 264 n. 10. 

However, as noted, Petitioner alleges 
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ineffectiveness of appellate counsel as cause to excuse 
the default. To establish ineffective assistance of 
counsel on appeal, Petitioner must show that counsel's 
performance was deficient and that the deficiency 
resulted i n prejudice. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687,' 
Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 396 (1985) (recognizing 
the r ight to effective assistance of counsel for a first 
appeal  of r ight) . To establish prejudice, Petitioner 
must show that there is a "reasonable probability" 
that, absent counsel's errors, the result of the appeal 
would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694,' 
see Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259 (2000);  v. 
Gibson, 278 F.3d 1044, 1057 (10th Cir. 2001) ("When 
considering a claim of ineffective assistance  
appellate counsel for failure to raise an issue,  look 
to the merits of the omitted issue."); Bailey v.  
263 F.3d 1022,   Cir. 2001). Thus, the 
court w i l l assess the merits of Claims 5 and 6 to 
determine whether, i f they had been raised on appeal, 
there is a reasonable probability they would have been 
successful. 

Petitioner contends i n  5 that the t r i a l court 
failed to make an adequate determination that he was 
competent to waive mitigation. The court disagrees. A t 
the t ime of the waiver, the t r i a l court had no 
information supporting a bona fide doubt about 
Petitioner's competence and therefore was not 
obligated to undertake a more thorough competency 
determination. 

The court had been provided w i t h three Rule 11 
reports indicating that Petitioner was competent to 
stand t r i a l and plead guilty. The court further heard 
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the testimony of Dr. Lang, who opined that Petitioner 
was competent to waive mitigation.  also 
informed the     no reason to question 
Petitioner's competence. 

As discussed above, Petitioner  not  
"extremely erratic    during the 
course of t r ia l . " Boag, 769 F.2d at 1344. To the 
contrary, the  judge  observed Petitioner  
court over a period of several years. He consistently 
engaged i n rational colloquies w i t h the court, including 
at the t ime  his guilty pleas and when he waived 
mit igat ion. Petitioner did  have a "lengthy histor[y] 

 acute psychosis  psychiatric treatment." Id. 
Instead, the record indicated only one previous 
hospitalization for mental health issues,  incident 
caused by drug abuse  resolved as the effects  the 
drugs  Finally, the  again notes  
under Landrigan,  assuming that a waiver of 
mi t iga t ing evidence  be knowing  voluntary, 
no specific colloquy was needed to establish  valid 
waiver. 550 U.S. at 479. 

Petitioner's arguments  Claim 6, alleging that he 
was   he waived mitigation, are 

 unavailing. As set forth above,  is Petitioner's 
burden to prove incompetence. He has failed to  
that burden. The record reflects that the state court's 
competency determination was not unreasonable, and 
Petit ioner has failed to rebut that determination  
clear and convincing evidence. Therefore, his  
that  was incompetent to waive mitigation must fail. 
Bee Demosthenes v. Baal, 495 U.S. at 735. 
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 on this analysis, Claim 7, alleging ineffective 
assistance of appellate counsel due to counsel's failure 
to raise Claims 5 and 6 on appeal, is wi thout merit. 
Because the underlying claims are meritless, 
Petitioner was not prejudiced by appellate counsel's 
failure to raise them. Therefore, appellate counsel's 
performance does not excuse the default. Carrier, All 
U.S. at 492. Claims 5, 6, and 7 are denied. 

C. Conflict of Interest: Claims 12 and 13 

I n Claim 12, Petitioner alleges that t r i a l counsel 
labored under an unconstitutional conflict of interest 
because he represented Petitioner pursuant to a flat-
fee contract w i t h the   35 at 210.) He 
makes the same argument i n Claim 13 w i t h respect to 
appellate counsel. (Id. at 225.) Respondents contend 
that only the Sixth Amendment aspect of Claim 12 is 
exhausted and that Claim 13 is procedurally barred 
because Petitioner failed to state a federal basis for the 
claim i n his petition for review to the Arizona Supreme 
Court. (Doc. 38 at 157-58, 161.) Because Claim 13, like 
Claim 12, is plainly meritless, the Court w i l l deny both 
claims on the merits wi thout addressing their 
procedural status. 

Petitioner raised these claims i n his PCR petition. 
(Doc. 31, Ex. 39 at 21-23, 33.) The PCR court rejected 
them as not colorable, explaining, w i t h respect to t r i a l 
counsel's alleged conflict of interest: 

Defendant seeks Rule 32 relief claiming that 
inadequate public financing of his t r i a l counsel 



 8 

  conflict of interest w i t h his attorney. He 
argues  the funding structure for indigent 
representation created a  Choice for  

 less than  the case required for 
the money paid, or do  the  required, 
some of  would  uncompensated. 

Funding  defendant's case, as w i t h every other 
indigent defendant  Maricopa County not 
represented  a public defender, was 
administered by the Office  Court Appointed 
Counsel (hereinafter  As w i t h every other 
indigent  i n Maricopa County not 

 by a public defender, defendant's 
counsel was  by  fixed fee contract w i t h the 

 Defendant claims  the  of the 
fixed fee contract is   i ts face,  
deprived counsel  the abili ty to adequately 
represent h im. 

Defendant provides no factual support for the 
claim, or specifies anything counsel did not do for 
defendant because  insufficient compensation. 
His claim cynically assumes  any attorney 
w i l l only represent his client to the  he is 

•  paid. Defendant's claim also requires this Court to 
 that OCAC's authorized pay scale is 

inadequate as a    There is no legal 
support for such a claim. 

(Doc. 32, Ex. 98 at 5-6.) Using the same analysis, the 
  Petitioner's claim  appellate 

counsel's performance was affected by a financial 
 of interest. (Id. at 7.) 



C-99 

The PCR court's ru l ing was not contrary to or an 
unreasonable application of clearly established federal 
law, nor was i t based on an unreasonable 
determination of the facts. 

To be entitled to relief on these claims, Petitioner 
must show that the fee arrangement constituted an 
actual conflict of interest. "Under  standard, an 
actual conflict is a conflict that affected counsel's 

 opposed to a mere theoretical division 
of loyalties." United States v. Wells, 394 F.3d 725,  
(9th Cir. 2005) (quoting Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 
162, 171 (2002)); see  Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 
348 (1980)). The N i n t h Circuit has explained that "to 
show adverse effect, a defendant need not demonstrate 

 the outcome of his t r i a l would have 
been different but for the  only tha t some 
plausible alternative defense strategy  tactic  
have been pursued hut was not and that the 
alternative defense was inherently i n conflict w i t h or 
not undertaken due to the attorney's other loyalties or 
interests." Id. at 733 (quotation omitted) (holding that 
a fee arrangement by which co-defendant paid 
defendant's attorney did not adversely affect attorney's 
performance). 

Petitioner has not met this standard. He has shown 
at most that the flat fee arrangement constituted a 
theoretical conflict of interest. I n Williams v. Calderon, 
52 F.3d 1465, 1473 (9th Cir. 1995), , the petitioner 
argued that "the fact that payment for any 
investigation or psychiatric services could have come 
from counsel's pocket forced counsel to choose between 



 

Will iams' interests and his own." Id. The court 
   this situation   of 

constitutional dimension," explaining that  11 
Wil l iams alleges is the same theoretical conflict that 

  an attorney's personal fisc  his 
client's interests i n  pro bono or underfunded 
appointment case. Such arrangements, without more, 
do not require  Amendment scrutiny."  see 
Benin v. Calderon, 59 F.3d 815, 827 (9th Cir. 1995) (no 
actual conflict based on counsel's substitution as 
retained  depriving   state-funded 
investigators and expert witnesses  requiring 
attorney to pay for any investigative experts  of his 
own pocket); United States v. Stitt, 552 F.3d 345, 350-

 (4th  2008) (petitioner failed to show fee 
arrangement  adverse   counsel's 
performance where there was  showing  h i r ing 
out-of-state investigation was plausible, objectively 

  Hand v. Secretary, Dept.  
Corrections, 305 Fed.Appx. 547, 550  Cir. 2008) 
(state court did not unreasonably apply clearly 
established federal law by finding no prejudice where 
defense counsel represented defendant on a fixed fee 
w i t h all costs and expenses to be paid by counsel). 

Petitioner has failed to show  the fixed-fee 
arrangement   adverse effect on counsel's 
performance. Petitioner asserts that the contract 
hindered Lorona's performance and  h im 
from retaining defense experts. Notwithstanding the 
contract, however, the record shows that  hired 
investigators who worked on Petitioner's case 
throughout the guil t phase, hired a mitigation 
specialist early i n the case,  was  by co-



 

counsel. 

Dur ing the PCR evidentiary hearing, Lorona 
acknowledged a dispute w i t h OCAC concerning his fees 
i n Petitioner's case  testified that i t did not affect 

 representation. RT 4/29/08 at 96-97, 116. W i t h 
respect to his statement that he did not hire an 
independent expert to evaluate Petitioner's competency 
to waive mit igat ion because he believed that the OCAC 
would not have  for i t , Lorona clarified that he felt 
the OCAC would not have permitted h im to hire an 
expert who was not on the office's approved list . Id. at 
114-15. Defense investigator Bachtle testified that he 
never perceived any breakdowns on the defense team, 
and that  on the team performed his or her job 
properly. Id.  50. Bachtle further stated that Lorona 
never directed h i m to curtai l his investigation based on 
cost. Id. at 51. While other witnesses, including 
mit igat ion specialist Christianson, see RT 4/28/08 at 
44-45, opined that Lorona neglected his duties, there 
was no indication that these alleged deficiencies were 
due to funding issues. I n sum, Petitioner has not 
demonstrated that any plausible alternative strategy 
or tactic was foregone due to funding issues. 

The same analysis applies to appellate counsel. 
While Petitioner criticizes the brief prepared by 
appellate counsel, he offers no evidence ty ing its 
alleged inadequacies to any funding issues. 

Claims 12 and 13 are wi thout meri t and w i l l be 
denied. 

D. Presentation of Mitigating Evidence: Claims 14. 



 

15, and 16 

Petitioner raises several claims based  the t r i a l 
court's order directing the prosecutor to present 
mit igat ing evidence. I n Claim 14, Petitioner alleges 
tha t   denied his right to conflict-free 
representation because "the advocate who presented 
mi t iga t ing evidence" was also "charged w i t h securing 
the ... death sentence." (Doc. 35 at 233, 239.)   

 he alleges  he  ineffective assistance 
based  t r i a l counsel's failure to challenge the court's 
order. (Id.  246.)  Claim 16, he alleges ineffective 
assistance of appellate  based  counsel's 
failure to raise the issue  appeal. (Id.   
Respondents concede   15 and 16 are 
exhausted but   Claim  is procedurally 
defaulted. Regardless of the procedural status of Claim 
14,  is meritless, as are Claims  and 16. 

As noted above, Petitioner waived mit igat ion  
directed Lorona not to present any evidence.  
response, the t r i a l court directed the prosecution to 
offer any mit igat ing evidence  possessed. Petitioner's 
challenges to this process are unfounded. 

Arizona law specifically provides for the 
presentation of mitigating evidence  the State. As set 
forth  A.R.S. § 13-703(C): 

 the penalty phase of  sentencing proceeding 
tha t is  pursuant to section  the 
prosecution or the defendant may present  
information that  relevant to any of the 
mit igat ing circumstances included  subsection G 



 

of this section, regardless of its admissibility 
under the rules governing admission of evidence 
at cr iminal trials. 

Similarly, A.R.S. § 13-703(G)  states i n relevant 
part, "The tr ier of fact shall consider as mi t iga t ing 
circumstances any factors proffered by the defendant 
or the state that are relevant i n determining whether 
to impose a sentence of less than death." Therefore, i f 
defense counsel had objected to the court's order, such 
an objection would not have been sustained. 

Moreover, Petitioner cannot prove that he was 
prejudiced by counsel's performance, given tha t he 
waived the presentation of any mit igat ion evidence. A 
successful objection by Lorona simply would have 
prevented the presentation of the evidence offered by 
the prosecution. There was not a reasonable 
probabili ty of a different sentence i f counsel had 
managed to forestall the presentation of additional 
mi t iga t ing information. Appellate counsel did not 
perform ineffectively by fail ing to raise this meritless 
issue. Claims 14, 15, and 16 are denied. 

 Ring Error: Claims 1 and 2 

(1) Claim 1 

Cit ing Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 
2428, 153 L:Ed.2d 556 (2002) ("Ring II"), Petitioner 
alleges that he was denied the r ight to a j u ry t r i a l i n 
violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. 
(Doc. 35 at 89.) He asserts that the denial of his r ight 
to be sentenced by a ju ry constituted structural error 



 

 requires "reversal of his death sentence and a 
 for resentencing." (Id.) He also contends that 

the Arizona Supreme  erred  i ts application of 
the harmless error standard because  was 
"unreasonable to  that a rational juror could not 
view the aggravating  mi t igat ing evidence 
differently  the t r i a l judge and  that a life 
sentence was appropriate." (Id.) Respondents concede 

 the   exhausted. 

Harmless error standard 

 Ring II, the United State Supreme Court 
invalidated Arizona's  capital sentencing 
scheme by holding that a  must determine the 
existence of facts rendering a defendant eligible for the 
death penalty. 536 U.S. at 609. Subsequently, the 
Arizona  Court,  State v. Ring ("Ring III"), 
204 Ariz .  552, 65  915, 933 (2003), held that 
the Sixth  "does  require automatic 
reversal of a death sentence imposed under [Arizona's] 

 sentencing statutes." Instead, relying  Neder 
v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8 (1999), and Arizona v. 
Fulnunante. 499 U.S. 279, 306-07 (1991), the court 
held that  would review capital sentences  the 
harmless error standard. Id. at 552—53, 65   at 
933-34. Noting  i t had "repeatedly rejected" the 
argument that Ring error is structural, the Arizona 
Supreme Court applied the harmless error test i n 
evaluating Petitioner's death sentence. Murdaugh, 209 
Ariz, at 29-30, 97  at 854-55. This was not 
contrary to or  unreasonable application of clearly 
established federal law. 



 

A structural error is a "defect affecting the 
framework wi th in which the t r i a l proceeds, rather than 
simply an error i n the t r i a l process itself." 
Fulminante, 499 U.S. at 310. Structural error affects 
"the entire conduct of the t r i a l from beginning to end." 
Id. at 309. The "very l imi ted class of cases" i n which 
structural error has been found feature "such defects as 
the complete deprivation of counsel or t r i a l before a 
biased judge," which "necessarily render a cr iminal 
t r i a l fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for 
determining guil t or innocence." Neder, 527 U.S. at 8 
(finding that a j u ry instruction omit t ing an element of 
the offense does not constitute structural error). 

The Uni ted States Supreme Court has never held 
that Ring error is included i n that l imi ted class of 
cases. I n  the Court declined to "reach the 
State's assertion that any error was harmless because 
a pecuniary gain finding was implic i t i n the jury's 
guil ty verdict." 536 U.S. at 609 n.7; see id. at 621 
(Justice O'Connor dissenting) ("I believe many of these 
challenges w i l l u l t imately be unsuccessful ... because 
the prisoners w i l l be unable to satisfy the standards of 
harmless error."). Subsequently, i n Schriro v. 
Summerlin, holding that Ring I I  not apply 
retroactively, the Court rejected claims that Ring I I 
was either a substantive ru l ing or a "watershed rule[ ] 
of cr iminal procedure implicat ing the fundamental 
fairness and accuracy of the cr iminal proceeding," 
explaining that i t could not "confidently say that 
judicial factfinding so seriously  accuracy 
that there is a large risk of punishing conduct the law 
does not reach."  U.S. 348, 355-356 (2004) (interior 
quotations omitted). 



 

As the Arizona Supreme Court explained i n Ring 
 204  at  554-55, 65  at 926, 935-36, 

the holding  Ring II was preceded by,  premised 
on, the ru l ing  Apprendi v. New Jersey, which held 

  fact that increases the  for a crime 
 the prescribed statutory maximum must be 

submitted to a jury,  proved beyond a reasonable 
doubt." 530 U.S. 466, 490  There is no question 

 Apprendi errors are  to harmless error 
analysis. Bee Washington  Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 
218-22 (2006) (holding that. Apprendi errors are 

  harmlessness using the framework  
 see also  States v. Zepeda-Martinez, 

470 F.3d 909,  (9th Cir. 2006). 

The Arizona Supreme  did not unreasonably 
apply Supreme  precedent when  determined 
that harmless error  the appropriate standard of 
review. Ring error does not affect the framework 
wit h in which the t r i a l proceeds  the entire conduct of 
the t r i a l , but only the t r i a l process  The  
properly found  Ring error, like the  to 
instruct a  on an element of the offense, was  so 
fundamental   necessarily rendered Petitioner's 
capital sentence unfair or unreliable. 

Arizona Supreme Court's harmless error analysis 

 direct appeal, the Arizona Supreme Court 
rejected Petitioner's argument that i t could not 
determine beyond a reasonable doubt  no ju ry 
would f ind the mit igat ing circumstances sufficient to 
call for leniency. Murdaugh, 209  at 30, 97  



 

at 855. I n conducting i ts harmless error review, the 
Arizona Supreme Court  considered and affirmed 
the two aggravating factors found at sentencing. The 
court noted that the first  Petitioner had 
been convicted of another offense for which for which a 
life sentence or the death penalty was imposable under 
A.R.S, §   of a legal  than 
a factual determination and was thus outside the 
mandate   II. Id. The court stated that the factor 
was satisfied by Petitioner's conviction for the 
kidnapping and murder of Eggert, offenses to which 
Petitioner pled guilty w i t h the knowledge that the 
conviction would be used as an aggravating factor. Id. 
at 30-31, 97  at 855-56. 

The court next  the aggravating factor set 
forth i n §  13-703(F)(6), that the murder was especially 
cruel, heinous, or depraved, explaining that under Ring 
I I "determination of the existence of the (F)(6) 
aggravator by a judge constitutes reversible error 
unless this court determines beyond a reasonable 
doubt that such error is harmless." Id. at 31, 97  
844, 97  at 856. The court determined that the 
(F)(6) factor was satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt 
by "overwhelming and uncontested evidence ... that 
Reynolds' murder was committed i n an especially 
heinous and depraved manner." Id. The evidence 
established that Reynolds was helpless ("unarmed and 
outnumbered" by two armed captors), the murder was 
senseless (unnecessary to Petitioner's goal of "teaching 
Reynolds a lesson"), and that Petitioner muti lated 
Reynolds' body. Id. at 32-33, 97  at 857-58. The 
court concluded "beyond a reasonable doubt that the 
State established the (F)(6) aggravator and that no 



 

rat ional j u ry would have found differently." Id. at 33, 
97  at 858. 

The court next considered "whether reversible error 
occurred w i t h respect to  mitigating circumstances." 
Id. The court first noted that Petitioner  objected to 
the introduction  any mitigating evidence  his 
behalf. Id. at 33-34, 97   858-59. I t then 
reviewed the mit igat ion arguments defense counsel 
presented  his sentencing memorandum  the 
mit igat ing evidence the t r i a l court received from the 
State. Id. 

The court then assessed Petitioner's evidence 
concerning A.R.S. § 13-703(G)(l),  which provides a 
mi t iga t ing circumstance where "[t]he defendant's 
capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct­

 to conform his conduct  the requirements  law 
was significantly impaired, but not so impaired as to 
constitute a defense to prosecution." Like the t r i a l 
court, the supreme court  the factor  not been 
proved: 

The t r i a l  noted that some evidence 
supported a finding of the statutory mitigating 
factor under A.R.S. §  13-703(G)(l), but found that 
this factor had not  proven by  
preponderance of the evidence,.. 

Generally, drug ingestion or intoxication are 
insufficient to establish the (G)(l) mitigating 
circumstance. Instead, the defendant must 
establish a causal nexus  the drug use 
and the offense, typically through the 



 

presentation of an expert witness. But "a 
defendant's claim of alcohol or drug impairment 
fails when there is evidence that the defendant 
took steps to avoid prosecution shortly after the 
murder, or when i t appears that intoxication did 
not overwhelm the defendant's abil i ty to control 
his physical behavior." 

Here, the t r i a l court observed that Murdaugh 
evinced various paranoid thoughts. The major 
feature of that paranoia was the belief that the 
government had placed a tracking device i n his 
head. The court concluded that when viewed i n 
l ight of Murdaugh's long history of 
methamphetamine use, such paranoid delusions 
were l ikely secondary to Murdaugh's chronic drug 
use. I n addition, Dr. Gina Lang, whom the State 
called during the sentencing hearing, testified 
that Murdaugh suffered from a personality 
disorder and that his methamphetamine use may 
have amplified the antisocial tendencies of this 
disorder. 

On the other hand, the court stated that 
Murdaugh's paranoid delusion about a perceived 
threat from the government was not the impetus 
for his kidnapping and murder of Reynolds. 
Moreover, "[t]he industry and thought, manifested 
over an extended period of time, which went into 
the murder of David Reynolds belies a f inding 
that [Murdaugh] was significantly impaired." The 

 found that this clarity of thought was 
further demonstrated by the actions Murdaugh 
took after he injured himself while cleaning his 



 

horse's hooves. Murdaugh  the presence of 
mind to seek treatment  the nearest hospital for 

 injury to his leg. Consequently, the  
concluded  the  did not establish by a 
preponderance  the evidence that Murdaugh's 
capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his 
conduct  to conform his conduct to the 
requirements  the law was significantly 
 

Further, uncontroverted evidence i n the record 
reveals that Murdaugh took steps to avoid 
detection. First, during the kidnapping, he 

 to remove a l l fingerprints from 
Reynolds'   to dispose of the  Second, 
after the murder, he ordered Rohrs to clean up the 
blood  his garage. Third, he took Reynolds'  
into the  where he dismembered i t  an 
effort to keep authorities from identifying the 
body. Fourth, when  discovered that the 
authorities were tracking the calls he made from 
Reynolds' cell phone, Petitioner destroyed the 
phone and disposed of the pieces. 

Finally,  Murdaugh elected to waive 
mitigation, he did not present any expert 
testimony to establish that  abil i ty to control 
his behavior  appreciate the wrongfulness of his 
conduct was significantly impaired. As a result, he 
failed to establish a causal connection between his 
methamphetamine use  his actions. Because of 
the complete lack of evidence  a causal 
connection  Murdaugh's drug use and the 
murder, we conclude beyond  reasonable  



 

that no rat ional j u ry would have found that 
Murdaugh established the (G)(l)  
circumstance. This conclusion is bolstered by the 
undisputed evidence that Murdaugh made 
numerous efforts to avoid detection. 

Id. at 34-35, 97  at 859-60 (citations omitted). 

The court proceeded to examine the nonstatutory 
mi t iga t ing circumstances found by the t r i a l court. Id. 
at 35, 97 P.3d at 860. The court noted that while the 
t r i a l court was  to and did consider al l relevant 
evidence offered i n  i t did not give the 
nonstatutory mi t iga t ing circumstances significant 
weight, and ul t imately determined that the mitigating 
circumstances were not sufficiently substantial to 
outweigh the aggravating circumstances and call for 
leniency. Id. The supreme court then reviewed the 
mi t iga t ing circumstances to determine "whether a jury 
could have weighed these mitigating factors differently 
than did the t r i a l judge." Id. The court, ci t ing w i t h 
approval the t r i a l judge's analysis, offered the 
following evaluation of Petitioner's nonstatutory 
mit igat ion: 

The t r i a l court first found that the evidence 
proffered i n support of the (G)(l) mi t iga t ing 
circumstance also supported a f inding of the 
following nonstatutory mit igat ing circumstances: 

 impairment from the use of crystal 
methamphetamine at the time of the offense; 2) 
impairment from chronic drug use; 3) personality 
disorder; 4) paranoid  and 5)  
impact of a l l four on Murdaugh's mental abilities. 



 

Nonetheless, the court accorded these factors l i t t le 
weight. 

The reports prepared by Drs. Sindelar, Potts, 
 Scialli do reveal  Petitioner experienced 

certain paranoid thoughts and delusions  
 l ikely  by his history of chronic 

methamphetamine use.  because no mental 
health professional   causal nexus  
these conditions  the murders ...  f ind 
beyond a reasonable doubt  no rational j u r y 

 have weighed those factors any differently 
 did the t r i a l  

Second, the t r i a l  found evidence of the 
following additional  mitigation: 
cooperation w i t h law enforcement: lack of prior 
cr iminal  and desire to spare his 

 and victim's   t  We examine 
each  these findings i n turn . 

The t r i a l   that Murdaugh's 
cooperation w i t h law enforcement was a 
mit igat ing circumstance, but. the court did not 
give that circumstance much weight.  
did agree to voluntarily answer questions  he 
was approached by Detective   the 
hospital. Before he answered any questions, 
however, Murdaugh first asked whether his 
garage  been cleaned. Detective Griffiths 
responded that i t had not been  to which 
Petitioner replied that they  enough to  
[him] in ." Murdaugh then described the events 
surrounding Reynolds' murder. Murdaugh also 



 

 Detective Griffiths w i t h a detailed map 
and directions to his campsite and to where he 
buried Reynolds' body and personal effects. From 
this sequence of events, i t is clear that 
Murdaugh's cooperation came only after he 
learned that Rohrs had not cleaned up the garage. 
We therefore conclude that  reasonable ju ry 
would have given Murdaugh's cooperation more 
weight than did the t r i a l court. 

The t r i a l court next found that Murdaugh's lack 
of prior cr iminal history was a mit igat ing 
circumstance, but the court did not place much 
weight on this factor. Similarly, i n l ight of the 
nature and strength of the aggravating factors, we 
f ind that a jury hearing such evidence would not 
place more than min imal weight on this 
mi t iga t ing circumstance. 

The t r i a l court also found that Murdaugh's 
decision to spare his family and the victim's 
family from the pain of a t r i a l was a mit igat ing 
circumstance. Murdaugh admitted his guil t and 
told Dr. Potts tha t he did not wish to put his 
family through the pain of a t r i a l . The t r i a l court 
gave "this factor l i t t l e weight." We agree w i t h the 
t r i a l court and conclude beyond a reasonable 
doubt that a rat ional ju ry would have placed 
min ima l weight on this circumstance. 

Id. at 35-36, 97  at 860-61. 

The court also rejected as unsupported Petitioner's 
arguments  the sentencer could have found 



 

additional mit igat ing  including the 
allegation that Petitioner  Reynolds food and a 
pillow while  was locked  the t runk, opened the 
t runk  Reynolds complained of claustrophobia, 

 kidnapped Reynolds out  a desire to protect his 
girlfriend's honor. Id. at 36-37, 97  at 861-62. 

  Supreme  concluded its harmless 
error review  follows: 

The unchallenged evidence  this case leaves no 
question that Murdaugh murdered Reynolds   
especially heinous and depraved manner and  

  a prior conviction   he received a 
life sentence. The circumstances of this murder, 
coupled w i t h Murdaugh's mut  of Reynolds' 
body, "clearly sets [this murder] apart from the 
norm of first degree murders." Sansing, 206  
at 241,  38, 77  at 39. Moreover, the 
mit igat ing evidence is so  that  
conclude  a reasonable doubt that  jury 

  have weighed the evidence of 
mit igat ion differently than did the t r i a l judge. 
Thus,  hold that any Ring I I error was 
harmless. 

Id. at    at 862. 

Petitioner contends that the court's harmless error 
review was unreasonable.  support  this 
proposition he cites  cases  which the  
Supreme Court determined that the  error was not 
harmless and remanded the cases for  
resentencing. (Doc. 35 at  Petitioner also 



 

argues that the state court's harmless error analysis 
was contrary  and an unreasonable application of 
Uni ted States Supreme Court precedent.  at 
18.) 

Petitioner is entit led to relief on this aspect of 
Claim 1 only i f the Arizona Supreme Court "applied 
harmless-error review i n an 'objectively unreasonable' 
manner." Mitchell v. Esparza, 540 U.S.  18 (2003) 
(quoting  v.  538 U.S. 63, 75-77 
(2003)); see  v. Pliler, 551 U.S. 112, 119 (2007) 
("under Esparza, a federal court cannot award habeas 
relief under Section 2254 "unless the harmlessness 
determination itself was unreasonable"). He is not 
entit led to relief i f the state court "simply erred" i n 
concluding that the Ring error was harmless. Id. 

To the extent that i t is based on a  w i t h 
the analyses undertaken by the court i n other cases, 
Petitioner's critique of the Arizona Supreme Court's 
application of harmless error review in his case is 
unavailing. The fact that the court did not find Ring 
error  i n  cases, each of which involved 
distinct facts and unique combinations of aggravating 
and mit iga t ing circumstances, does not demonstrate 
that the same court's ru l ing i n Petitioner's case was 
objectively unreasonable. 

Petitioner criticizes the court's assessment of the 
mi t iga t ing evidence, part icularly information 
concerning Petitioner's drug abuse. This criticism is 
unwarranted. First, Ring  only that a ju ry must 
determine the aggravating factors i n a capital case 
that render a person eligible for the death  i t 



 

 not require  determination of the ultimate 
sentence. Therefore, the Arizona Supreme Court's 
review of Ring error  complete when i t determined 
beyond a reasonable  that no rational jury  
have  that the two aggravating factors had not 
been proved. Cf. Butler v. Curry, 528 F.3d 624, 648-49 
(9th Cir. 2008) (reviewing Apprendi  for 
harmless error by asking whether  would have 

 aggravating factor rendering defendant eligible 
for increased sentence). Moreover, the court's review of 
the mi t iga t ing evidence, while not required by Ring II. 
was thorough,  its assessment of the evidence was 
not objectively  The record clearly 
supported the two strong aggravating factors  by 
the t r i a l court,  the mitigating circumstances 
presented at sentencing, to the extent Petitioner 

 them to  offered, were relatively  and 
not supported by evidence concerning the 
circumstances of the crime. 

Petitioner also asserts that the court improperly 
imposed a causal nexus  its consideration of the 
mi t iga t ing evidence. The Court addresses this 
allegation i n  3  

Conclusion 

The Arizona Supreme  properly found that 
Ring error is subject to harmless error analysis. The 
court's application of this standard to Petitioner's 

 sentence does not entitle Petitioner to habeas 
relief. Claim 1 is therefore  

(2) Claim 2 



 

Petitioner alleges that his guil ty pleas were not 
knowing, intelligent, or voluntary because the t r i a l 
court failed to inform h i m of his r ight to a ju ry 
determination of his sentence. (Doc. 35 at 119.) 
Respondents contend that only the Sixth Amendment 
aspect of this claim is properly exhausted. (Doc. 38 at 
77.) Regardless of its procedural status, the claim lacks 
meri t and w i l l be denied. 

On direct appeal, Petitioner argued that his 
decision to plead guil ty may have been different i f he 
had known of his r ight to be sentenced by a ju ry . The 
Arizona Supreme Court rejected this argument. First, 
the court explained that 

at the t ime Murdaugh entered into his plea 
agreement, there was no Sixth Amendment r ight 
to sentencing by jury . Bee Ring II, 536 U.S.  
589, 122 S.Ct. 2428. But even i f there had been 
such a right, a ju ry would have considered the 
same evidence as did the t r i a l judge i n deciding 
whether to impose the death penalty. 
Consequently, Murdaugh is unable to show how 
the subsequent decision by the Supreme Court i n 
Ring I I affected his tactical decision to plead 
guil ty to first degree murder. 

Murdaugh, 209  at 28, 97 P.3d at 853. 

The court also explained that "Ring I I impacted 
only the identi ty of the t r ier of fact at sentencing, not 
the process itself," that "Murdaugh had ample 
opportunity to present evidence relevant to the 



 

sentencing determination,"  therefore "the change 
brought  by Ring I I could not have had  
significant impact  Murdaugh's tact ical decision to 
plead guilty." Id. I n addition, the court, c i t ing Brady v. 
United States, 397 U.S. 742 (1970), held that "the fact 
that there   change   law subsequent to 
Murdaugh's guilty plea does not necessarily render his 
plea involuntary." Id.  29, 97  at 854. The court 
concluded  "nothing i n this record indicates that 
Murdaugh's decision to plead guilty was influenced by 
whether a  or a ju ry would decide i f he deserved 
to  sentenced to death." Id. 

Petitioner contends  "the state  erred when 
i t found that there was no  Amendment r ight to 
jury sentencing  the time of Murd augh's pleas." (Doc. 

  122.) He argues that    Uni ted States 
Supreme Court "found that the r i g h t to a ju ry 
determination had always existed." (Id.) I n support  
this proposition he cites a passage in Ring II. 536 U.S. 
at 599, quoting from Justice Stevens'  in Walton 
v. Arizona. 497 U.S. 639, 709,  S.Ct. 3047,  
L.Ed.  511 (1990). Petitioner's   
unpersuasive. 

I n Walton, the  upheld Arizona's capital 
sentencing scheme, explaining  "[a]ny argument 
that the Constitution requires that a  impose the 
sentence  death  make the findings prerequisite to 
imposition of such a sentence has been soundly rejected 
by prior decisions of this Court." Id.   (quoting 
demons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 745,  S.Ct. 

 108  725 (1990)); see Apprendi. 530 U.S. 
at 496 ("this  has previously considered and 



 

rejected the argument that the principles guiding our 
decision today render inval id state capital sentencing 
schemes requiring judges, after a jury verdict holding a 
defendant guilty of a capital crime, to f ind specific 
aggravating factors before imposing a sentence of 
death") (citing Walton, 497 U.S. at 647-49)). The Court 
did not overrule Walton u n t i l Ring II, 536 U.S. at 609, 
decided i n 2002, more than two years after Petitioner 
pled guil ty i n January 2000. I t is clear that before Ring 
II, and certainly at the time of Petitioner's pleas, the 
Uni ted  Supreme Court had not yet recognized a 
r ight to a ju ry determination of aggravating factors 
rendering a defendant death-eligible.10 

I n addition, as the Arizona Supreme Court noted, 
even assuming the existence of such a right, Petitioner 

 to articulate how the identity of the  
jurors as opposed to a  have affected his 
decision to plead guil ty. While Petitioner suggests that 
he would not have pled guil ty i f he had known he had a 
r ight to be sentenced by a jury, he offers no reasoned 
support for this contention. Instead, he merely repeats 
his argument that a  might have  a 

 Following Ring II, Arizona amended its capital 
sentencing statute to provide for ju ry determination of 
both aggravating factors and the ult imate sentence. 
Under A.R.S. §    2002), "the jury 
w i l l f ind and consider the effect of aggravating and 
mi t iga t ing circumstances and decide whether the 
defendant should receive a sentence of death."  III, 
204  at 545, 65  at 926. 



 

different  decision than  t r i a l  
Again, Petitioner does  explain the counterintuitive 
proposition that, faced w i t h the possibility of a more 
lenient sentence imposed by a jury, he would have been 

 l ikely to  guilty. 

The  Supreme Court's rejection of this claim 
was not contrary to or  unreasonable   
clearly established federal law.   is denied. 

 Tennard Error: Claim 3 

Citing Tennard v.  542 U.S. 274, 289 (2004), 
Petitioner alleges that  right to an individualized 
sentencing determination was violated  the t r i a l 
court and the Arizona Supreme Court employed a 

 nexus test to avoid giving effect to his 
mi t iga t ing evidence. (Doc.  at 124.) Respondents 
concede that Petitioner properly  this claim. 
(Doc. 38 at 84.) 

Petitioner also alleges that appellate  was 
ineffective for fai l ing to include this issue on appeal. 
(Doc.  at 124,  Respondents contend  
Petitioner failed to raise his  of appellate 
ineffective assistance  his petition for review to the 

   (Doc.  at 84.)  is 
unnecessary to address this procedural dispute 
because, as set forth below, Petitioner's claim of 
Tennard error is without merit. Therefore, Petitioner 
was not  by counsel's failure to raise the 
issue   and his claim of ineffective assistance 

 appellate counsel must fai l . 



 

Background 

A t sentencing the court found that the State had 
proved two aggravating factors. RT 11/16/01 at 20—34. 
Notwithstanding Petitioner's waiver of mitigation, the 
t r i a l court reviewed the Rule 11 reports of Drs. Potts, 
Scialli, and Sindelar, and considered the portion of Dr. 
Lang's testimony that provided mit igat ing evidence. Id. 
at 35. As already noted, at Petitioner's request the 
court did not consider the reports of Drs. Shaw and 
Deming or the mit igat ion report prepared by Linda 
Christianson. RT 9/28/01 at 37-41; M E 240 at 3-4. 

The court first considered statutory mitigation, 
specifically the factor set forth i n A.R.S. §  
703(G)(1), that Petitioner's capacity to appreciate the 
wrongfulness of his conduct or conform his conduct to 
the requirements of law was significantly impaired. RT 

 at 35-38. The court found that Petitioner had 
not proven this factor: 

The record indicates that the defendant has 
evinced various paranoid thoughts. The major 
paranoid thought feature was a t racking device 
was placed i n his head allowing the CIA to track 
his whereabouts. 

The record establishes that the defendant has a 
long history of chronic drug abuse. I t may be that 
the paranoid delusions are secondary to the 
chronic abuse of methamphetamine. 

The testimony of Dr. Gina Lang indicates that 
the defendant may suffer from a personality 



 

disorder and that the consumption of 
methamphetamine may have amplified the 
characteristics of the defendant's anti-social 
personality disorder. 

The Court has considered individually  
collectively  the  was under the 
influence  drugs  the time of the offense, that 
the defendant was a chronic drug  that the 

 has a personality disorder,  that the 
 experiences paranoid thoughts. 

The Court  also considered the total i ty of the 
circumstances surrounding the murder of David 
Reynolds. The industry and thought, manifested 
over an extended period of time, which went into 
the murder of  Reynolds belies a finding 
that the  was significantly impaired. 

The defendant arranged for David Reynolds to 
 lured to the defendant's home. The defendant 

 the  over an extended time and 
then murdered him. The defendant elaborately 
dismembered and disposed of the victim's body. 

Paranoid thoughts appeared to have played no 
part  the abduction of the vict im, the murder  
the vict im, or the secretion of the victim's body. 

After disposing of the body the defendant 
injured himself while tending to  horse. The 
defendant was able to notify  authorities 
and drive himself for  care. The extensive 
industry and clarity of thought  the entire 



 

episode belies a finding that the defendant was so 
significantly impaired so as to constitute the 
statutory mit igat ing factor. 

Id. at 37. 

Turn ing to nonstatutory mitigation, the court found 
that eight mit igat ing circumstances had been proved: 
Petitioner was under the influence of drugs at the time 
of the offense; he was a chronic drug abuser; he had a 
personality disorder; he experienced paranoid 

 the combination of those four circumstances 
may have impacted his mental abilities; he cooperated 
w i t h law enforcement; he lacked a prior cr iminal 

 and he pled guilty i n order to spare his family 
and the victim's family the ordeal of a t r i a l . Id. at 38-
39. However, although the court found that these 
circumstances had been proved, i t gave each factor 

 weight." Id. at 38-40. The court determined that 
the two aggravating factors were of "great weight" and 
that "[t]aken together, a l l of the mit igat ing factors are 
of l i t t l e weight" and "cumulatively ... not sufficiently 
substantial to call for leniency." Id. at 40. 

As discussed above, the Arizona Supreme Court, 
reviewing Petitioner's death sentence for harmless 
error, assessed the evidence and agreed w i t h the t r i a l 
court that the (G)(l) factor was not proved and that the 
nonstatutory mit igat ing evidence was entit led to l i t t le 
weight. Murdaugh; 209  at 34-36, 97  at 859-
61. I n making these determinations the court noted 
that Petitioner, "because [he]  to waive 
mitigation," "failed to establish a causal connection 
between his methamphetamine use and his actions," 



 

 therefore "no rational j u ry would  found that 
Murdaugh established the (G)(l) mit igat ing 
circumstance." Id. at  97  at 860.   
to nonstatutory mit igat ing circumstances, the court 
again noted  "no mental health professional found 
a  nexus  these conditions [i  
Petitioner's drug abuse, paranoia,  personality 
disorder] and  murders." Id. Therefore, "no rational 

 would have weighed these factors any differently 
than did the t r i a l judge." Id. 

I n his  petition, Petitioner raised a claim of 
Tennard error, arguing that the t r i a l court, following 
precedent from the Arizona Supreme Court, applied an 
inval id  test to its consideration of Petitioner's 
mi t igat ing evidence. (Doc.  Ex.  at 24-26.) The 

 court rejected the claim as not colorable, finding 
  was  by the record, which showed 
  t r i a l court found defendant's mental state 

and methamphetamine addiction at the time  the 
crime to be mit igat ing circumstances, but did not 

 them weight sufficient for leniency." (Doc. 32, 
Ex. 99  6.) The court continued: "The fact that the 
t r i a l court did not  that the mitigating factors did 
not [sic] mandate a life sentence was not 
unconstitutional."  .) 

As explained below,  ru l ing was  
contrary to nor an unreasonable application of  
States Supreme  precedent. 

Analysis 

Once a determination is  that a person is 



 

eligible for the death penalty, the sentencer must 
consider relevant mit igat ing evidence, allowing for "an 
individualized determination on the basis of the 
character of the individual and the circumstances of 
the  Tuilaepa v. California, 512 U.S. 967, 972 
(1994). The Supreme Court has explained that 
"evidence about the defendant's background and 
character is relevant because of the belief, long held by 
this society, that defendants who commit cr iminal acts 
that are attributable to a disadvantaged background 
[or to emotional and mental problems] may be less 
culpable than defendants who have no such excuse." 
Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 535 (2003) (quoting 
Penry   492 U.S. 302, 319 (1989)). 
Therefore, the sentencer i n a capital case is required to 
consider any mit igat ing information  by a 
defendant, including nonstatutory mit igat ion. Bee 
Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 604 (1978) (right to 
individualized sentencing i n capital cases violated by 
Ohio statute that permitted consideration of  three 
mi t iga t ing factors);  v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 
104, 113-15 (1982) (Lockett  where state courts 
refused as a matter of law to consider mit igat ing 
evidence that did  excuse the crime). I n Lockett and 
Eddings, the Court held that under the Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments the sentencer must be 
allowed to consider, and may not refuse to consider, 
"any aspect of a defendant's character or record and 
any of the circumstances of the offense that the 
defendant proffers as a basis for a sentence less than 
death." Lockett, 438 U.S. at 604. 

However, while the sentencer must not be 
foreclosed from considering relevant mit igat ion, " i t is 



 

free to assess how much weight to assign such 
evidence." Ortiz v. Stewart, 149  923, 943 (9th 

 1998); see also State v. Newell, 212 Ariz. 389, 405, 
132  833, 849 (2006) (mitigating evidence must be 
considered regardless  whether there is a "nexus" 
between the mit igat ing factor and the crime, but the 
lack  a causal connection may  considered  
assessing the weight of the evidence). As the Eddings 
court explained: "The sentencer ...  determine the 
weight to  given relevant mit igat ing evidence.  
they may  give i t no weight by excluding such 
evidence from their consideration." 455 U.S. at  

I n  analysis  Claim 3, the  takes several 
principles into account. First, the Supreme Court  
held that  a death penalty scheme provides  
criteria for el igibi l i ty and no l imita t ion on the 
consideration  relevant circumstances  could 
mitigate against a death sentence,  "the States 
enjoy their t radi t ional latitude to prescribe the method 
by which those who  murder shall be punished." 
Romano v. Oklahoma, 512 U.S. 1, 7 (2004) (quoting 

  Pennsylvania, 494 U.S. 299, 309 (1990)). 
  Court has emphasized that there is no 

 formula for weighing mitigating evidence, and 
the   be given  discretion i n 
determining whether the death penalty should  
imposed after i t has  that the defendant is  
member of the class made eligible for that penalty." 
Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 875 (1983); see Kansas 
v. Marsh, 548 U.S. 163, 175 (2006) ("our precedents 
confer upon defendants the r ight to present sentencers 
w i t h information relevant to the sentencing decision 

 oblige sentencers to consider that information  



 

determining the appropriate sentence. The thrust of 
our mit igat ion jurisprudence ends  Harris v. 
Alabama, 513 U.S. 504, 512 (1995) (Constitution does 
not require that a specific weight be given to any 
particular mit igat ing factor);  512 U.S. at 
979-80. 

Conversely, while the sentencer i n a capital case 
may be afforded unbridled discretion i n considering the 
appropriate sentence, "there is no ... constitutional 
requirement   sentencing discretion i n the 
jury , and States are free to structure and shape 
consideration of mi t iga t ing evidence  an effort to 
achieve a more rat ional and equitable administrat ion 
of the death penalty.' " Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 
370, 377 (1990)  Franklin v. Lynaugh, 487 U.S. 
164, 181 (1988) (plural i ty opinion)); see Johnson v. 
Texas, 509 U.S. 350, 362 (1993). The Supreme Court 
has explained that  and its progeny stand only 
for the proposition that a State may not cut off i n an 
absolute manner the presentation of mi t iga t ing 
evidence, either by statute or judicial instruction, or by 
l i m i t i n g the inquiries to which i t is relevant so severely 
that the evidence could never be part of the sentencing 
decision at all ." Johnson, 509 U.S. at 361—62 (quoting 
McKoy v. North Carolina, 494 U.S. 433, 456 (1990) 
(Kennedy, J., concurring i n judgment)). Thus, 
"[a]lthough Lockett and Eddings prevent a State from 

 relevant mit igat ing evidence 'beyond the 
effective reach of the sentencer,' Graham v. Collins, 
[506 U.S. 461, 475 (1993) ] , those cases and others i n 
that decisional line do not bar a State from guiding the 
sentencer's consideration of mit igat ing evidence." Id. at 
362; see  v. Parks, 494 U.S. 484, 492-93 (1990) 



 

(holding t hat an instruction directing   to  
any influence of sympathy when  g sentence did 
not violate  and Eddings a n d noting  
"distinction between allowing the  to consider 
mit igat ing evidence and guiding their co  
California v. Brown, 479 U.S. 538, 545 ( 1987). 

 on  review a federal court does not 
 the substance    of evidence 

submitted as mitigation.  i t reviews the record 
to ensure that the state court   considered 
a l l relevant mit igat ing information.  Jeffers v. 
Lewis, 38 F.3d  418 (9th  1994) (e  banc) (when 
i t is  that all mit igat ing evidence was 
considered, the t r i a l court is not required to discuss 
each piece of evidence); see also Lopez v. Schriro, 491 
F.3d 1029, 1037 (9th  2007),   552 U.S. 
1224 (2008) (rejecting claim that the sentencing court 
failed to consider proffered mit igat ion where the court 

 not  the defendant from presenting  
evidence i n mitigation, did not affirmatively indicate 
there was any evidence i t would  consider, and 
expressly stated i t had considered a  mitigation 
evidence proffered by the defendant). As  N in th 
Circuit explained in La Grand v. Stewart, 133 F.3d 
1253, 1263   1998), rejecting the petitioner's 
argument  the state courts failed to consider the 
mit igat ion evidence "fully"'-

federal courts do not review the imposition  the 
sentence de novo. Here, as  the state courts' finding 
of the existence of an aggravating factor, we must use 
the rational fact-finder test of Lewis v. Jeffers. That 
is, considering the aggravating and mitigating 



 

circumstances, could a rat ional fact-finder have 

imposed the death penalty? 

The court reiterated that such a determination 
takes into account the strength of the aggravating 
factors, which, i n LaGrand, included pecuniary gain 

 a murder committed i n an especially cruel, 
heinous, or depraved manner. Id. 

Applying these principles, i t is apparent i n 
Petitioner's case that the t r i a l court and the Arizona 
Supreme Court fulfilled their constitutional obligation 
by allowing and considering al l of the mi t iga t ing 
evidence, and that the PCR court reasonably applied 
clearly established federal law to Petitioner's Tennard 
claim. 

I n Tennard, the Supreme Court revisited Texas's 
capital sentencing procedure, which i t had addressed 
i n several previous cases, including Penry v. Lynaugh, 
492 U.S. 302 (1989) (Penry I), and Penry v. Johnson, 
532 U.S. 782 (2001) (Penry I I ). The sentencing 
procedure at issue required the ju ry to answer three 
special questions: whether the conduct of the defendant 
was deliberate and committed w i t h the reasonable 
expectation that  would result; whether there is a 
reasonable probability that the defendant would 
commit further acts of violence that would constitute a 
continuing threat to society; and, i f raised by the 
evidence, whether the defendant's conduct was 
unreasonable i n response to any provocation by the 
deceased. Penry I , 492 U.S. at 310. I f the ju ry 
answered each question affirmatively, the court must 
sentence the defendant to death. Id. 



 

I n Penry I , the Supreme Court held that this 
"special issues"  violated the Eighth 
Amendment by fai l ing to allow jurors to give  effect 
to evidence of the defendant's mental   
childhood abuse. Id.   The Court explained 
that  the context of the special issues, Penry's mental 
retardation had relevance beyond the issue  the 
deliberateness of the crime  w i th respect to future 
dangerousness, would  viewed  aggravating rather 
than mit igat ing evidence, i n  i t suggested Penry 
would  unable to learn from his mistakes. Id.  
23.  Penry II, the Court held that the defects  
Texas' sentencing scheme were not cured by  
supplemental instruction directing the  to consider 

 weigh mi t iga t ing circumstances and stating that 
jurors could answer no to a special issue  they 
believed that  life sentence was appropriate. 532 U.S. 
at 789-90. The  found  the instruction failed 
to address the fact   of the special issues is 
broad enough to provide a vehicle for t he jury to give 
mit igat ing  to the evidence of Penry's mental 
retardation and childhood abuse." Id. at 798. Also, 
because such evidence  not   the scope of 

 special issues, "answering those issues  the 
 prescribed   verdict form necessarily 

 ignoring the  of the supplemental 
instruction." Id. at  

"  Brewer v. Quarterman, 550 U.S. 286 (2007), and 
Kabir v. Quarterman, 550 U.S. 233 (2007), the Supreme Court 
again found that the Texas special issues framework, without an 
additional instruction on mitigating evidence, did not allow juries 
to give effect to evidence of mental illness, an abusive childhood, 
(Continued) 



 

I n Tennard, the petitioner was sentenced to death 
after the ju ry provided affirmative answers to the 

 and future  special 
issues. The district court denied Tennard's federal 
habeas peti t ion i n which he claimed that his death 
sentence violated the Eighth  as 
interpreted i n Penry, and denied a certificate of 
appealability. The Fif th Circuit agreed that Tennard 
was not entitled to a certificate of appealability. 
Tennard v. Cockrell, 284 F.3d 591 (5th Cir. 2002). Its 
decision was based on the circuit court's application of 
a threshold test for the constitutional relevance of 
mi t iga t ing evidence, according to which relevant 
mi t iga t ing evidence is evidence of a "uniquely severe 
permanent handicap" that bore a "nexus" to the crime. 
Id. at 595. The court concluded that low IQ evidence 
alone does not constitute a uniquely severe condition. 
Id. at 596. The court also determined that even i f 
Tennard's low IQ amounted to mental retardation 
evidence, he failed to show that his crime was 
attributable to his mental capacity. Id. at 597-97. 

The Supreme Court reversed, holding that Tennard 
was entit led to a certificate of appealability w i t h 
respect to the district court's denial of his Penry claim. 
Tennard, 542 U.S. at 289. I n doing so, the Court 
rejected the Fif th Circuit's "screening test," explaining 
that "impaired intellectual functioning is inherently 
mit igating." Id. at 287  Atkins v. Virginia, 536 
U.S. 304, 316 (2002)). The Court stated that the 

(Continued). 

and substance abuse. 



 

relevance of "low  evidence" does  depend  a 
"nexus"  the evidence   crime,  
concluded that "we  countenance the suggestion 
that low IQ evidence is not relevant mitigating 

 thus that the Penry question need not 
even be  the  also establishes a 
nexus to the crime." Id. In Smith v. Texas, 543 U.S. 37, 
44—45 (2004) (per  curiam), the Court again rejected the 

 nexus screening test, this time  it was applied 
by the state appellate  in finding evidence  
Smith's low  and troubled childhood irrelevant for 

 purposes. 

In  the Supreme Court condemned the 
circui t 's ruling because it barred review of whet her the 
Texas special issues framework  give full effect to 
relevant mitigating evidence proffered by Tennard. 
The holding i n Tennard does  entitle Petitioner to 
relief because Arizona law did not impose  such 

 to  of Petitioner's mitigating 
evidence. 

As  ini t ia l matter, Arizona's death penalty 
statute, unlike the  issues  in Texas, 
explicitly provides for the type of review mandated by 

 tt  

Mitigating circumstances  be  factors 
proffered by the  or the state which are 
relevant in determining whether to impose a 
sentence less  death, including any aspect  
the defendant's character, propensities or record 
and any  the circumstances of the  
including  not  to the following 



 

 statutory mitigating factors]. 

A.R.S. § 13-703(G)(1). 12 Arizona's sentencing 
statute thus establishes a framework for the 
consideration of mitigating evidence far less restrictive 
than that provided by the special issues system that 
was the subject of Tennard, Penry, and Johnson. 

Because the statute mandates  consideration of 
any relevant mitigating evidence, the only question is 
whether an Arizona court violates Lockett and Eddings 
by applying a causal connection test to  
consideration of certain types of mitigating evidence. 
The Court concludes  i t does not. Instead, Arizona's 
nexus test is a permissible means of guiding a 
sentencer's discretion in considering and weighing 
mitigating evidence. 

Petitioner's contention is that the Arizona courts, 
by way of the causal nexus test, impermissibly limited 
the manner in which his mitigating evidence was 
considered. However, because the state courts did not 

 Prior to Lockett, Arizona's death penalty statute, A.R.S. §  
454, enumerated certain mitigating factors  did not contain a 
catch-all provision. In State v. Watson, 120 Ariz. 441, 586  
1253 (1978), the Arizona Supreme Court held that §  13-454, with 
its restriction on the consideration of mitigating factors outside 
those specified in the statute, did not satisfy Lockett. Shortly after 
Watson, the Arizona legislature amended the mitigation portion of 
the death penalty statute to conform with  requiring the 
sentencer i n a capital case to consider any relevant mitigating 

  § 13-703(G). 



 

altogether prevent the sentencer from considering and 
weighing Petitioner's mitigating evidence, Lockett and 
Eddings were  violated. 

The state courts  not give the  
mitigating evidence "no weight by excluding such 

 from their consideration." Eddings, 455 U.S. 
 114-15  added). Petitioner's "mitigating 

evidence was not  beyond the [sentencer's] 
effective reach,"   the "sentencer ... precluded 
from  considering certain types   
evidence." Johnson, 509 U.S. at 366. Simply put, the 
state courts did not exclude any mitigating evidence. 
See Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S.  8-9 (1986) 
(Lockett and Eddings  when trial court 

   testimony from jailer regarding 
defendant's positive  to incarceration); 
Davis v.  475 F.3d  771-73 (6th  2007) 
(Lockett  Eddings violated  resentencing  
disallowed  evidence of good behavior in 
prison); Jones v. Polk. 401 F.3d 257, 262-64 (4th Cir. 
2005) (violation where court excluded testimony that 

  expressed remorse). To the contrary, as 
illustrated above, the sentencing court and the Arizona 
Supreme  were afforded  access" to the 
available  information, Marsh, 548 U.S. at 
174, which they carefully analyzed and weighed. 

The tr ial court  the state supreme court 
thoroughly discussed the mitigating circumstances 
presented  sentencing, including Petitioner's mental 
health and substance  The fact that  courts 

 these factors little weight does not amount to 
 constitutional violation under Lockett and Eddings. 



 

Ortiz, 149 F.3d at 943; Ceja, 97 F.3d at 1251; Atkins v. 
Singletary, 965 F.2d  962  Cir. 1992) 
("Although Atkins argues that the tr ial judge did not 
consider nonstatutory factors, i t is more correct to say 
that the t r ia l judge did not  is, give much 
weight  nonstatutory factors. Acceptance of 
nonstatutory mitigating factors is not constitutionally 

 the Constitution only requires that the 
sentencer consider the factors."); State v. Mata, 185 
Ariz. 319, 331 n. 6, 916  1035, 1047 (1996) 
("Defendant seems to believe that a tr ial court only 

 mitigating evidence i f i t imposes a mitigated 
sentence. The law is to the contrary. So long as the 
tr ia l court considers the evidence, the judge is not 
bound to conclude that the evidence calls for 
leniency."). 

The court is simply unaware of any support for the 
proposition that mitigating evidence, once  
and under consideration, is entitled to any  
weight. See, e.g., Allen v. Buss, 558 F.3d 657, 667 (7th 
Cir. 2009) ("The rule of Eddings is that a sentencing 
court may not exclude relevant mitigating evidence. 
But of course, a court may choose to give mitigating 
evidence little or no weight.") (internal citations 
omitted); United States v. Johnson, 495 F.3d 951, 966 
(8th Cir. 2007) (jurors in capital sentencing are 
"obliged to consider relevant mitigating evidence, but 
are permitted to accord that evidence whatever weight 
they choose, including no weight at all"); Schwab v. 
Crosby, 451 F.3d 1308, 1329-30 ( l l t h Cir. 2006) ("The 
Constitution requires that the sentencer be allowed to 
consider and give effect to evidence offered in 
mitigation, but i t does not dictate the effect that must 



 

be  once the evidence is considered; it does not 
require the sentencer to conclude  a particular fact 

 mitigating or to give  any particular weight."). 

The court is likewise unaware of  precedent 
holding  it is inappropriate  a sentencer,  
weighing mitigating evidence concerning a defendant's 
background, substance abuse,  mental health, to 
consider the extent to which the evidence offers  
explanation of his criminal conduct. Cf. Allen v. 
Woodford, 395 F.3d 979, 1005-10 (2005) (noting that 
mitigating evidence  serve both  "humanizing" 
and an "explanatory" or "exculpatory" purpose, with 
greater weight generally being ascribed to the latter 
category). 

The Ninth  has addressed the Tennard issue 
in two recent cases; Styers  Schriro, 547 F.3d 1026 
(9th Cir. 2009) (per curiam),  denied,  S. Ct. 
379 (2009); and  v. Ryan, 595 F.3d 907 (9th Cir. 
2010) (per curiam), opinion amended  superseded 
on denial  rehearing en banc, No. 07-99005, 2010 WL 

  Styers, the Arizona Supreme Court struck 
one of the aggravating factors found by t he sentencing 
court, then reweighed the remaining aggravating 
factors against the mitigating circumstances. State v. 
Styers,   104,  865  765, 777 (1993). In 
affirming the  sentence, the  stated that 
evidence Styers suffered from post-traumatic stress 
disorder did not "constitute mitigation" because Styers 
could not connect his  to his behavior at the 
time of the crimes. Id. The Nin th   that the 

 Supreme Court "appears" to have   
improper nexus test, which resulted   failure to 



 

consider the mitigating evidence in violation of Smith 
and Eddings. Styers, 547 F.3d at 1035-36. In Schad, by 
contrast, the Ninth Circuit found no such violation 
because the state courts did not  [ ] to consider 
any evidence Schad  the courts did not 

 [ ] mitigation evidence" and "the record shows 
that the sentencing court did consider and weigh the 
value" of the mitigating evidence. 595 F.3d at 926. The 
Court of Appeals noted that the tr ial court weighed 
evidence concerning Schad's childhood but found i t was 
not "a persuasive mitigating circumstance" and the 
Arizona Supreme Court "conducted an independent 
review of the entire record regarding the aggravating 
and mitigating factors." Id. 

In Petitioner's case, the record clearly shows that 
the tr ial court did not exclude or refuse to consider any 
mitigating evidence. The court did not state that the 
lack of a causal connection foreclosed consideration of 
the evidence or that such evidence could not 
"constitute" mitigation. To the contrary, the court not 
only considered all of the evidence but found that 
several non-statutory mitigating circumstances had 
been proven. The Arizona Supreme Court considered 
the aggravating and mitigating circumstances in 
carrying out its harmless error review of Petitioner's 
death sentence. Murdaugh, 209  at 29-36, 97 

 at 854-61. In doing so the court considered and 
evaluated all of the statutory and nonstatutory 
mitigating circumstances to determine whether a jury 
would have reached a different sentencing decision 
than the trial judge. Id. at 33-37, 97  at 858-62. 
The court cited the lack of a nexus between the 
mitigating circumstances and the crime simply as one 



 

of the criteria by which a jury would have weighed the 
mitigating information. Id. at  97  at 860-
62, 

While   Smith invalidated the use of a 
 connection test as a screening mechanism  

excludes consideration of relevant mitigating evidence, 
they did not address the legitimacy  such a test as a 
means  guiding the  s discretion  
assessing the  of mitigating evidence. This court 
concludes that Arizona's causal nexus test provides a 
rational  by which to "structure and shape 
consideration  mitigating evidence." Johnson, 509 
U.S.  362.   difficult to conceive  a violation of 
Locke tt and Eddings occurs when a sentencing judge in 
Arizona, having admitted and  all proffered 
mitigating evidence as required by statute, and having 
determined moreover that a number  mitigating 
circumstances had been proved, takes into account the 
relationship between  circumstances  the crime 
when determining the appropriate sentence. 

The PGR court's rejection  Petitioner's Tennard 
claim  a reasonable  of  
established federal   3 is denied. 

G. Miscellaneous   Claims 17-20 

Petitioner  the timing and method of his 
execution, asserts that the  process wil l be 
unfair,  alleges that he is entitled to relief based  
the cumulative errors surrounding his guilty plea  



 

sentencing. For the reasons set forth below, these 
claims w i l l be denied, 

(1) Claim 17 

Petitioner asserts that the inordinate length of time 
he wil l have spent in prison before he is executed 
amounts to cruel and unusual punishment. (Doc. 35 at 
255.) Respondents contend that the claim is 
procedurally barred. (Doc. 38 at 176—77.) I t is 
unnecessary to address the claim's procedural status 
because i t is plainly meritless. 

The United States Supreme Court has never held 
that lengthy incarceration prior to execution 
constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. See Lackey 
v. Texas, 514 U.S. 1045 (1995) (mem.) (Stevens, J. & 
Breyer, J., discussing denial of certiorari and noting 
the claim has not been addressed); Thompson v. 
McNeil, 129 S.Ct. 1299 (2009) (mem.) (Stevens, J. & 
Breyer, J., dissenting from denial of certiorari; 
Thomas, J., concurring, discussing Lackey issue). 
Circuit courts, including the Ninth Circuit, have also 
held that prolonged incarceration under a sentence of 
death does not violate the Eighth Amendment. See 
McKenzie v. Day, 57 F.3d 1493, 1493-94 (9th Cir. 
1995) (en banc); White v. Johnson, 79 F.3d 432, 438 
(5th Cir. 1996); Stafford v. Ward, 59 F.3d 1025, 1028 
(10th Cir. 1995). I t is ironic that Petitioner complains 
of delay and at the same time criticizes the court for 
imposing a reasonable schedule in this case. (See Doc. 
35 at 2—4.)  Claim 17 is not supported by clearly 
established federal law and therefore Petitioner is not 
entitled to habeas relief. 



 

(2) Claim 18 

Petitioner asserts that his right not to be subjected 
to cruel and unusual  wi l l be violated  
the State  Arizona's use of lethal injection to  
out his death sentence. (Doc.   270.) Respondents 
concede that the  is exhausted. 

The United States Supreme  has never  
 lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual 

punishment, see Baze  Rees, 128 S.Ct. 1520 (2008), 
and the Ninth Circuit  concluded that death by 
lethal injection in   not violate the Eighth 
Amendment, Sec La Grand v. Stewart, 133 F.3d 1253, 
1265 (9th Cir. 1998); Poland v. Stewart, 117 F.3d  
1104-05 (9th  1997); see also Dickens v. Brewer, 
07-CV-1770, 2009 WL 1904294 (D.  July 1,  
(Arizona's revised lethal injection protocol does not 
violate    Claim 18 is not supported 
by clearly established federal law and therefore 
Petitioner   entitled to habeas relief. 

(3) Claim 19 

Petitioner asserts that he wil l be denied a fair 
clemency process  violation of the Eighth  
Fourteenth Amendments. (Doc. 35 at 282.) Because 
Petitioner has not sought clemency, the claim is 
premature   ripe for adjudication. More 
significantly, the claim  not cognizable  federal 
habeas review. Habeas relief can  be granted  a 
claim that a prisoner "is  custody  violation of  
Constitution or laws or treaties of the United States." 



 

28  § 2254(a). Petitioner's challenge to  state 
clemency procedures does not constitute an attack on 
his detention  thus is not  proper ground for 
habeas relief. See Franzen v. Brinkman, 877 F.2d 26 

 Cir. 1989); see also Woratzeck v. Stewart, 118 
F.3d 648, 653 (9th Cir. 1997) (per curiam) (clemency 
claims are not cognizable under federal habeas law). 

(4) Claim 20 

Petitioner asserts that the numerous errors 
committed  his guilty plea and  
hearing cumulatively produced a fundamentally unfair 
proceeding and violated his due process rights and his 
right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment. 
(Doc. 35 at 283.) Respondents contend that the claim is 
procedurally defaulted and barred. (Doc. 38 at 186.) 
The Court agrees. Petitioner did not raise a claim of 
cumulative error at any point during the proceedings 
in state court. I f he were to return to state court now, 
the claim would be found waived and untimely under 
Rules 32.2(a)(3) and 32.4(a) of the Arizona Rules of 
Criminal Procedure because i t does not fall within an 
exception to Arizona's rule of preclusion. See Ariz. 

 P. 32.2(b); 32.1(d)-(h). Therefore, Claim 20 is 
"technically" exhausted but procedurally defaulted 
because Petitioner no longer has an available state 
remedy. Coleman, 501 U.S. at 732, 735  Because 
Petitioner has established neither cause and prejudice 
nor a fundamental miscarriage of justice, Claim 20 is 
barred from this Court's review. 

The claim is also meritless. "Because there is no 
single constitutional error in this case, there is nothing 



 

to  to the level of a constitutional violation." 
  Olivarez, 292 F.3d 939, 957 (9th Cir.2002). 

IV. EVIDENTIARY DEVELOPMENT 

Petitioner seeks evidentiary development with 
respect to Claims 2-19. (Doc.  Respondents oppose 
the request. (Doc. 52.) For the reasons set forth below, 
the court finds that  is not. entitled to 
evidentiary development, 

 Standards 

 Discovery 

Rule 6(a)  the Rules Governing Section  
Cases provides that "[a] judge may, for good cause, 
authorize a  to  discovery under the 
Federal Rules  Civil Procedure,   l imit the 
extent of discovery." Rule 6(a), Rules Governing §   
Cases, 28   § 2254 (emphasis added). Thus, 
unlike the usual civil litigant  federal court, a habeas 
petitioner is not entitled to discovery "as a matter of 
ordinary course,"  Gramley, 520 U.S. 899, 904 
(1997); see Campbell v. Blodgett, 982 F.2d 1356, 1358 
(1993), nor should courts allow him to "use  
discovery for fishing expeditions to investigate mere 
speculation," Calderon v. United States Dist. Ct. for 
the N. Dist.  (Nicolaus), 98 F.3d 1102,  (9th 
Cir. 1996); see also Rich v. Calderon, 187 F.3d 1064, 
1067 (9th Cir. 1999) (habeas corpus is  a fishing 
expedition for petitioners to "explore their case in 
search  its existence") (quoting Aubut v. State of 
Maine, 431 F.2d 688, 689 (1st  Whether a 



 

petitioner has established "good cause" for discovery 
under Rule 6(a) requires a habeas court to determine 
the essential elements of the petitioner's substantive 
claim and evaluate whether "specific allegations before 
the court show reason to believe that the petitioner 
may, i f the facts are fully developed, be able to 
demonstrate that he is ... entitled to relief." Bracy, 520 
U.S. at 908-09 (quoting Harris v. Nelson, 394 U.S. 
286, 300 (1969)). 

(2) Evidentiary Hearing / Expansion of the Record 

Historically,  district court had considerable 
discretion to hold an evidentiary hearing to resolve 
disputed issues of material fact. See Townsend v. Sain, 
372 U.S. 293, 312, 318 (1963), overruled in part by 
Keeney v.  504 U.S. 1  and 
limited by § 2254(e)(2);  Baja v.  187 F.3d 
1075, 1077-78 (9th Cir. 1999); Rule 8, Rules Governing 
§  2254 Cases, 28   § 2254  (providing that the 
district court judge shall determine i f an evidentiary 
hearing is required). That discretion is significantly 
circumscribed by §  2254(e)(2) of the AEDPA. See Baja, 
187 F.3d at 1077-78. 

Section 2254 provides that: 

If the applicant has failed to develop the factual 
basis of a claim in State court proceedings, the 
court shall not hold an evidentiary hearing on the 
claim unless the applicant shows  

(A) the claim relies on— 



 

(I) a new rule of constitutional  made 
retroactive to cases on collateral     
Supreme Court, that was previously 
unavailable;  

(ii) a factual predicate that could  have been 
previously discovered through the  of 
due diligence; and 

(B) the facts underlying the claim  be 
sufficient to establish by clear and  
evidence  but for constitutional error, no 
reasonable factfinder would have found the 
applicant guilty of the underlying offe  

28  § 2254(e)(2)  (emphasis added). The Supreme 
Court has interpreted subsection (e)(2)  precluding 
an evidentiary hearing in federal court i f the failure to 
develop a claim's factual basis   to a "lack of 
diligence, or some greater fault,  to the 
prisoner or the prisoner's counsel."   529 U.S. 
at  A hearing is not barred,   a 
petitioner diligently attempts to develop the factual 
basis of  claim in state court and is "thwarted, for 

 by the conduct of another or  happenstance 
was denied the opportunity to do so." Id.; see Baja, 187 
F.3d at 1078-79 (allowing hearing   court 
denied opportunity to develop factual  of claim). 

When the factual basis for a particular claim has 
not been fully developed in state  the first 
question for a  court  whether t he petitioner 

 diligent 111 attempting to develop the factual 
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record See Baja, 187 F.3d at 1078 (quoting Cardwell v. 
Greene, 152 F.3d  337   1998)). The 
diligence assessment is an objective one, requiring a 
determination of  a petitioner "made a 
reasonable attempt, in light of the information 
available  the time, to investigate and pursue claims 
in state court." Williams, 529 U.S. at 435. For example, 
when there is information in the record that would 
alert a reasonable attorney to the existence and 
importance of certain evidence, the attorney "fails" to 
develop the factual record i f he does not make 
reasonable efforts to sufficiently investigate and 
present the evidence to the state court. See id. at 438-
39, 442; Alley v. Bell, 307 F.3d 380, 390-91 (6th  
2002) (lack of diligence because petitioner knew of and 
raised claims of judicial bias and jury   
state court, but failed to investigate all the factual 
grounds for such claims). 

The petitioner hears the "burden of showing he was 
diligent in efforts to develop the facts supporting [his 
claims]." Williams, 529 U.S. at 440. Absent unusual 
circumstances, diligence requires that a petitioner "at 
a minimum, seek an evidentiary hearing in state court 
in the manner prescribed by state law." Id. at 437; see 
Bragg v.  242 F.3d 1082, 1090 (9th  
(finding no diligence because petitioner neither 
requested an evidentiary hearing in the t r ia l court nor 
filed a state habeas petition), amended on denial of 
reh'g, 253 F.3d 1150 (9th Cir. 2001). The mere request 
for an evidentiary hearing, however, may not be 
sufficient to establish diligence i f a reasonable person 
would have taken additional steps. See  v. 
Johnson, 230 F.3d 733, 758 (5th Cir. 2000) (failed to 



 

present affidavits of family  that were easily 
obtained  court order and with minimal 
expense); Koste v.  345 F.3d  985-86  
Cir. 2003) (no effort to  the record  assert any 
facts to support claim);  v. Campbell, 416 F.3d 
1291, 1299-1300  Cir. 2005) (no development of 
evidence available through himself, family members 
and literature, and no  of   funds and 
hearing); Cannon  Mullin, 383 F.3d  (10th 

 2004)  of diligence  petitioner does  
proffer "evidence that would  readily available if the 
claim were true."). 

I n sum, i f this  determines tha t Petitioner  
  diligent, in establishing the factual basis for 

his claims in state court,  the  may not 
conduct a hearing unless the petitioner satisfies one of 
§   narrow exceptions. If, however, 
Petit ioner has not. failed to develop the factual basis  
a   state court, the court wi l l  proceed to 
consider whether a hearing is appropriate or required 
under the criteria set  by the  Court in 
Townsend. 372 U.S. 293; see Baja, 187 F.3d at 1078 
(quoting Cardwell, 152 F.3d at 337); Norton, I I v. 

 408 F.3d 570, 582 n.6 (9th Cir. 2005). 

Pursuant to Townsend, a federal   must 
hold  evidentiary hearing in a § 2254  case   
the facts are in dispute; (2) the petitioner "alleges facts 
which, i f proved,  entitle  to relief;"  (3) 
the state court has not "reliably found the relevant 
facts" after a "full and fair evidentiary hearing," at 
t r ia l  in a collateral proceeding. Townsend,  U.S. 
at 312-13;  Hill v. Lockhart,  U.S. 52, 60 (1985) 



 

(upholding the denial of a hearing when petitioner's 
allegations were insufficient to satisfy the governing 
legal standard); Turner v. Calderon, 281 F.3d 851, 890 
(9th Cir. 2002) (petitioner entitled to an evidentiary 
hearing only i f he alleges "facts that, i f proven, would 
entitle him to relief) (quoting Tapia v. Roe, 189 F.3d 
1052, 1056 (9th Cir. 1999)); Bashor v. Risley, 730 F.2d 
1228 (9th Cir. 1984) (hearing not required when claim 
must be resolved on state court record or claim is based 
on non-specific  allegations). 

In any other case in which diligence has been 
established, the district court judge "has the power, 
constrained only by his sound discretion, to receive 
evidence bearing upon the applicant's constitutional 
claim." Townsend, 372 U.S. at 318. However, i f a 
"habeas applicant was afforded a full and fair hearing 
by the state court resulting in reliable findings, [the 
judge] may, and ordinarily should, accept the facts as 
found in the hearing." Id . 

Rule 7 of the Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases 
authorizes a federal habeas court to expand the record 
to include additional material relevant to the petition. 
The purpose of Rule 7 "is to enable the judge to dispose 
of some habeas petitions not dismissed on the 
pleadings, without the time and expense required for 
an evidentiary hearing." Advisory  Notes, 
Rule 7, 28 U.S.C.  § 2254; see also Blackledge v. 
Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 81-82 (1977). When expansion of 
the record is sought, the court must assess whether the 
materials submitted are relevant to resolution of the 
petition. 



 

Section 2254(e)(2), as amended by the  
limits  petitioner's ability to present new evidence 
through a Rule 7 motion to  the record to the 

 extent   limits the availability  an 
evidentiary hearing. See Cooper-Smith v.  
397 F.3d 1236, 1241 (9th Cir. 2005) (applying §  2254(e) 
(2) to expansion of the record when  is to bolster 
the merits of a claim with new evidence) (citing 
Holland v. Jackson, 542 U.S. 649, 652-53 (2004) (per 
curiam)). Thus, when a petitioner seeks to introduce 
new affidavits and other documents never presented in 
state court, for the purpose of establishing the factual 
predicate  a claim, he must either demonstrate 
diligence  developing the factual basis  state court 
or satisfy the requirements of § 2254(e)(2)(A) & (B). 
However, when a petitioner seeks to  the record 
for other reasons, such  to cure omissions  the state 
court record, see Dobbs v. Zant, 506 U.S. 357, 359 
(1993)  curiam), establish cause  prejudice, or 
demonstrate diligence, the strictures  §  2254(e)(2) do 
not apply. Sec Boyko, 259  781, 790 (7th  
2001). 

B. Discussion 

 the outset the court finds that evidentiary 
 is not appropriate for Claims 2  16-19 

because they are record based, involve  legal 
issues,  are plainly meritless. As the Supreme Court 
explained  Landrigan, " i f the record refutes the 
applicant's factual allegations  otherwise precludes 
habeas relief,  district court is not. required to hold  
evidentiary hearing. The Ninth  has recognized 
this   other cases, holding  'an evidentiary 



 

hearing is not required on issues that can be resolved 
by reference to the state court record.'" 550 U.S. at 474 
(quoting Totten v. Merkle, 137 F.3d  (1998)). 
We next  Petitioner's request for evidentiary 
development with respect to the remaining claims. 

 Discovery 

Petitioner seeks to depose members of the defense 
team, including lead counsel (Lorona), co-counsel 
(Gitre and  the investigators (Salinas and 
Bachtle), the mitigation specialists (Wake and 
Christianson), and appellate counsel (Michael Reeves 
and Michael Tafoya). He also seeks depositions from 
Drs. Potts, Sindelar, Scialli, Lang, and  the 
prosecutor, Mark Barry,' the tr ial judge, Judge Hutt; 
attorneys Mike Terribile, who testified at the PCR 
evidentiary hearing regarding funding issues, and 
Larry Hammond, who testified as a "Strickland 
expert"; individuals listed in Lorona's correspondence 
wi th the OCAC; and detention employees who had 
contact wi th Petitioner during his incarceration. 

Petitioner  the issuance of a subpoena for 
records from the OCAC relevant to the representation 
of Petitioner, including the contracts, billing records, 
payment records, and disciplinary records of t r ia l and 
appellate counsel, as well as all correspondence 
between the OCAC and tr ia l and appellate  
disciplinary records from the State Bar of Arizona for 
t r ia l and appellate  any documentation of 
communication, including but not limited to emails, 
letters, and phone calls between appellate counsel and 
any persons who may have worked with them on 



 

Petitioner's case; and disciplinary rec  from the 
State Bar of Arizona for Mark Barry :.  any other 
prosecutor involved in the   phase of 
Petitioner's case. 

Petitioner seeks a subpoena directed  the Office of 
the Maricopa County Attorney  "that the 
office produce its entire  relating t  [Petitioner's 
case], or at least in regard to the  of 
mitigation or mitigation rebuttal, in   discover 
evidence of the prosecutor's awareness   divided 
loyalties and the level of   took  
preparing his mitigation presentation."   51 at 78.) 
He also seeks a subpoena directed to  offices of Dr. 
Michael Bayless, Dr. Lang's employer  the  of 
her mitigation hearing testimony. 

Finally, Petitioner seeks the issuance of 
interrogatories to appellate  requesting 
information concerning the staff who  have worked 
with them on Petitioner's case and  else who 
may have knowledge about their  of 
Petitioner. He requests that   be issued 
to the prosecutor and Dr. Lang. He  requests a 
"direct interrogatory to the Arizona Supreme Court 
regarding what sealed evidence they  or did not 
review in determining mitigation."    28-29.) 

As noted, to determine whether good cause for 
discovery exists, the court  first determine the 
essential elements of Petitioner's substantive claims. 
Bracy, 520 U.S. at 908-09.  requests 
discovery  respect to Claims 2, 3,  5-16. The 
court, having identified the elements of these claims 



 

above, must assess whether the requested discovery 
would lead to the development of facts that may entitle 
Petitioner to relief. Id. For the reasons set forth below, 
the Court finds that it would not. 

Petitioner cannot show good cause wi th respect to 
much of the requested discovery because i t is  
relevant to his claims. See Stephens   570 
F.3d 198, 213 (4th  2009)  "discovery 
request is deficient  he has 
identified specific information  has not 
demonstrated that such discovery would result in him 
being entitled to habeas relief on the conflict claim"). 
For example, in pursuing his ineffective assistance 
claims (Claims 4, 7, 8, 15, 16), Petitioner seeks tr ia l 
and appellate counsel's bar records and records from 
the  However, counsel's conduct in other 
matters is not relevant to their performance during 
Petitioner's tr ial and appeal. In determining whether 
counsel's performance was deficient, the only issue is 
the reasonableness of counsel's conduct "on the facts of 
the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's 
conduct." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690; see Babbit, 151 
F.3d at 1173-74. Therefore, the development of 
additional  regarding counsel's past conduct in 
other cases cannot "show reason to believe" that 
Petitioner is entitled to relief on any of his ineffective 
assistance claims. Bracy, 520 U.S. at 908-09. The 
same analysis applies to Petitioner's conflict of interest 
claims (Claims 12 and 13). Petitioner cannot explain 
how additional information about the  funding 
situation is relevant to the  of whether t r ia l or 
appellate counsel labored under an actual, as opposed 
to a theoretical, conflict of interest. Cf. Wallace v. 



 

Ward, 191 F.3d 1235. 1245-46 (10th  1999) 
(district  did not abuse discretion  denying 
d iscovery where conflict of interest claims were general 

  

Petitioner also fails to demonstrate that there are 
any contested facts the discovery of which would  

 the merits of his claims. This is t rue with respect to 
Petitioner's request to depose Judge Hutt. The record 

 complete concerning the trial court's handling of 
Petitioner's guilty plea and waiver of mitigation 
(Claims 5  10). There are no contested facts 
underlying these  incompetence" claims 
because the relevant facts  Petitioner's mental 
capacity were those  the judge's possession at the 
time she accepted his plea and waiver and upon which 
she was required to make her determination  
competence. Cf. Boyde  Brown, 404 F.3d  1165 
n. 6 (9th  2005) (citing Davis v. Woodford, 384 F.3d 
628, 644-45 (9th Cir. 2004)). The same is true for the 
prosecutor  his presentation of evidence  the 
mitigation hearing (Claims 14-16); the only material 
facts are those found  the record of the hearing. The 
prosecutor had no duty to further investigate 
mitigating evidence, especially when Petitioner himself 
waived the presentation of any mitigation. 

Petitioner's claims of ineffective assistance  
appellate counsel (Claim 3, 7, 11, and  are likewise 
resolvable  the record. See Gray v. Greer, 800 F.2d 
644, 647 (7th Cir. 1985) ("it  the  case" 
where  claim of appellate ineffective assistance "could 
not be resolved  the record alone"). Moreover, 
because the underlying claims are without merit, 



 

Petitioner cannot establish prejudice notwithstanding 
any additional information discovered concerning the 
quality of appellate counsel's representation. 

Petitioner's request for evidentiary development of 
Claim 3 through an interrogatory to the Arizona 
Supreme Court regarding what mitigating evidence 
the court considered is also denied. Such information is 
not relevant to Petitioner's claim that the court applied 
an unconstitutional nexus requirement to its review of 
Petitioner's capital sentence. Moreover, Petitioner has 
no right to invade the decision-making process of a 
court that is not otherwise of record. 

A final consideration warrants a finding that 
 has not established good cause for his 

discovery requests, including his request to depose the 
defense team and various mental health and legal 
experts in support of his claims that he was 
incompetent to plead guilty and waive mitigation. 
Petitioner had the opportunity to gather this 
information in state court during the PCR proceedings 
just two years ago. In fact, he previously deposed many 
of these individuals, who also testified at the 
evidentiary hearing, including Lorona, Gitre, Bachtle, 
Christianson, Wake, and Drs. Potts, Scialli, and Lang. 
Other individuals, such as jai l employees, could have 
been deposed during the PCR proceedings. Under these 
circumstances, Petitioner cannot demonstrate good 
cause for additional discovery from the same 
individuals concerning the same issues. See Smith v. 

 197 F.3d 454, 459 (10th Cir. 1999) (discovery 
may be inappropriate i f the petitioner had an 
opportunity to conduct discovery and to develop 



 

evidence during the state   
cf. Jones v. Wood,  F.3d  1009 ( l l t h  1997) 
(finding good cause for discovery existed "particularly 
given that there  never any  for the 
ineffective assistance claim at the state - court level"). 

Petitioner's discovery requests are deficient because 
he has made "no showing that the information sought 

 material to the merits" of any of his claims. 
Stephens, 570 F.3d at 213. Accordingly, Petitioner's 
requests for discovery are denied. 

(2) Expansion of Record / Evidentiary Hearing 

Petitioner requests expansion of the record  
 evidentiary hearing with respect  each  his 

claims. He seeks to expand the record with 
declarations from  counsel Lorona  41, Ex. F); 
appellate counsel Reeves (id., Ex. D) ; mitigation 
specialist Christianson (id., Ex. G); mitigation 
specialist Mary Durand (id., Ex. C); managing court 
reporter, Denise Sanders Couvaras (id., Ex. E); Dr. 

 (Doc. 51. Ex.  and individuals familiar 
with Petitioner's defense team, mental illness, drug 
abuse, background, and the circumstances surrounding 
the crime  35, Ex's. 139, 140, 146-148; Doc. 41, 
Ex's. C, D, F, G, H;  51, Ex. 13). He seeks to 

 the record to include a police report regarding a 
prior  possession incident, military records 
obtained by Holly Wake and the Office of the Federal 
Public Defender, and junior high and  school 
records (Doc. 35,  154, 155), as well as 
photographs from Petitioner's suicide attempt, and jai l 
visitor logs (Doc, 41, Ex's.A, B). Petitioner also seeks to 



 

include Lorona's state bar disciplinary record (Doc. 35, 
Ex. 152); the transcript of an interview of investigator 
Bachtle dated 7/11/05 (id., Ex. 151); Dr. Robert Smith's 
curriculum vitae and psychological summaries (id., Ex. 
149; Doc. 51, Exs. 1, 2); and the transcript of Reeves' 
oral argument before the Arizona Supreme Court on 
June 1, 2004.13 (Doc. 35, Ex. 150.) 

Along wi th expansion of the record, Petitioner seeks 
an evidentiary hearing to hear testimony from Lorona, 

 Gitre, Reeves, Tafoya, Dr. Smith, Dr. 
 Dr. Potts, Dr. Sindelar, Dr. Scialli, Dr. Lang, 

Dr. Shaw, Mark Barry, Judge Hutt, Michael Terribile, 
Larry Hammond, Stella Salinas, Holly Wake, Linda 
Christianson, Mary  an expert on the legal 
issues surrounding competency in capital cases, an 
expert on the legal issues surrounding voluntariness, a 
"legal expert ... and an  in psychological ethical 
issues to address  problems with Dr. Lang's role in 
the case," and Petitioner's family and friends. (Doc. 51 

 Petitioner also asks to expand the record to include the state 
post-conviction hearing testimony and exhibits as well as a 
number of state court filings from his trial and sentencing, 
including orders dated  and 12/11/98 (Doc. 35,  
133), and Petitioner's Notice of Appointment of Experts, Notice of 
Defenses, and Motion to Strike State's Notice of  Witnesses and 
Aggravating Factors (id., Ex's. 134, 153, and 157). Because these 
materials are already part of the state court record considered by 
the court, expansion of the record to include them is unnecessary. 
To the extent these items are offered to correct omissions in the 
state court record, the court has not applied the restrictions of 
§  2254(e)(2). See Boyko v. Parke, 259 F.3d 781, 790, 792 (7th Cir. 
2001); Dobbs v.  506 U.S. 357, 359 (1993) (per curiam). 



 

at 83-84.) 

According to Petitioner, his trial  appellate 
counsel wi l l each testify about the various ways  
which their performance was deficient;  defense 
investigator and mitigation specialists will testify 
about Lorona's "lack of effort"; the Rule  experts wil l 
testify that their examinations  not assess 
Petitioner's competency to waive mitigation; Drs. 
Smith and  wi l l testify that Petitioner  
incompetent to waive mitigation;   
Hammond wi l l testify about the funding" problems of 
capital attorneys   County; and the 
proposed new experts, medical and  will testify  
accordance  the allegations advanced  
Petitioner's habeas claims. 

Respondents contend that Petitioner is not entitled 
to expansion  the record or an evidentiary hearing 
because he did  diligently develop the facts of his 
claims  state court. This court agrees. 

As discussed above, Petitioner sought an 
evidentiary hearing in state court, and a hearing was 
granted  respect to his claim  ineffective 
assistance  trial counsel. The court finds that 
Petitioner, acting with reasonable diligence during the 

 proceedings, could have gathered all of the 
materials contained  his request to expand the 
record. While Petitioner complains that funding 
difficulties impeded  counsel's efforts, he makes no 
showing that such problems prevented him from 
obtaining declarations  trial  appellate counsel 

 members of the defense  Sec Ward v. Hall, 



 

592 F.3d  1159-63 ( l l t h Cir. 2010) (rejecting 
argument that budget problems were responsible for 
petitioner's inability to develop claims in state court 
where he was "afforded approximately three years to 
secure affidavits and witness testimony prior to his 
state habeas evidentiary hearings and managed to 
submit numerous exhibits and affidavits during course 
of his hearings, including affidavit testimony from 
family members, friends, acquaintances, and former 
jurors"); Roberts v. Dretke, 381 F.3d 491, 500-01 (5th 
Cir. 2004) (finding that "no action by the state habeas 
court prevented Roberts from seeking an affidavit  
despite fact that the state habeas court could have 
been more helpful with  to funding and holding 
an evidentiary hearing"); Dowthitt, 230 F.3d at 758 
("Dowthitt's arguments that lack of funding prevented 
the development of his claims are also without merit. 
Obtaining affidavits  family members is not cost 
 

Similarly, PCR counsel acting with reasonable 
diligence could have obtained Petitioner's school and 
military records, information concerning his prior drug 
charge, ja i l visitor logs, and photographs of his  
attempt. A l l of this information was readily available. 

In addition, as noted above, the majority of the 
proposed witnesses testified during the PCR 
evidentiary hearing. Nothing prevented Petitioner 
from questioning any of these witnesses, and Petitioner 
had the opportunity to make any relevant inquiries at 
that time. To the extent Petitioner wants to develop 
additional facts through the testimony of the same 
witnesses, he has not demonstrated that he diligently 



 

attempted to develop  facts in state  I f he 
intends to present the same testimony in federal court 
that he presented in state court, he has failed to 
demonstrate that the state hearing   full  
fair or that the state court failed to reliably find the 

 facts. Townsend, 372 U.S. at 318. 

Petitioner also seeks to call a number of witnesses 
who did not testify  the  evidentiary hearing. 
These include appellate counsel, a legal expert, Judge 
Hutt, the prosecutor, and Drs. Smith and  
Along with Petitioner's failure to exercise diligence in 
developing the factual   his claims in state 
court, he  also failed to identify any relevant 

 facts the resolution  which requires  
 hearing. Petitioner's competence to plead 

guilty, while disputed now, was the subject  
contemporaneous mental health evaluations which all 
reached the same conclusion. His competency to waive 

 with other issues associated with 
counsel's performance at  the subject 
of the extensive evidentiary hearing in state  
With respect to these issues, Petitioner "has  
established   evidentiary hearing would produce 
evidence more reliable or more probative than the 
medical records and expert opinion" that already are 
part of the record before this Court,   Johnson, 
350 F.3d 956, 966 (9th Cir. 2003); see Totten  Merkie, 
137 F.3d at 1176. 

I n Landrigan, the Supreme Court explained  
the criteria for determining whether an evidentiary 
hearing is required  take into account the 
AEDPA's deferential standard of review; 



 

In deciding whether to grant an evidentiary 
hearing, a federal court must consider whether 
such a hearing could enable an applicant to prove 
the petition's factual allegations, which, i f true, 
would entitle the applicant to federal habeas 
relief. Because the deferential standards 
prescribed by § 2254 control whether to grant 
habeas relief, a federal court  take into 
account those standards in deciding whether an 
evidentiary hearing is appropriate. 

I t  that i f the record refutes the 
applicant's factual allegations or otherwise 
precludes habeas relief, a district court is not 
required to hold an evidentiary hearing, 

550 U.S. at 474 (citations and footnoted omitted). 

Application of this standard highlights the 
deficiencies of Petitioner's request for an evidentiary 
hearing. The reasonableness of the state court's 
decisions rejecting Petitioner's claims is not 
undermined by the factual allegations advanced in 
Petitioner's motion. These allegations simply restate 
the arguments made in state court and in the habeas 
petition. Thus, even i f a hearing would produce 
evidence in support of the allegations, Petitioner would 
not be entitled to relief. 

Finally, Petitioner cannot meet the exceptions to 
the diligence requirement of 18  § 2254(e)(2), 
according to which he must show that his claims rely 
on a new rule of constitutional law made retroactive to 



 

cases on collateral review by the Supreme Court or 
that he could not have previously discovered the 
factual predicate of his claims through due diligence, 
and that the  underlying the claims would 
establish   for constitutional error, no 
reasonable factfinder would  found him guilty  
the Reynolds murder. Therefore, Petitioner is  
entitled to  the  or to  evidentiary 
hearing  his claims.14 

 Summary 

"Federal courts sitting   are not  
alternative forum for trying facts and issues which a 
prisoner made insufficient effort to pursue in state 
proceedings." Williams  Taylor, 529 U.S. at 437. 
Petitioner's motion for evidentiary development seeks 
to use these habeas proceedings to re-litigate his 
challenges to his guilty pleas, waiver of mitigation, and 
sentencing proceedings, as well as the outcome of his 
direct   the postconviction proceedings.  
facts and evidence Petitioner now wishes to present 
could "have been previously discovered through the 
exercise of due diligence," §  2254(e)(2)(A)(ii),  

The court also  Petitioner's assertion that he is entitled to 
evidentiary development because the new evidence "does not 
fundamentally alter the nature of the claim presented in state 
court." (See, e.g., Doc.  at 30.) Petitioner's argument appears to 
conflate the exhaustion requirements of §   with the 
diligence requirements of § 2254(e)(2).  These are two separate 
inquiries. See, e.g., Winston v. Kelley, 592 F.3d 535, 551 (4th Cir. 
2010); Richey v.  498 F.3d 344, 352 (6th Cir. 2007); 
Lopez v. Schriro, 491 F.3d 1029, 1040, 1041 n.8 (9th Cir. 2007). 



 

because Petitioner has not alleged the existence of 
disputed relevant facts that would entitle him to relief 
under the deferential standards of the AEDPA, 
Landrigan, 550 U.S. at 474, his requests for 
evidentiary development are denied. 

V. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, Petitioner has 
failed to show that he is entitled to habeas relief on 
any of his claims. Additional evidentiary development 
is neither required nor warranted. 

Pursuant to Rule  of the Rules Governing § 2254 
Cases, the Court has evaluated the claims within the 
petition for suitability for the issuance of a certificate 
of appealability (COA). See 28  §  2253(c); Turner 
v. Calderon, 281 F.3d at 864-65. 

Rule 22(b) of the Federal Rules of Appellate 
Procedure provides that when an appeal is taken by a 
petitioner, the district judge who rendered the 
judgment "shall" either issue a COA or state the 
reasons why such a certificate should not issue. 
Pursuant to 28 U.S  § 2253(c)(2), a COA may  issue 
only when the petitioner "has made a substantial 
showing of the denial of a constitutional right." This 
showing can  established by demonstrating that 
"reasonable jurists could debate whether (or, for that 
matter, agree that)  petition should have been 
resolved in a different manner" or that the issues were 
"adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed 

 Slack v.  529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000) 
(citing Barefoot v. Estelle, 463 U.S. 880, 893 & n.4, 



 

(1983)). 

The  finds that reasonable jurists  debate 
its resolution   1 and  For the reasons 
stated  this order, the Court declines to issue a COA 
with respect to any other claims. 

Based  the foregoing, 

IT IS ORDERED that Petitioner's Petition for Writ 
of Habeas Corpus (Doc. 35) is DENIED. The Clerk of 
Court   judgment accordingly. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Petitioner's 
motion for evidentiary  (Doc.  is 
DENIED. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the stay of 
execution entered by this Court   21, 2009 (Doc. 
6), is VACATED. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED GRANTING a 
Certificate of Appealability  to the following  

Whether Claim 1  the Amended  
alleging that Petitioner is entitled to relief based 
on Ring  without  

Whether Claim  that the state courts 
violated Petitioner's rights by applying a causal 
connection test to his mitigating  
without merit. 

    tr ial counsel 



 

performed ineffectively with respect to Petitioner's 
competency to waive mitigation and the 
presentation of mitigating  without 
merit. 

Whether Claim  that the tr ial court 
failed to make an adequate determination of 
Petitioner's competence to waive  
without merit. 

Whether Claim  that Petitioner was 
incompetent to waive  without 
merit. 

Whether Claim  ineffective assistance 
of appellate counsel with respect to the handling 
of Claims 5 and  without merit. 

Whether Claim  that tr ial counsel 
performed ineffectively by failing to ensure that 
Petitioner's guilty pleas were knowing, intelligent, 
and  without merit. 

Whether Claim  that Petitioner's 
guilty pleas were not knowing, intelligent, and 

 without merit. 

Whether Claim  that the t r ia l court 
failed to make an adequate determination of 
Petitioner's  to plead  
without merit. 

Whether Claim  that Petitioner was 
incompetent to plead  procedurally 



 

 

Whether Claim  that appellate 
counsel performed ineffectively in handling the 
issue of Petitioner's competence to plead  
is without merit. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Clerk of 
Court forward a courtesy copy of this Order to the 
Clerk of the Arizona Supreme Court,  W. 
Washington, Phoenix, AZ 85007-3329. 

DATED this 2nd day of September, 2010. 

/s/ Frederick J . Martone 
Frederick J. Martone 

United States District Judge 




